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INTRODUCTION

In contrast with the nineteenth or even the seventeenth, the
eighteenth century Malay world has received little attention from histo-
rians of the area. For the most part, scholars have been content to de=-
pict the period as one.of slumber, if not positive decay, when Malays
were forced to yield ground to outsiders, both indigenous and European.l
Yet the disintegration of the Johor Empire, the rise and fall of the Bugis
star, the brief rallying of Minangkabau power, and the loosening of Sia-
mese control over the northern Malay peninsula did not substantially af-
fect the pattern of Malay life, despite the conflicts they evoked. Many
smaller states remained essentially untouched, adjusting to each succeed-
ing situation without undue difficulty. The power vacuum of the middle

and later eighteenth century found these negeri? puzzled and uncertain of

1. One of the most vocal exponents of the "decay" theory was Sir Thomas
Stamford Raffles, Raffles blamed Dutch monopolies for the piracy
prevalent in the archipelago during the early nineteenth century and
for the "state of decay" in which Malay states found themselves. Lady
Sophia Raffles, Memoir of the Life and Public Services o ] Stam-
ford Raffles (London, 1830), Appendix, pp. 10-11. See Anne Lindsay
Reber, The Sulu World in the Eighteenth and Early Nineteent Centurie;
M.S. Thesis, Cornell University, 1966, pp. 1-31 for a discussion of
Raffles' theories and their influence on the historiography of the
Malay world.

The view that Asian civilization decayed during the eighteenth
century was decried by J. C. van Leur, who argued against projecting
a picture of decay back from the nineteenth to the previous century.

Indonesian Trade and Society (The Hague, 1955), pp. 271, 283,

2, State or settlement.

BN



the future rather than in a state of decline, The various rulers were
fully aware of the issues dominating Malay politics and realised that, in
a period of uncertainty, caution was essential. It could be argued that
the very insecurity which characterised the later eighteenth century made
Malay rulers even more alive to the changing balance of power, even more
coznizant of the possible results of what might be called their '"foreign
policy." For some states, emerging from centuries of dependency, this
period was one of a new autonomy, when they were learning to draw on
their own resources rather than to act at the dictates of an overlord.
The state of Perak, on the west coast of the Malay peninsula, is
a case in point. Dominated by the court of Aceh during the seventeenth
century, it had won a modicum of independence only to become a »rey to
periodic attacks from pirates and Bugis raiders.3 During the 1720's and
1730's Perak was also threatened by the Bugis aad Minangkabau disputas
shich form a continuing theme in the years that follownd., Yet fron the
sizniag of a treaty with the Netherlands Vereenigde Oostindische Cam-
pagnie (VOC) in 1745 until the end of the century, Perak's rulers man-

aged to tread the fine line of diplomacv, maintainiag domestic peace and

equable velations with their neighbors in a period whea ILiwvasion and

3. See Chanter II, In 1701, for examnlz2, Johor sant perahu to Kua'a
Perak to drive away the pirates there, and Dutch recocds show that the
dangerous waters avound Peraiz wer: a major impelinent to trade between
Melaka and areas along the Perak coast:. Leonari Y. Andava. The

dom of Joh: 41-1728: A Study of Economiz and Political Deveiop-
ne Cornell University,

1971, t> Saktavia, 6 Aprll

1799, %o. 60; XA 1925 OB 1725, Report 3iven by Capt. Ackerman on

visit to Diading Island, 4 Jan. 1725, foll. 49-50.



civil war were endemic. The degree to which Perak's alliance with the
Dutch contributed to this unprecedented situation is the basic concern
of this study.

In 1939 J. C. van Leur pointed to the paucity of scholarship con-
cerning eighteenth century Indonesia, especially any studies of outlying
posts.“ Although ample archival material is available for an examination
of this period, for various reasons it has never been exploited. The
"'unbroken unity" which van Leur argues can be traced in the history of
Asian civilization from the seventeenth through to the nineteenth cen-
tury is not reflected in Indonesian historiography.s

Historians have isolated several causes behind the lack of in-
terest in the eighteenth century, While the vast bulk of material relat=-
ing to this period comes from the archives of the Dutch East India Com~-
pany, Dutch scholars, as Coolhaas has indicated, have tended to ignore
what is regarded as a somewhat inglorious era in colonial history.6 Al-
though van Leur claims that the conception of a weak eighteenth century
in Dutch history was in many ways a myth created by the 1795 patriots and
the Romantics, Professor Boxer points to a very real decline in Dutch

fortunes. He contrasts the reports of the Governor-General and Council

4. van Leur, Indonesian Trade and Society, p. 275.
5. Ibid., p. 283.

6. W. Ph, Coolhaas, "Dutch Contributions to the Historiography of Coloni-
al Society in the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Centuries," in D. G. E.
Hall, ed., Higtorians of Southeast Asia (London, 1961), p. 226. A com-
parison can be made, for example, between the bulk of published archi-
val material available for the seventeenth century with the paucity of
that relating to the eighteenth.



of Batavia in 1648 with those of 1750; mo more could the Dutch officials
in Indonesia say "we are living, thank God, in a flourishing century."?
On the other hand, it can be argued that while this decline may partly
account for lessening Dutch interest in the eighteenth century, it should
not logically influence the attitude of those concerned with indigenous
history.

1f little attention has been directed to Indonesia in general,
the history of the peninsular Malay states has been almost completely
neglected by Dutch st:ht)lal's.8 This apparent indifference may, to a de-
gree, be traced to the signing of the Anglo-Dutch Treaty in 1824.°9 By
dividing the Malay Peninsula from Sumatra, the Treaty created an arti-
ficial entity of an area which had always been an inseparable part of the
Indonesian world. The Melaka straits had been for Malays an inland sea,
a natural highway serving "to link together the adjoining shores since
the dawn of hiscory."lo The division of the old sultanate of Johor
T R Doxer, The Dutch Seaborne Empire, 1600-1800 (London, 1965),

p. 268, For the original comments by Governor-General van der Lyn
in 1649 and Governor-General Mossel in 1750, see J. K. J. de Jonge,
De Opkomst van het Nederlansch Gezag in Ooost Indie: Verzameling
van Onuitgegeven Stukken uit het Oud Kolonial Archief (The Hague and
Amsterdam, 1862-83), VI, 8-13, X, 164-165.

8. One should mark the notable exception of E. Netscher's De Nederlanders
in Djohor en Siak, VBG, XXXV, 1870.

9. The text of the treaty is in H. Marks, The First Contest for Singa-
pore, VKI XXVII (1959), 252-262. Marks also discusses the preceding
negotiations, as does Nicholas Tarling in Anglo-Dutch Rivalry in the
Malay World, 1780-1824 (Sydney, 1962), pp. 81-173 and Ph. van der
Kemp, "De Geschiedenis van het Londonsche Tractaat van 17 Maart 1824,"
BKI, LVI (1904), 1-244.

10. C. A. Fisher, Southeast Asia: A Social, Economic and Political Geog-
raphy (London, 1964), p. 585.




brought about by the treaty destroyed the essential unity, the gestalt,
of the Malay world. The Bendahara of Pahang expressed the shock which
was felt by Malays, the pawns in a European political gambit,
We have been struck with amazement at the dispensation
of the Lord, the Creator of all the worlds, who has ac-
complished his divine will and decree in a way which is
not comprehensible to us, parting brother from brother,
father from son and friend from friend.ll

This new geographical and political division, a startling depar-
ture from anything known before in the archipelago, created a historio-
graphical division as well. Since then, Dutch scholars have evinced lit~-
tle interest in the peninsular states and, with a few exceptions, their
British counterparts have not attempted to exploit the vast mass of Dutch
material available in both archival and published form.

It is ironic that, while relevant European sources for the eight~-
eenth century were not explored, a large body of material was collected
from the Malays themselves. Some British administrators and civil serv-
ants were sufficiently interested in Malay literature, customs and folk-
lore to record their own observations and findings, to trace genealogies,
to publish or collect Malay legends and histoties.u During the late
nineteenth and early twentieth century their work laid the foundation
for Malay studies and to them the modern student owes a particular debt.

One of the most prominent of these early scholars was W. E. Max-

11. Notes and Queries No. 4, issued with JSBRAS, XVII (June, 1886), 111-
113.

12. see C. D. Cowan, "Ideas of History in the Journal of the Malayan
(Straits) Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1878-1941," in Hall,

Historians of Southeast Asia, pp. 279-285.
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well.l3 Without the material he collected, any study of Perak history
would be rendered infinitely more difficult. He understood the impor-
tance of obtaining information relating to "local traditions, and of
getting explanations about various customs and ceremonies of the Perak
Malays which will diminish as civilisation extends and as the days of
Malay rule recede further into the past."”‘ His collection of manu-
scripts and genealogies, now deposited in the libraries of the Royal
Asiatic Society and of the School of Oriental and African Studies in
London is invaluable for those interested in Malay custom and history,
as are the numerous articles and translations which Maxwell submitted to
the early editions of the Straits Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society.
As one contemporary observer wrote of him:

Speaking their language idiom fluently, he not only
likes [the Malays] but takes the trouble to understand
them and enter into their ideas and feelings. He
studies their literature, superstitions, and customs
carefully. . . . I should think few people understand
the Malays better than he does.l3

13. William Edward Maxwell was born in 1846 and received a training in
law. He was acting Assistant Resident in Perak in 1876 and Assist-
ant Resident from 1878 to 1882, He died in 1897. For a fuller
biography, see Emily Sadka, The Protected Malay States (Kuala Lum-
pur, 1968), pp. 389-390 and D. Kovilpillai, Sir William Edward Max-
well in Malaya, 1865-1895, B.A. Hons. Exercise, Uni. of Malaya,
Singapore, 1958 and Cowan, "ldeas of History," pp. 279-281.

14, W, E, Maxwell, "Notes on Two Perak Manuscripts,' JSBRAS, I1 (Dec.
1878), 193.

15, Isabella Bird, The Golden Chersonese and the Way Thither (Kuala Lam-
pur and London, 1967), p. 285. This fulsome praise should be quali-
fied by noting Hugh Low's comment: 'Mr, Maxwell seemed to be much
liked by [the people] . . . he is a little rough and hasty in his
ways with the inferior classes.'" But Low praised Maxwell for his
diligence and felt he was an admirable choice for the position of
Assistant Resident. Emily Sadka, ed., "The Diary of Sir Hugh Low,
Perak, 1877," JMBRAS, XXVII, 4 (1954), 41, 48, 63.



Many years later, R. J. Wilkinson, himself an avid student of

Malay history and folklore, and his protege, R. O, Winstedt, the doyen
of Malay studies, collaborated on a history of Perak which incorporated
material from an earlier work of Wilkinson'sl® as well as information col-
lected by Winstedt as Inspector of Schools in Perak.l7 A principal in=~
formant for both Maxwell and Winstedt was Penghulu Raja Haji Yahya, who
was not only the Perak muftil® but was also a poet in his own right.
Raja Haji Yahya was, furthermore, a descendent of Raja Culan, author of
the eighteenth century Perak chronicle, the Misa Melavu, and was himself
an authority on Malay court ceremonies.l9 It was he who helped compile
the family genealogies of the Perak nobles and who provided much of the
material used by Winstedt and Wilkinson.

It is forty years since Winstedt and Wilkinson published their
joint "History of Perak" in October, 1934,20 Since that time no new work
mnson, A History of the Peninsular Malays (Singapore, 1923).

See his own account of the growth of his interest in Malay culture in
the preface to A Malay-English Dictionary (London, 1959), I, i-iv.
17. Both Wilkinson and Winstedt had long experience in Malaya and were

keenly interested in Malay history, literature and culture. For a
brief biography of Winstedt and a bibliography of his writings, see

John Bastin and R. Roolvink, eds., Indonesian and Malayan Studies:
Essays presented to Sir Richard Winstedt on his Eighty-Fifth Birth~-

day (Oxford, 1864, pp. 1-23) and Winstedt's own autobiography, Start
from Alif, Count from One (Kuala Lumpur, 1969). For further notes on
Winstedt's life as well as that of Wilkinson, see Cowan, "Ideas of

History," pp. 282-285 and William Roff, The Growth of Malay National=-

ism (Kuala Lumpur, 1967), p. 137, n. 32 and p. 130, no. 10.

18. Muslim judge who gives rulings on points of law.

19. Bastin and Roolvink, Indonesian and Malayan Studies, pp. 2-3.

20. R, O, Winstedt and R. J, Wilkinson, "A History of Perak," JMBRAS,
XII, 1 (1934).



relating to pre-1800 Perak has appeared., A History of Perak" has thus
become virtually the sole source of background information for scholars
working in the later period. Yet, as the authors themselves realized,
their work had severe shortcomings, especially in regard to the eight-
eenth century. For the post-1800 period, they could draw on English
records and for the sixteenth and geventeenth centuries, Winstedt con-
sulted pioneer works by Dutch scholars as well as the published Dagh-
Register from Batavia.2l For the years from 1700 to 1800, however, the
authors relied heavily on the available Malay histories, attempting to
extract from them the "facts" in order to build up a skeleton outline of
events. But the very nature of Malay sources renders them unsuitable to
this approach and consequently, the period which this study will survey
suffered badly. In his preface, Winstedt pointed to the limits of his
work:

Meticulous, even tiresome detail must precede generali-

sation. There is hardly a deduction in this book; it is

a plain unvarnished record of facts. Certainly the

scaffolding of history consists of facts and this book

pretends no more than to provide scaffolding. . . 2
However, despite Winstedt's hope that YA History of Perak" would be
simply a contribution to the ongoing process of historical research, it
is still regarded as a standard work on pre-colonial Perak on which both

Malaysian and western writers depend hEevily.23

21. Dagh Register Gehouden in 't Casteel Batavia van t Passeerende Jaer

ter Plaetse als over Geheel Nederlands India, 1624-82 (Batavia, 1887

ete.)
22. Winstedt and Wilkinson, "History of Perak,'" Preface.

23, See, for example, Khoo Kay Kim, The Western Malay States 1850-1873:




For a deeper understanding of events in Perak during the eight-
eenth century, one must go to the primary sources, the records of the
Dutch East India Company depbaited in the Algemeen Rijksarchief in The
Hague. While the material to be found in The Netherlands to-day is only
a fraction of what must once have been housed in the "lost archives" of
Dutch Melaka,Z“ it nonetheless preserves a huge corpus of material re-
lating to the history of the Malay world. The content of this informa~
tion, however, differs according to the nature of Dutch relations with a

a b i di

particular state. For example, the corresp ng

Melaka governors and Company representatives in Perak differs from in-
formation about Johor, where there was no permanent VOC post. In sum-
marising affairs in the latter state, the Governor depended on second-
hand accounts and reports submitted by special m:l.usions;zs in Perak, on
the other hand, he had a permanent resident who could furnish him with
details of day-to-day existence.

This came about as a result of the treaty signed between the VOC
and Sultan Muzafar Syah of Perak in 1746, by which the Company gained a
monopoly of the tin trade and the right to establish a factory under the
supervision of a resident. The latter, replaced triennially, was ex-

pected to furnish regular reports, not only about the trading situation,

23, (cont'd.)
the Effects of Commercial Development on Malay Politics (Kuala Lum-
pur, 1972), pp. 29-34; Haji Buyong Adil,

Sejarah Perak (Kuala Lumpur,
1972), pp. 1-48.

24, See F. R. J. Verhoeven, "The Lost Archives of Dutch Malacca," JMBRAS,
XXXVII, 2 (1964), 11-27,

25. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 8-10.



but also about events in the neighbouring states as well as in Perak it-
self. Unfortunately, though copies of the resident's letters from 1746
to 1757 were kept in Batavia and Melaka, they have long since been lost.26
The historian must rely on the missives from the Melaka Governor and
Council to the Governor-General at Batavia which, in summarising the Com-
pany's fortunes in the peninsular area, include the main points from the
Perak resident's letters. This amounts tO an unofficial censoring, for
the information Melaka considered trivial may well have proved invaluable
to future researchers. 1t is therefore gratifying that after 1757 orders
were issued for copies of the incoming and outgoing letters between Perak
and Melaka to be sent on to Amsterdam. To these were added the increas-
ingly detailed “gecret and apart letters" which, in the latter part of
the century, focussed heavily on the activities of the Bugis and the
English in the peninsular area.
Yet these records, valuable as they are, should not be regarded
as infallible, for the quality and content varies according to the com=
petency and interest of individual residents. Some sent relatively de-
tailed letters to the Governor, while others were content to despatch in-
formation which appears shallow and incomplete, at least from the his-
torian's viewpoint. The fact that these residents was replaced at regu-
lar intervals, however, means that some check on personal prejudices or
EKT‘ﬁE?E?ZETVZl staff of the Arsip Nasional in Jakarta have made great
progress in recataloguing and organising the present holdings. They
were most patient and helpful in showing me what was available but
there was no record of the perak letters prior to 1758 nor of several
other reports missing in The Hague. I noted in particular the lack
of Thomas Schippers' report of 1753; Ary verbrugge's Report, 17563

Antony Werndly's Report, 1772; Johan Hensel's Report, 1782 and the
letters from 1762.
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inadequacies is provided. Further information comes from the special
missions which were periodically sent from Melaka to Perak on the acces-
sion of a new ruler, to negotiate another treaty or to investigate some
disturbance in trade or tin deliveries., The material gathered by the
envoys serves to flesh out that provided in the resident's letters and
acts as a further control on information given by him.

Even so, the VOC material, regardless of its source, contains in-
herent biases. These letters and reports are essentially trading ac-
counts, aimed at supplying information about the economic situation in
terms of Dutch interests. They may serve to misrepresent reality, since,
if trade went well, the Dutch felt there was little more to say. It was
only when the flow of tin in Perak was interrupted, or when the Company's
position was threatened, that the reports become copious. While the
Melaka Council might inform Batavia that in Perak "everything is in a
quiet and peaceful situation; the tin collection is more frequent. ., . .27
There is nothing particular to deal wi.th,"28 the historian should not
assume that time stood still. It is significant that there is least
Dutch information about the reign of a strong ruler like Sultan Iskandar
Syah (1752-1765), when the tin trade proceeded smoothly, but it is in
precisely these years that the Malay material is most extensive.

It will bezome clear that an incr2ass {n the amoant of informa-
tion conrerniag Perak may merely indicate a situation which, while en-
dangering or potentially threatening to Dutch trade, was of minor im-
27. f;gzland papers, 5203/1364/5528, Gov. Boelen to Batavia, 29 March

28. Zeeland papers, 5263/1704, Boelen to Batavia, 29 March 1763.



portance in Malay eyes. By the same token, the comments and value judge-
ments of Dutch observers about the character of prominent Malay person=
alities invariably coincides with the degree to which they were con-
sidered amenable to or co-operative with VOC policy. Again, despite the
abundance of detail available in the Dutch sources, the information deals
principally with Company-court relations and with the progress of the tin
trade. Only rarely is there a glimpse into the lives of the ordinary
people or a hint of their attitudes towards their own rulers or the al-
liance with the Dutch. Yet though the VOC records do not permit the same
duuudmﬂnuofwdnyndWsmehnuhmwdmuudWJ.m
Gullick in his study of nineteenth Perak,29 they constitute fifty years
of unbroken correspondence which can make a substantial contribution to
our understanding of the nature of the so-called "traditional' Malay
s:ate.3° Despite the frustrations a researcher encounters when using
them, these Dutch letters and reports supply unique data, unavailable in
any other source. As such they remain the framework of this study, a
framework upon which the Malay materials can be superimposed to give an

—————
29. J. M. Gullick, The Indigenous Political Systems of Western Malava
(London, 1958).

30. On the basis of my own research, 1 find it impossible to agree with
Graham Irwin's comment about the eighteenth century Melaka records.
When the records of Dutch Malacca are most extemnsive, as
they are in the second half of the eighteenth century, they
are least interesting, being largely compounded of arid legal
controversies, details of mot very enterprising trading and
the purely domestic affairs of what by then had degenerated
into an ingrown and inward-looking community.
G. Irwin, "University of Singapore Library. Dutch Archives Microfilm
Collection," in K. G. Tregonning, ed., Malaysian Historical Sources
(Singapore, 1962), p. 129.
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added dimension and to help the twentieth century historian see events

as they might have appeared to Perak Malays in the eighteenth.

The Malay material for the period exists in varied forms. As this
study will show, eighteenth century Perak history is intimately linked
with that of its neighbour, the Bugis state of Selangor. Events in Perak
as seen through Bugis eyes are described in two major works, the Tuhfat
al Nafis and the so-called Hikayat Negeri Johor. The most well-known
version of the Tuhfat al Nafis was written in Riau sometime after 1865
and represents what might be termed the "official" Bugis view of their
activities in the Malay world. The text has been highly regarded by
western historians for its apparent objectivity and the lack of the myth-
ical element common to Malay histories. As recent studies have shown,
however, Raja Ali Haji, its author, was as concerned as any Malay chron=
icler with the reputation of his ancestors and frequently adapted or ex=-
panded his sources to present his forebears in a more favourable light.31
To a lesser extent this is also true of the Hikayat Negeri Johor, which
has been identified as the Sejarah Selangor consulted by Raja Ali Haji.32
31. See Virginia Matheson, "The Tuhfat al-Nafis: Strucfure and Sources,"

BKI, 127, 3 (1971), p. 389. 1 am most grateful to Dr. Matheson for
allowing me to consult relevant sections in her thesis, The Tuhfat
1-Nafis (The Precious Gift): A Nineteenth Century Malay Histo:
Critically Examined, Ph.D. Thesis, Monash University, 1973,

Quotations from the Tuhfat al-Nafis in this study refer to the
text romanised by Munsir bin Ali and published in Singapore in 1965.
Munsir bin Ali used the transcription by Winstedt which was published
in Jawi in JMBRAS, X, 2 (1932).

32. Ismail bin Hussein, Hikayat Negeri Johor, M.A. Thesis, Univ. of
Malaya, 1962, p., 38; Matheson, "The Tufat al Nafis," pp. 380-81.
Quotations referring to the Hikayat Negeri Johor in this study are
from Professor Ismail's romanisation, which represents one single

text, rather than a combination of two, like that transcribed by
Winstedt and published in JMBRAS, X, 1 (1932), pp. 170 ff.
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The pro-Bugis bias of these texts is countered by the Minangkabau-
oriented "history of Siak," which provides details about the Siak princes
who were to have an indirect but important effect on the course of Perak
hitzt:\:n:y.33

There is a large number of Perak texts, genealogies, law codes and
legends, in the collections of the School of Oriental and African Studies
and the Royal Asiatic Society in London, and in the Arsip Negara in Kuala
Lumpur.y‘ One of the most useful for the present study is that numbered
105 in the R.A.S. Maxwell collection, which will be called Silsilah Raja-
Raja Perak 1 (Genealogy of the Kings of Perak). Described as a "remark-
able little text," this silsilah begins with an abbreviated Sejarah
Melayu, continues with a history of Johor and moves to Perak after the

killing of Johor's Sultan Mahmud in 1699.35 Though basically a king

list, this genealogy, like the Silsilah Melaka Kerajaan Negeri Perak
(Maxwell 24, R.A.S.) and the Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak II (Maxwell 103

33, Matheson, "The Tuhfat al-Nafis," p. 389. The History of Siak quoted
by Raja Ali Haji has been identified as Cod. Or. 7304 in the Uni. of
Leiden library. Dr. R, Roolvink is now engaged in a critical edition
of this text.

34, For example, Maxwell 44, R.A.S.; SOAS Mss. 40333; 46943; 40327 (trans-
lated by J. Rigby as The Ninety-Nine Laws of Perak (Kuala Lumpur,
1929); Raja Kamaralzaman papers, SP. 9 (Arkip Negara, Kuala Lumpur),
nos. 6¢c, 13, 14, 15.

35. R. Roolvink, 'The Variant Versions of the Malay Annals," BKI, 125

(1967), 306 and n. 12, There are two copies of this manuscript, Max-

well 105 in the Royal Asiatic Society and Cod. Or. 7645 in the Leiden

University Library. The latter was originally copied for Maxwell in

Penang in 1888, the original copy belonging to Raja Osman, the Benda-

hara of Perak. Maxwell apparently gave the text to Smouck Hurgronje.

The last section of this text, which deals with the history of Perak,

was translated by W. E. Maxwell as part of his article "A History of

Perak from Native Sources," JSBRAS, IX (June, 1882), 95-108. Quota-

tions from the Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak I are from the R.A.S. manu-

script.

.
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R.A.S.),36 contains information which does not appear elsewhere and
serves to complement the major eighteenth century Perak text, the Misa
Melayu.

According to Professor Teugku Iskandar, the Misa Melayu falls
naturally into three parts, each of which was written at different times.
The first section covers events in Perak from the beginning of the eight-
eenth century until 1758 and is the work of a contemporary chronicler,
Raja Culan. He also composed the long svair, or poem, which makes up the
second section of the text and describes a voyage to sea by the ruler in
1761. The last part, briefly recounting events from the death of Sultan
Iskandar in 1765 and ending with the succession of Sultan Alauddin in
1773 was added later, probably by another writer. Subsequently, a
copiest joined the three texts r.oget:her,37 in which form it was romanised
and published by Winstedt in 1919 and has since been reprinted several
times.

Convention required that Raja Culan, the author of the Misa Mel 5
decry his own ability, but his work is nonetheless a fine example of

classical Malay, both in prose and poetry. Scholars have tended to com-

36. Maxwell 24 in the R.A.S. collection, which I have entitled Silsilah
Melaka Kerajaan Negeri Perak contains some independent traditions not
found in other genealogies. The earlier sections may pre-date the
Misa Melayu, although one copiest, possibly Maxwell's, made certain
insertions which show that he consulted Raja Culan's work,

Maxwell 103, called Silgilah Raja-Raja Perak IT, was compiled by
Raja Haji Yahya in 1882 and apart from a few historical notes in a
pure genealogical record, intended as a continuation of Maxwell 105.
Maxwell also translated this and published it under the same title as
his previous article. See "A History of Perak from Native Sources,"
JSBRAS, XIV (Dec. 1884), 305-321.

37. Personal communication, Feb. 20, 1973,
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pare it with the Sejarah Melayu, which is much longer and more varied in
content. But the Misa Melayu differs in that the time-span covers only
about thirty years, from the civil war in the reign of Sultan Muzafar un-
til the succession of Sultan Alauddin in 1773. Raja Culan thus wrote
about events which he himself witnessed and with which he was intimately
acquainted. This alone makes the text worthy of attention.
There are several manuscripts of the Misa Melayu in existence.
The published edition38 was based on three texts collated by Winstedt.
The first, which he calls A, is dated A.H. 1252 (1836) and was originally
in the possession of Sultan Idris of Perak (1887-1916), who presented it
to Wilkinson. The second manuscript, B, was copied in 1908 from one
dated A.H. 1252 and was obtained by Winstedt at Belanja, on the Perak
River. This contains only the prose sections of the history and has been
deposited in the library of the School of Oriental and African Studies as
Ms. 48165 (i). Ms. 48165 (ii) in the same collection is Winstedt's manu-
script C, which is the syair itself. It was written from memory during
the time of Hugh Low's residency in Perak, but closely parallels the
version given in A.3%9 W. E. Maxwell also obtained a copy which is now
Mtweml minor errors in the published edition, which was
first edited by R. 0. Winstedt and published in Singapore in 1919.
For many years it was out of print until it was republished in 1962
by Pustaka Antara in Kuala Lumpur, together with some additional
notes. Since 1962 there have been regular reprints Quotations re-
fer to the 1965 edition, although matters of content have been

checked against MS 632 from the Koningklijk Instituut Library in
Leiden.

The name Misa Melayu caused some comment. Maxwell at first
thought that Misa was a corruption of misal, meaning exemplar but
later came to the conclusion that it had been modelled on Javanese
works, the titles of which also bear the honorific Misa. Maxwell,
"History of Perak from Native Sources," (1884), 310. See also Win-
stedt's notes, Misa Melayu, p. 209.
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in the Royal Asiatic Society as Maxwell 25 and was copied in 1877 in
Singapore from a manuscript belonging to Raja Muda Yusuf of Perak, Max-
well donated another copy of this to the Koninklijk Instituut voor Taal,
Land en Volkenkunde in The Netherlands, of which he was an honorary mem-
ber. It is now in the Institute's library in Leiden as HS. 632. These
two texts show some variations with those used by Winstedt, but these
are minor and are of interest only to the philologist.

No detailed examination has been made of the Misa Melayu, although
some reading aids, designed basically for school children, have been pub=
Hshed.Ao This is the more surprising since the literary worth of the
text has been acknowledged and it bears all the hallmarks of the tradi-
tional Malay chronicle.4l The ruler and his court are the focus for the
narrative and the government of the Raja is used as a directive, a basis
on which to arrange historiography. The remarks made by Professor Teeuw
about Malay histories in general are equally applicable to the Misa
Melayu, The Malay hikavat, he says, was not merely a record of events;
it was also a glorification of the ruler and his dynasty.

It would be foolish to expect such an historian to ob-
serve objectively in any western sense. His own ex-
perience of life and the world around him must deter-
mine to an absolute degree what he sees and how he sees

it. The result is a type of historical writing which
conforms to the environment and viewpoint of the writer;

39. Winstedt's notes, Misa Mela » pPp. 207-208.

40. Buyong Adil AlHaj (Haji Buyong Adil), Panduan Memyelajari Hikayat
Misa Melayu (Singapore, 1966); Ismail Ahmad, Misa Melayu (Melaka,
1966) .

41. C. Hooykaas, QOver Malaise Literatuur (Leiden, 1947), p. 99.
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this can only mean deep respect and praise for his
prince. Episodes which do the royal personage less
than justice are ignored or minimised. The royal
genealogy is streamlined; the identification of the
prince with his distinguished ancestors is jealously
guarded.“

The very faithfulness of the Misa Melayu to these traditions may
supply a possible reason for its comparative neglect. Historians in the
past, eager for "facts,'" have been disappointed. In Maxwell's words

Accounts of palace festivities, the installation of

chiefs, the amusement of youthful princes, the super-

stitious ceremonies in cases of illness, religious ob-

servances and royal progresses fill page after page

while events of historical interest receive comparative-

1y little notice.43
Winstedt's comments are kinder, for he points to the literary as well as
historical merits of the work, considering it one of the 'more valuable"
of Malay chrcnicles.“‘ As yet, however, no attempt has been made to see
the text in its own cultural context and consider it as a product of
Malay historical method.

1t is obvious that the sources for a history of Perak in the eight-
eenth century, both European and indigenous, must be approached with some
care and dealt with on their own terms. They have proved both an asset
and a liability to the present study: an asset, because without them the
42. A. Teeuw, ed., Sejarah Melayu (Amsterdam, 1952), p. ix. J. J. Ras, in

a timely discussion, has pointed to the fact that "scholars have con-
tinued in many cases to evaluate Malay chronicles in the same way as
was usual in the nineteenth century.' Apart from a few exceptionms,
the approach to Malay texts has not changed for over a century. Jo Je

Ras, ed., Hikajat Bandjar (The Hague, 1968), pp. 12-14.

43, W. E. Maxwell, "Notes on Two Perak Manuscripts,' JSBRAS, II (Dec.
1878), 189.

44, Winstedt's notes, Misa Melayu, p. 208.
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history not only of Perak, but of other areas in the eighteenth century
Malay world would remain a blank; a liability, because by their very na-
ture they have delineated an;:l, to a degree, limited the scope of research.
Despite the bulk of information Dutch and Malay sources provide, many
questions remain unanswered. In such cases the problems raised have been
discussed and, if possible, conjectures made, but the temptation to force
the material into tidy patterns has been resisted. As in other studies
of pre-colonial Southeast Asia, the dearth of information means that the
historian's choice of time span and the depth in which he can treat cer-
tain subjects is to a great extent shaped by the material available.

This study deals in detail with the period after 1746, the year
that the VOC signed a treaty with Perak and the year in which informative
reports and letters begin. The Misa Melayu takes up the account a little
before 1746 but ends in 1773. After this date there is very little ma-
terial relating to Perak in Malay sources and the historian must depend
largely on the Dutch Company records. This inevitably influences the
extent and direction of research. The surrender of Dutch Melaka in 1795
means that even this source dries up until the English documents take up
the story again early in the nineteenth century,

A primary concern of the writer is to establish the factual frame-
work within which the events take place, to organise and simply record
what occurred in a period about which comparatively little is known. By
tapping sources hitherto ignored, it is hoped that a small gap in Malay
history will be filled and that material will be provided which will

facilitate research in other areas of Malay studies.
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A second aim of this thesis is to supply a case study of the man-
ner in which an eighteenth century Malay state functioned. As Wolters
has argued: '"Studies of Southeast Asian history must always take into
account how the world was seen from specific places. Regional histories
are subjects in their own right and not examples of the history of larger
areas."5 This study is essentially a plea for the uniqueness of each
Malay negeri; generalisations concerning the nature of 'traditional so-
ciety" may be premature before a number of examples are provided from
which common elements as well as disparities can be extracted. Gullick's
pioneering work on the indigenous political systems of three western
Malay states immediately prior to British intervention may not necessari-
ly apply to the preceding centuries.%6
Although Perak's history is unique, many of the problems which
confronted its rulers were similar to those of other small Malay states
along the coasts of the peninsula, Borneo and east Sumatra. A recent
study has stressed Kedah's "search for security and independence' during
the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.4’ The same concern
can also be found in Perak. Like other weak states, Perak had frequently
been forced to accept vassal status and acknowledge the suzerainty of a
powerful state in the area. During the eighteenth century, however, the
mmx‘s, The Fall of Srivijaya in Malay History (Ithaca, 1970),
pp. ix, xii.

46. Gullick makes it clear that the situation he describes refers mainly
to Perak, Selangor and Negeri Sembilan in the period immediately
prior to 1874. Gullick, The Indigenous Political Systems, p. 1.

47. R, Bonney, Kedah, 1771-1821: The Search for Security and Independ-

ence (Kuala Lumpur, 1971).
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loosening of centres of control such as Johor, Aceh and Siam gave new
opportunities for alliances. In its search for a strong ally, Perak
chose the Dutch East India Cﬁmpany, which became its partner in a con-
tracted friendship.

Attention will focus on the reigns of three brothers, who in turn
became rulers of Perak. The first of these is Sultan Iskandar Syah (1752~
1765), whose reign is remembered as one of particular glory, although it
will be shown that his authority was not as complete as legend would have
us believe. Nonetheless, his strong personality emerged from a back-
ground of chaos to dominate the political scene and during his reign the
position of sultan attained its apogee. Under Sultan Iskandar's rule
the economy flourished and he successfully manipulated the Dutch treaty
to Perak's advantage while remaining uninvolved with his neighbours,
Selangor and Kedah. The Misa Melayu, which he commissioned, served to
commemorate this period for Perak Malays, who remembered not the skilful
negotiations with the Dutch so much as the brilliance of Sultan Iskandar's
court and the efficiency of his government.

Sultan Iskandar was succeeded by his brother, Sultan Mahmud Syah
(1765-1773), who made a radical volte face in policy. During his reign
Perak became increasingly involved in the affairs of both Selangor and
Kedah. Towards the end of his life, Sultan Mahmud decided that Perak's
future security depended on a closer association with the Bugis of Selan-
gor rather than on a continuation of the Company alliance. Only his
death and the succession of his brother, Sultan Alauddin Syah (1773-1792)

prevented a wholesale rejection of the treaty. In the atmosphere of
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growing uncertainty which prevailed towards the end of the eighteenth
century, Sultan Alauddin continued to regard the Dutch as Perak's logical
ally. But while the Perak Malays held to the alliance, the Company it-
self was crumbling. Sultan Alauddin's successor was to find the treaty
which his predecessors had supported for so long swept from under him.
These three rulers, though their policies differed, had ome goal
in mind--the maintenance of the independence of their state, Perak Daru'r
Rizwan, Perak, the Abode of Grace. This study will show that they were
successful, for, despite its weakness, Perak escaped the attacks from
Siamese, Dutch or Bugis forces incurred by Kedah, Selangor, Riau, Siak,
Kelantan and Terengganu during the course of the eighteenth century. The
nanner in which Sultan Iskandar and his brothers formulated their poli-
cies towards the VOC and their Malay neighbours forms a continuing theme
in this work. At the samz time an effort has been made to convey some-
thing of the character of Perak itself and of the personalities, both
Malay and European, who helped shape its history. No source provides the
entire story but each contains its own insights. Together these varied

accounts make up history, which is itself multi-facetted.



Chapter 1

THE BACKGROUND: PERAK AND THE MALAY WORLD

1t is not until approximately 1500 that the toponym 'Perak,' re-
ferring to the small pocket of Malay settlement along the river of the
same name, begins to emerge in written records. Tomé Pires, a Portu-
guese who lived in Melaka for two and a half years at the beginning of
the sixteenth century, described Perak at this time as a "village" of
about two hundred people. It was, he said, a dependency of Melaka and
paid an annual tribute in tin, its most important px:odut:t:.1

Prior to Pires' account, there is no mention of Perak as such.
Archeological findings, combined with Malay legend, indicate that as
early as the sixth century there were settlements along the coast in
Larut, Beruas and Dinding and inland in the Kinta area.? The evidence

shows that these areas had some contact with India and it has been sug-

1. A. Cortesao, The Suma Oriental of Tome Pires, an account of the East,

from the Red Sea to Japan, written in Malacca and India in 1512-5,
Hakluyt Society second series (Londom, 1944), II, 261.

2. For a summary of these findings, see H. Quaritch Wales, "Archaeologi-
cal Researches on Ancient Indian Colonisation in Malaya,' JMBRAS,
XVIII, 1 (1940), 47-57. See also Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A History
of Perak," pp. 5-7; Paul Wheatley, The Solden Khersonesga (Kuala Lumpur,
1951), pp. 197, 297; Maxwell, "The History of Perak from Native
Sources," (1882), pp. 87-88; C, C. Browa, "Sejarah Melayu or Malay
Annals,™ DIMIRAS, XXV, 1 & 2 (1952, 1953), 18.
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gested that Kuala Selinsing, in Larut, may have been a centre for col-
lection, distribution and exchange of grmds.3 Written material gives no
further information about the nature of these early settlements. We are
left with the impression that, even by the mid-fifteenth century, this
was a virtually uninhabited tract of land, its coastal plains and inland
mountains covered by dense jungle which was penetrated only by swift-
flowing rivers. The coast was indented by small bays, creeks and rivers,
with mangrove swamps marking the mud flats. Neither Arab, Chinese, nor
Indian records mention any ports of call along the eighty-mile coast of
present-day Perak. The waters were shallow and passing ships kept well
to the west of Pulau Sembilan and Pulau Pangkor, about ten and twenty
miles respectively from Kuala I“erak.A Even the much-travelled Chinese
admiral, Cheng Ho, did not come closer, although in 1409 he sent some
men ashore to Pulau Sembilan to gather "aromatic woods."? The area now
known as Perak attracted as little attention from Arab sailors. A navi-
gational guide dated 1426 merely notes that the hills of Dinding pro-
vided useful sightings for ships sailing down the Melaka Straits.®

To the north Kedah flourished and to the south Melaka prospered,
but it would appear as if history were passing the intervening regions
by. It therefore comes as something of a shock to learn that by the
m, "Penkalan Bujang: An Ancient Port in Kedah,' Malaya

in History, VII, 1 (1961), 15.

4. Wheatley, The Golden Khersonese, pp. 94, 238 and fig. 40.
5. Ibid., p. 90.

6. Ibid., 241.
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middle of the fifteenth century the tiny riverine settlements there had
assumed sufficient importance to become a cause of dispute between Melaka
and Siam. Pires gives the reason in succinct terms: Selangor, Berman,
Manjung, Beruas and Perak, he said, were all "places for tin."7

The lure of what the Chinese called "white steel" was great.a Tin
had been used for thousands of years to produce alloys such as bronze and °
pewter and had not been displaced as one of the more valuable metals. It
is not clear when the first tin mines on the Malay peninsula were opened,
but the deposits in the northern isthmus region had been known to Arab
traders at least since the tenth century and three hundred years later
Chinese travellers comment on the "high quality tin" found in Ligor,
Pahang and Kelantan.? 1In the fourteenth century China began importing
tin from the 'Nanyang,' but, though Ma Huan's account of Cheng Ho's voy=
ages in the early fifteenth century describes two tin mines in the Melaka
district, there is still no mention of production in other areas along
the west coast,l0 1t ig possible that it was only during the fifteenth
century that the extent of deposits along the Perak, Bernam, Beruas,

Dinding and Selangor rivers became apparent,

7. Cortesao, The Suma Oriental, 11, 241.

8. J. Needham, The Development of Iron and Steel Technology in China

(London, 1958), p. 1.

9. Wheatley, The Golden Khersomese, pp. 77-79, 217-218; Stanley 0'Connor,
Hindu Gods of Peningsular Siam (Ascona, 1972), p. 12.

10. Wheatley, The Golden Khersonese, pp. 87-91; J. V. G. Mills, ed. and

trans., Ying Yai Sheng Lan, "The Overall Survey of the Ocean's Shores"

1433 (Cambridge, 1970), pp. 109-111.
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Sovereignty over such areas could bring large revenues to an over-
lord. During the reign of Sultan Mansur Syah of Melaka (1459-1477) the
question of suzerainty over the peninsular west coast became a matter of
some importance. According to Pires, Kedah, a vassal of Ayudhia, had
asserted its authority here "and Sultan Mansur had been at war with Kedah
about this. As [Kedah] was a country of the kingdom of Siam and all the
land belonged to the kingdom of Siam, these places were faced with the
choice to whom they would be in allegiance. They said to King Marmsura,
king of Melaka,"l1

From Melaka's point of view, these scattered settlements were
merely fringe areas of its empire, referred to as the rantau barat or
western territories.!? Alluvial tin, however, was readily obtained there
and trade and population increased accordingly. Of the settlements named
by Pires, Perak was the smallest. It was overshadowed by Beruas, "a
trading place' with many people, and by Manjung,13 the largest tin-pro-
ducing area. These two districts vied for preeminence and it was not
long before disputes between them led to intervention by the ruler of
Melaka, Sultan Mahmud Syah (1488-1528). According to the Shellabear ver-
sion of the Sejarah Melayu, a force sent from Melaka under the command of

the Bendahara attacked and defeated Manjung, The Raja of Beruas accom-

11. Cortesao, The Suma Oriental, 1T, 248.

12. R. O. Winstedt, "The Malay Annals or Sejarah Melayu. The Earliest
Recension from MS No. 18 of the Raffles Collection, in the Library
of Royal Asiatic Society, London,' JMBRAS, XVI, 3 (1938), p. 206.

13. The actual site of Manjung is uncertain but may be the south point
of the Dinding river, Cortesao, The Suma Oriental, I, 107 n. 2.
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panied the Bendahara back to Melaka, where Sultan Mahmud appointed him

ruler of Manjung. He was also given robes of honour, a nubat or royal

orchestra, and the title Tun Aria Bija diraja. Acknowledging allegiance

to the ruler of Melaka, he then returned to the rantau barat, taking up

his residence in Manjung, 14

This appointment may have been intended to tie the western terri-
tories more closely to the central authority in Melaka. Pires reported
that Perak, like its neighbours, was required to Pay an annual tribute in
proportion to its population and revenue,ld Economically, Perak formed
part of Melaka's trading network, its inhabitants bringing jungle products
and tin to exchange for foreign gaods.16 They could also buy and sell in
the trading settlement of Beruas, a principal port of call for Gujerati
ships coming from Siam and Kedah.l7 A Malay legend collected by Maxwell
records that in former times a brisk trade had been carried on between
Bruas on the coast and the people of the interior, "Imported goods were
despatched up the country and native produce brought down from the inland
districts."18

The same legend suggests that the core of Malay settlement was
along the coast and that there was little knowledge about the inland
mar, ed., Sejarah Melayu or the Malay Annals (Singapore,

1960), pp. 167-168.

15. Cortesao, Suma Oriental, 11, 260-261,
16. Ibid., I, 243,
17, Ibid., 1, 107,

18. Maxwell, "The History of Perak from Native Sources," (1882), p. 89.
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areas. According to this account, Perak was 'not yet inhabited by
Malays." A visitor to Beruas, Nakhoda Kasim,

made inquiries and was told that there was a big river
in the interior. His curiosity was now aroused and he
penetrated on foot into the interior and discovered the
Perak River. Here he traded, like the natives of the
country, making trips up and down the river and selling
salt and tobacco at the villages by the river-side. On
one of these trips he reached Temung in the north of
Perak and made fast his boat to the bank. After a few
days the Semangs came down from their hills to buy salt.
They came loaded with the produce of their gardens--sugar
canes, plantains and edible roots--and brought their
wives and families with them.l9

Sultan Mahmud's jurisdiction over the rantau barat, though ac-

knowledged, does not appear to have been onerous. Perhaps because the

relationship was relatively relaxed, the western rantau areas did not re-
act with shock when Melaka fell to the Portuguese in August, 1511. Like
many of Sultan Mahmud's other vassal chiefs, Tun Aria Bija diraja was
fully prepared to forget his former vows of allegiance. The author of
the Raffles 18 Sejarah Melayu describes how Sultan Mahmud looked towards
the peninsula from his new capital on Bentan in the Riau archipelago and
complained that the vassal states towards the west had not paid homage
for some time, Their overlord, in fact, had not presented himself at
court since Melaka had fallen. '"That same night he sent for the Benda-
hara. 'What think you should be done? The rantau barat are slipping
from our hands.'" An expedition of twenty ships was despatched to im-
press on these areas that Melaka's authority should not be forgotten and

Tun Aria Bija diraja, the overlord, was summoned to court.,

19. Ibid., pp. 89-90.
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When he reached Bentan, he went to the palace and pre=
sented himself before Sultan Mahmud Syah, who was well
pleased to receive this visit from the Raja of the
Western Territory.and bestowed upon him robes of honour
complete with all accessories. At the same time he gave
him the drum of sovereignty and ordered that he be in-
stalled by beat of drum as ruler in the western terri-
tory. Tun Aria Bija di raja, for his part, undertook to
bring the men of Manjung and the men of the rantau barat
for an attack on Melaka.

Perak was thus brought under the domination of Melaka once again

but in the first d des of the si h century, it remained merely
"one of the vassal states towards the west" with little to distinguish it
from its neighbours. Overshadowed by Beruas, Manjung and Bernam, Perak
might have remained insignificant had it not been for an important de=-
velopment, Sometime after the death of Sultan Mahmud in 1528, Perak re-
ceived a ruler of its own, not a mere chief, but a prince of noble de-
scent, a son of Sultan Mahmud himself. It is this momentous event which
is described at length in the Raffles 18 version of the Sejarah Melayu,
According to this text, Sultan Mahmud had two sons, Raja Muzafar

Syah and Raja Alauddin Syah. The former had been designated Raja Muda
and named as heir but after the birth of his brother he fell from favour.
When Raja Alauddin was forty days old, he was proclaimed successor to the
throne with the title of Sultan Muda.?l He duly succeeded after Sultan
Mahmud's death and the Bendahara and chiefs drove Raja Muzafar away from
the palace.

The Raja Muda then took passage in a merchantman and

went to Siak. From Siak he went to Kelang. Now there
may Annals," pp. 182-183.

21. Ibid., p. 193,
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was a man from Manjung . ., ., who traded regularly be-
tween Perak and Kelang. When he saw the Raja Muda at
Kelang, he took him to Perak and had him installed as
Raja with the title of Sultan Muzafar Syah.22
The installation of Sultan Muzafar marked a turning point in
Perak's history and heralded the emergence of the neophyte state as a
political entity in its own right. As Winstedt has put it, the son of
the last ruler of Melaka did not come to Perak without followers or with-
out a tradition.?? He is said to have established his residence at Tanah
Abang, now known as Teluk Bakung, about sixty miles from the mouth (kuala)
of the Perak River.2% Here there developed a microcosm of the Melaka
court in which Sultan Muzafar had grown up. One of his first actionms,
for example, was to invite the overlord of Selangor, Sri Agar diraja, to
Perak to fill the post of Bendahara.25 Another legend records that a
faithful retainer who had accompanied Sultan Muzafar was made Sri Nara
di Raja, the guardian of the state secret, the ciri, which is whispered
into the ear of each sultan at his installation.26
The founders of this new dynasty appear men of high ambition, not

content to rule over a small rantau settlement, It is to Sultan Muzafar

22, Ibid.

23. Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A History of Perak," p. 11.

24. "Telok Bakong: Remembering History in Perak," Malaysia in History,
XIII, 1 (1970), p. 9.

25. Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A History of Perak," p. 11; Brown, "Malay
Annals," p. 193. This action angered Sultan Muzafar's brother, Sul-
tan Alauddin of Johor-Melaka, and he later summoned the Perak Benda-
hara back to his court. Ibid., pp. 195-197.

RKP SP 9/14, Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak Berhubung dengan Sayid-Sayid

Chendriong, fo. 41. For a description of the Sri Nara di Raja post,
see Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A History of Perak," p. 11.

26
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and his son, Sultan Mansur, that Perak legend attributes the organisation
of the country under chiefs of various ranks.27 Sultan Mansur was also
steeped in the old Melaka traditions, for he had been raised by his
uncle, Sultan Alauddin of Johor-Melaka, and had married the latter's
daughtex:.28 Sent to Perak as ruler after his father's death, he is said
to have established his capital even further upstream, at Kota Lama Kanan,
not far from Kuala Kangsar. From thence he made a trip to the headwaters
of the Perak River, claiming suzerainty over hundreds of square miles of
mountainous territory and fixing the boundaries between Perak and the
neighbouring states,2?

The establishment of this new dynasty marked not only the physical
expansion of Perak but an equivalent growth in prestige. Sultan Muzafar's
successors could claim possession of one of the proudest genealogies in
the Malay world, a line which could be traced back through Melaka to the
ancestors of all Malay kings, the princes of Bukit Si-Guntang and beyond
them to Sultan Iskandar Zulkarnain, Alexander the Great,30 The Misa

27. RKP SP 9/14, Silgilah Raja-Raja Perak, fo. 45; Maxwell, "A History of

Perak from Native Sources," (1882), p. 92.

28. Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak 1, fo. 28, lines 5-6.

29. Cenderamata (souvenir) for the birthday of Sultan Idris of Perak
(Ipoh, 1967), p. 41; Hubert Berkeley, a British administrator who
held a number of posts in Upper Perak from 1891 until 1926, mentions
an "old document" which gave the boundary lines and was in the pos-
session of the Sultan of Perak. (Office Diary of Hubert Berkeley,
no. 2, R.C.S., fo, 85.) The boundaries which these early rulers were
said to have established were used as a guide in 1909 when a settle~
ment was drawn up with Siam. They are described in detail in CO 273/
115, Weld to Kimberly, 3 June 1882, Syed Alahadin's statement, 4
March 1882, foll. 18-20. See also C. D. Cowan, "Sir Frank Swetten-
ham's Perak Journals, 1874-1876," JMBRAS, XXIV, 4 (1951), 49, n. 50;
W. E. Maxwell, "A Journey on Foot to the Patani Border in 1876,"
JSBRAS, IX (June, 1882), 37.
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Melayu, the Silsilah Raja-Raija Perak, and other Perak genealogies all

begin by pointing to the noble progenitors of the Perak dynasty. A
glorious past and a prestigious line of descent became an integral part
of Perak's self-conception. It is significant that when the male line
died out in the middle of the seventeenth century, the genealogist em-
phasises that the connection with Bukit Si Guntang was not lost; rather,
it was reinforced by the marriage of the surviving daughter with Raja
Sulung, a direct descendent of Sang Sapurba who had appeared on Bukit
Siguntang and had later become the first ruler of Pagar Ruyong. Raja
Sulung was installed in Perak as Sultan Muzafar Syah (16367-1654) "and
their children, grandchildren, great-grandchildren and their descendents
are the present kings in Perak,"3!

Throughout Perak history there is evidence that this claim, which
a Portuguese account appears to support, was not forgotten.32 Centuries
later, in 1818, when Perak was beleagured on all sides and seemed at its
most vulnerable, the ruler refused to send the tribute Siam demanded on
grounds that "I am a king of the ancient race. 1 am he who holds the

Dragon Betel Stand and the shellfish which came out of the sea, which

30. This legend is given in Brown, "Malay Annals," pp. 1-31.

31. Silsilah Melaka Kerajaan Negeri Perak, fo. 27V, lines 30-38; Shella-

bear, Sejarah Melayu, p. 168. See Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A History

of Perak," pp. 7-8 for a comparison of the various genealogies.
32. P. A, Tiele, "De Europeers in den Maleischen Archipel," 11, BKI, 27
(1878), 34, quotes Ternao Lopez de Castanheda, who said that in 1533
the Sultan of Johor was sending a fleet to help his brother, the Sul-
tan of Perak. See also Ibid., III BKI, 28 (1879), 301-302 where the
Portuguese again refer to the ruler of Perak as the "relative" of the
King of Johor.
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came down from Bukit Si Guntang., . . . I am the oldest of all the kings
in these parts, such as the kings of Siak, Selangor, Riau, Kedah and
Terengganu."33 No matter hm.a low Perak's fortunes might fall, its rulers
could always say, as does a character in a Perak folk tale, "Of a cer-

tainty I spring from a race of kings."34 The possession of this genealogy

gave Perak prestige, cohesion and an identity which linked it to the con- *

tinuum of Malay history. Only a few decades after Sultan Mahmud had
ignored Perak when referring to the western territories, the Bendahara
of Johor could say, "Is the Sultan of Pahang or the Sultan of Perak dif-
ferent from our ruler? All of them are our masters when all is well,"35
On a number of occasions during the course of the sixteenth century,
Perak testified to its new status by assisting the ruler of Johor against
the newly emerging state of Aceh and against the harassments of the Por-

tuguese.35

33. SSR G34/57, Raja of Perak to Gov, of Penang, 27 Aug. 1816 (FCCP, 7
Nov. 1816). The royal sword referred to was probably that called
curek si mandang kini, said to have belonged to Alexander the Great
and to have been shown by the first Prince of Palembang to prove his
right to rule. It is still part of the Perak regalia, R, J. Wilkin~
son, "Some Malay Studies," JMBRAS, X, 1 (1932), 87; Winstedt and
Wilkinson, "A History of Perak," p. 163.

Identification of the other items is less certain. In 1907

W. G. Maxwell asked for further information, since he was not sure

if the betel stand and sea shell were still part of the Perak regalia.
The Dragon Betel Box could well refer to the puan naga taru, the box
of the weeping dragon, which was said to have belonged to the first
Malay king and is still part of the Perak regalia. W.G.M,, Notes and
Queries, JSBRAS, XLIX (Dec, 1907), 108; Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A
History of Perak," p. 163; Cenderamata for the installation of Sultan

Idris, 1963 (Ipoh, 1963), p. 22; RKP SP/14, Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak,
fo. 38. 5

34. G. M. Laidlow, "The Story of Kherudin," JSBRAS, XLVI (Dec. 1906) ,
34-35,

35. Brown, "Malay Annals," p. 204,
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The presence of a royal prince and the prestige which he brought
may have been one reason behind the increasing prosperity which came to
Perak during the second half of the sixteenth century.37 Gradually it
gained an economic advantage over its neighbours and began to supersede
surrounding settlements as the most notable tin-exporting area along the
west of the peninsula. Apparent changes in the river system may supply
another explanation for this development for, according to a modern
geographer, the Dinding river estuary silted up and the course of the
Perak river shifted southwards. Towards the end of the century, kuala
Perak began to supersede the Dinding and Beruas areas and though the name
Manjung can be found on maps dated as late as 1600, it declined and
eventually disappeared.38 It was natural that Perak, possessed of its
own ruler and already noted as an outlet for tin, should eclipse its
neighbours and inherit the trade which had formerly gone to them.
A more basic reason for Perak's growth, however, was the increas-
ing demand for tin, which had assumed a new significance with the dis-
m, "Sixteenth Century Turkish Influence in Western Indo-
nesia," JSEAH, X, 3 (1969), 402; Tiele, "De Europears,' BKI, 27
(1878), 34, 66; 28 (1879), 301-302, 321.

37. One Perak text ascribes the growth of Perak directly to the instal-
lation of the first ruler. "Then His Majesty was established firmly
upon the throne and governed Perak. His government was very strong

and its fame reached everywhere. . . . Many foreign traders gathered
to trade in the country and its peace and prosperity increased." RKP

SP 9/14, Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, fo. 44.

38. B. N. Koopmans, "Geomorphological and Historical Data of the Lower
Course of the Perak River (Dindings)," JMBRAS, XXXVII, 2 (1964), 189;
Wheatley, The Golden Khersonese, p. 309 n. 1; The Map of the World,
A.D, 1600, to illustrate the vovages of John Davis. Hakluyt Society
(London, 1880).
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covery of the Cape Route to India and the coming of the Europeans to the
Malay world. By 1513 the Portuguese were importing small amounts of tin
from the Indies and some of t':his began to reach the European market,39
In the eyes of the Europeans, tin was also important in the intra-Asian
trade, for it could be used instead of bullion. Although it was not in
such great demand in India as spices, gold or silver, there was still a
ready market there which made Europeans anxious to acquire access to tin
aupplies.“o

The reputation of Perak tin began to grow. In 1596, for example,
one of the first Dutchmen who visited the Indies noted that tin from
Perak was being sold in the great entrepot of Bam:am.l':l Indians from
the Coromandel Coast came to Perak itself in increasing numbers to ex-
change cloth for tin and elephants, also greatly desired in India.42 The
Portuguese captains of Melaka established their own post there in order
to gain greater access to the tin mines.”3 With the ability to supply
this growing demand, Perak began to prosper. In 1613 the Portuguese
Godinho de Eredia, who had spent much of his life in Melaka, wrote:

39. E. S. Hedges, Tin in Social and Economic Higstory (London, 1964),
p. 16.

40. Dianne Lewis, The Dutch East India Company in the Straits of Malacca,
1700-1784: Trade and Politics in the Eighteenth Century, Ph.D.
Thesis, Australian National University, Canberra, 1970, p. 76.

41. J. C. Molemna, De Eerste Schipvaart de Hollanders naar Oost Indie,
1595-1597 (Amsterdam, 1935), p. 225.

42. J. A, Mills, trans., "Eredia's description of Malacca, Meridional
India and Cathay," JMBRAS, VII, 1 (1930), p. 234,

43, 1bid., and W, G. Maxwell, trans., "Bereto de Resende's Account of
Malacca," JSBRAS, LX (Dec. 1911), 11.
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Perak is much frequented and is the principal port

for the trade in tin or calayn in large slabs .

here there have been discovered in the ranges and
mountains within its jurisdiction such large mines of
tin that every year more than three hundred bahara of
tin are extracted to supply the factory of the Captain
of Melaka and the trade of the merchants from India.%%

There are no ''ranges and mountains" near the Perak river. We can
only assume Eredia is referring to the extensive deposits in the northern
districts of the ulu over which the first rulers had claimed sovereignty
only a few decades before. In less than a century Perak had grown from
a small rantau settlement of two hundred people to a state whose popula~
tion, according to a Dutch account of 1621, numbered at least five thou-
sand.45 With the advantages of an established dynasty, a steady supply
of tin and a lack of real competition, it might have been assumad that
Perak would gradually develop into a state which could dominate its
neighbours and make some impact on the course of Malay history. Yet this
bright future did not eventuate. Perak remained weak, defenceless and,
apart from its tin, relatively unimportant. The inherent weaknesses
which prevented its expansion into a state of any power were to remain
constants throughout Perak history.

In the first place, Perak could not command the same wealth as

could states like Melaka, Aceh, and Johor.46 It was never a great trad-

44, Mills, "Eredia's description," p. 234.
P

45. W. Ph. Coolhaas, Generale Missiven van Gouverneurs-General en Raden

aan Heren XVII der Verenigde Qostindische Compagnie (The Hague, 1960),
1, 103.

46. For a discussion of Melaka, see MA.P. Meilink-Roelofsz, Asian Trade

and European Influence in the Indenesian Archipelago between 1500 and

about 1630 (The Hague, 1962), especially chapter 1; for Johor, see
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ing emporium and its economy was essentially based on the export of a
limited number of commodities, the most important of which were tin and
elephants, while some trade was also carried out in ratcans,“ wax,

betelnut, arak (fermented drink), locally made gunpowder and iron. Some

rice was also produced for export, but this was not extensive and Perak
did not always have enough evea for its own needs. In times of rice
shortage, Perak's lifeline was the grain shipments from Kedah and Java.%?
The country was similarly dependeat on the outside world for other
goods. Those most in demand were cloth, salt, tobacco, gambier, china-

ware, tools such as garang,so keris, gold thread, spices and, in the

46. (cont'd.,)
Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 32-37; for Aceh, Denys Lombard,

Le Sultanat d'Atjeh au Temps d'Igkandar Muda, 1607-1636 (Paris,

1967), pp. 41-51.

47. Rattans were used for furniture, rigging, canes, cables and house-
building. For a list of different varieties, see J. Cameron, Our
Iropical Possessions in Malayan India (Kuala Lumpur, 1965), pp. 407=-
408. Perak rattans were considered famous and in 1816 the ruler, in
return for certain concessions, expressed his willingness to allow
the British the monopoly of "the tin and rattan produced in my
country." SSR G34/57, Raja of Perak to Gov. of Penang, 27 Aug. 1816
(FCCP, 7 Nov. 1816).

48. In 1878 J. F, MacNair noted that saltpetre for gunpowder could be
found in Perak and that nitre sulphur was bought from the Bugis to
make the final product. Perak and the Malays (London, 1878), p. 254,

49. P. A. Tiele and J, E. Heeres, Bouwstoffen voor de Geschiendeis der
Nederlanders in de Maleischen Archipel (The Hague, 1886-1895), II,
101. Such a shortage of rice was a chronic problem for most Malay
states except Kedah. As a ninetesath ceatury geographer stated, "The
Malays do not cultivate rice in sufficient quantities to meet the de-
mand." D. D. Daly, "Surveys and Explorations in the Native States
to the Malayan Peninsula, 1875-1882, JRGS, IV (1882), 409,

50. Cleaver, machete. Lists of "Incoming and Outgoing Private Vessels"
were drawn up annually in Melaka and can be found in the OB series, -
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eighteen century, opium, but the people of Perak had no maritime tra-
dition and did not go far afield to seek such commodities. The little
perahu used by Perak traders, built essentially for travel up and down
the rivers, were not equipped for long ocean voyages. In 1761, when
Sultan Iskandar made a trip to sea, some time had to be spent making the
boats seawm-f:hy.51 There was never really any reason to sail further
than Kedah and Melaka, or across the Straits to Sumatra, for Perak's tin
and elephants always provided sufficient lure to attract foreign traders.
The importance of manpower to the strength of traditional South-
east Asian states has been emphasised in a study dealing with the organi-

sation of Thai society in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries.>2

50. (comt'd.)
From these the volume of the trade between Perak and Melaka can be
calculated for any particular year. These lists also provide an
itemised account of the products brought from Perak on incoming
perahu and those taken back from Melaka.

51. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 140. Although all Malays speat much time
in boats and on the water, it is perhaps misleading to refer to them
as maritime; "riverine" or "coastal' seems more appropriate. As one
author noted at the beginning of this century, despite their reputa-
tion as a maritime prople, the Malays "have developed no really able
type of sea-going boat. European writers have credited the Malays
with building boats, the lines of which are unsurpassed by European
types; yet, so far as the writer has been able to discover, no speci-
men answering to such a description is to be met with in the penin-
sula. The characteristics of build are small displacement, hollow
lines, V-shaped sections and sharp floors, shallow draft, lack of
beam and consequent want of stability and weatherliness." He goes on
to explain that Malay boats were essentially adapted for riverine and
coastal traffic but in an area where heavy weather is uncommon, they
could also be used in the more open waters of the Straits. When seas
were rough, boats simply did not veature out. H, Warington Smyth,
"Boats and Boat-Building in the Malay Peninsula," Indian Antiquary,
XXXV (1906), 97-101.

52. Akin Rabibhadana, The Organisation of Thai Society in the Early Bang-



e

39

Perak, like Siam, had a small population in relation to the area it con~-
trolled. The VOC records do not give any estimate regarding the number
of inhabitants, but in 1818 a British eavoy was told that the population
of Perak '"was reckoned at ten thousand men, besides women and children.'S3
The envoy himself considered this figure exaggerated, and we can probably
assume that in the preceding centuries the number of Malays in Perak did
not exceed twenty thousand, which would mean a population density of
avout two people per sguare mile. When this population was decimated by
war, epidemic or famine, the effects could be disastrous, for Perak's
economy depended on people to work the mines, catch elephants, and sail
perahu to trade in neighbouring ports,

In traditional Malay states, as in the rest of Southeast Asia,
control over manpower was crucial in building up the military strength
which was necessary to establish and maintain a kingdom's supremacy.
Johor's leadership of the Malay world in the seventeenth century was due
not only to its ability to attract trade but to the fighting men and
ships it could command. In 1715, for example, the Dutch reported that
Johor had an army of 6,500 men and a fleet of 233 ships which were drawa
from all areas of its emlre.ﬁl‘ Perak's inability to defend itself
52. (cont'd.)

kok Period, 1782-1873, Cornell Southeast Asia Program Data Paper,
Number 74 (Ithaca, 1969), pp. 16-18.
53. S3R G34/67, Cracroft to Clubley, 3 Aug. 1818 (FCCP 5 Sept. 1818),

fo. 39; Rabibnadana, The Organisation of Thai Society, p. 17, In

1879 the Malay population of Perak was estimated at 53,682 and the
official census of 1891 gave the figure as 95,719, Emily Sadka, The
Protected Malay States, 1874-1895 (Kuala Lumpur, 1958), pat3l

54. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor. %opendix 2, pp. 372-373.
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stands as a marked contrast to the might of Johor, and reflects the
smallness of its population. Perak simply had no real fighting forces.
It is true that, when occasion demanded, perahu and MSS could be
manned and equipped for defence, but such fleets were miniscule in com-
parison with the manpower and ships which could be mobilised by states
like Aceh and Johor. VOC administrators never regarded Perak as being
of any importance militarily and even in 1778 Perak had no vessels which
could have made the relatively short journey to Java.56 Three years
later, when a Siak prince threatened to invade, the Laksamana of Perak
could organise a fleet of only nineteen ships and 160 men from the down-
stream area.>’ Perak was always the invaded, never the invader, and
throughout the four centuries of its history has never independently
attacked another state.8
Perak's geography also presented an enduring obstacle to the de-

velopment of a powerful kingdom. Its main feature was the Perak River,
170 miles long, which stretched the full length of the state and linked
together two areas which, in geographical terms, were vastly different.
msingle-masced lugsail boat. The boat has good geam and

fairly flat floors. There are washboards at the quarters and a

peculiar slightly outrigged grating or staying over the stern post.

The rudder is very small and short." Baluk were commonly used as

cargo boats and for trading. Warington Smyth, "Boats and Boat Build-
ing," p. 102,

56. KA 3448, Secret, Gov. de Bruyn to Batavia, 28 Dec. 1778, fo. 300.

57. KA 3491 0B 1782, Res. Meyer to de Bruyn, 18 May 1781. Unless noted,
letters between the resident and the Governor are unpaginated.

58. In 1770 Sultan Mahmud, under duress, did contribute ships to the
Bugis attack on Kedah. See Chapter VII, p. 464.
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The ulu (upstream) areas of the north and northeast were mountainous,
individual peaks rising to over five thousand feet. 1In the seventeenth
and eighteenth centuries the ulu was considered to extend down to Pacat,
about a hundred miles from Kuala Perak. Below Pacat was termed the hilir,
the downstream region, which was dominated by an alluvial plain through
which the Perak River flowed.>9 Low-lying, with some areas marshy and

others heavily forested, the hilir had no real natural defences except

the jungle itself. Sand bars across the mouth of the Perak River posed
a minor barrier to would-be attackers but they were not difficult to navi-
gate, and for thirty miles from the kuala the water was sufficiently deep

to permit the passage of large ships.60

Should hostile vessels enter,
kubu or forts made of earth, about eight or nine feet high and open at
one side, were built along the banks of the rive:‘,61 and from these de-
fenders could fire at passing ships. If the kubu themselves fell, the
people would simply melt into the jungle or retreat upriver where only
small perahu could navigate the shallow waters. The hilir remained par-
ticularly vulnerable to attack and it is significant that no Perak capi=-
tals were built below present day Teluk Anson, where they would have been
easy targets for attacking ships. A prince in a Kedah text rejects one
site for his residence because he considers it too far from the sea, but
59. Koopmans, "Geomorphological and Historical Data," p. 175; D. Walker,
"Studies in the Quarternary of the Malay Peninsula," FMJ, 1 and II,
N.S. (1954-55), 19.

60. James Low, "Observations on Perak,' JIAEA, IV (Sept. 1850), 499,

61. KA 2952 OB 1763, Meyer to Boelen, 20 March 1761; Everard Cramer's
Report, 12 June 1761.
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for a weak state like Perak distance from the kuala gave added protec-
tion.62 It was to the regions beyond Pacat that Perak rulers retreated
to escape invasions or blockades and even in tim2s of peace the capitals
were situated at least fifty miles from the sea. Indeed, it was only
with the establishment of a Dutch post in the hilir in 1746 that the
royal residences began to move south.63

From their capitals on the Perak River, successive rulers laid
claim to over eight thousand square miles of territory, reaching from
Patani in the north to Bernam in the south. One can imagine that they

had only a vague idea of the topography of the area under their jurisdic-

tion, or of the number and composition of the small Malay rantau settle-
ments scattered along the major river systems. Royal residences were
placed at various sites along the Perak River, but there was never any
attempt to move to another river basin or to another tributary. Even in
1875 a Malay map of the state saw the Perak River as a broad straight
road, dividing the state in half, the tributaries of which could be only
dimly envisaged.“ Fifty years earlier John Anderson, during a mission
to Perak, was told that the state had 999 tributary streams or anak
sungai but as he said, '"this is merely a figurative way of conveying a

vast number. "6

62. Abdullah Hj. Musa Lubis, Kesah Raja Marong Mahawangsa (Kuala Lumpur,

1965), p. 94. 1In 1758 a Dutch envoy in Pahang noted that most of the
people lived several days travel up the river. KA 2858 0B 1760,
Anthony Werndly to Batavia, 25 March 1758, fo. 12.

63. See N. J. Ryan, "Some Reasons for the Siting of the Royal Tombs of
Perak," MHJ, II, 2 (1955), 119.

64. See Map 3.
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Nor did this network of anak sungai mean that there was necessari-
ly easy access into the interior. While it has often been stressed that
in traditional Malay society, rivers were the principal means of communi-
cation, it is rarely mentioned that navigation of these was not always an
easy task. Many were made impassable by mangroves, rapids, and dangerous
shallows. The ulu was particularly isolated. Travel upstream by boat
was almost as slow as a journey overland. Jambi, for example, was twenty
days overland from the confluence of the Parak and Kinta Rivers and two
weeks by M.G(’ In 1826 a British envoy described his slow trip up~

stream:

We . . . advanced up the river by help of poles, the

current being too strong to admit of oars being used

with effect. Four or six men walked rapidly from the

prow to about the centre of the boat and by using

their bambu poles all at the same time gave an im-

pulse against the stream of about three miles an hour

to the canoe,67
In their upper reaches this method of poling was impossible, for here the
Perak River became narrow and winding, with treacherous rapids that could
be negotiated only by skilled oarsmen, even when the water was high.
During the dry season, when the level of the water dropped, the ulu was
effectively cut off from outside penetration,

Perak rulers were acutely aware of the difficulties posed by the

remoteness of the ulu areas because it was in the mountains there that

65. John Anderson, Political and Commercial Considerations Relative to

the Malayan Peninsula etc. (Prince of Wales Island, 1824), p, 191,
66. KA 3166 OB 1770, Anthony Werndly's Day Register, 17 Sept. 1768,

67. Low, "Observations on Perak," pp. 500-501.
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some of the richest tin veins were located, the source of the alluvial
deposits which were washed down to the hilir., According to legend, when
Sultan Mansur, the second ruler, fixed the northern boundaries of Perak,
he also appointed a representative at the most important mine to collect
his taxes.68 Nonetheless, it was virtually impossible for a ruler to
exert effective control over the little settlements which grew up along
the streams where tin deposits were plentiful., The isolation of these
districts was heightened by the fact that the origins of many of the in-
habitants lay across the borders, in southern Patani or neighbouring
Kedah. These people were only two days' travel away from a Kedah port
like Kuala Muda and often felt no allegiance to the Perak ruler so many
miles away. The ulu thus became an area of swinging loyalties, although
it nominally lay within Perak territory.

The difficulties involved in welding Perak into a state which
could fully exploit its potential were aggravated by the political sys-
tem, ill-equipped to tie such a large and geographically disparate area
to a central authority. The execution of royal orders in the settlements
along the anak sungai depended basically on the loyalty of the hulubalang
and penghulu who were appointed as local authorities. They were in turn
responsible to their district head, one of the orang besar (literally,
big men) and through him to the ruler himself. The loyalty of the orang

besar was thus essential for the smooth functioning of government, be-

cause they provided a vital link between ruler and subjects. It was the

orang besar who were responsible for executing royal commands and for

68, Cenderamata, 1967, 41.
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"informing the rakvat (people) of good and 111,"69 4 determining fac-
tor in the preservation of this chain of command was the ruler's ability
to maintain the loyalty and éo-operation of the men beneath him, He
could seek to ensure this co-operation by making judicious marriages into
the families of orang besar or by taking the daughters of influential
lineage groupings as gundik (secondary wives), The system of royal
titles made allowance for at least six gund!.k70 and a wise ruler would
choose them carefully in order to assure himself of the support of dis-
trict chiefs and other important orang besar. One genealogy notes that
at the end of the eighteenth century the ruler took five wives, one being
the daughter of the Laksamana, the second the daughter of a former ruler
by a commoner mother, the third a daughter of the Imam (religious head),
the fourth a woman of Sungkai in the hilir and the fifth from the ulu,
Sungai Siput:.71

Though political marriages could be a means of gaining vital sup~-
port, some rulers still encountered difficulties in maintaining the
loyalty aad co-operation of their court, either because of their own per=-
sonalities or because of the historical circumstances in which they found
themselves. The possibility of a breakdown in central auathority was
ever-preseat, since without the support of ovang besar, hulubalang, and
penghulu, there was no way of exerting effective control over their fol-

lowers.

e
69. Rigby, The Ninety-Nine Laws, pp. 55, 88.

70. RKP SP 9/15, fo. 2,

71. Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak 11, foll, 12-~13,
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Although the system of territorial chiefs did not always function
well in Perak, the fact that it was effective at all was due to the ties
most rulers managed to maintain between themselves and the orang besar.
This was because of the tradition, hallowed in Malay adat, of muafakat,
discussion between the ruler and his officials. "The Raja must speak of
all things, whether good or evil, to his orang besar,' notes a Perak law-
code, "The orang besar should also tell the raja all things."’2 Perak
Malays saw their state as a ship, with the ruler as nakhoda or captain
and the chiefs as loyal members of the crew.’3 According to this concep-
tion, government functioned by consensus. No decision could remain
secret from the court and anything which affected the country at large
must be discussed in the Assembly.

The Assembly consisted of all the anak raja or princes, the orang
besar and the hulubalang and, because it was held publicly in the ruler's
balai or audience hall, it was also open to members of the public. Al-
though the latter took no part in the decision-making process, the com-
mon man could always bring his grievances and petitions to be discussed
in these gatherings.ﬂ‘ Little is known about the actual number or com-
position of the Assembly. A Dutch envoy mentions that it consisted of

more than three hundred people75 and VOC records suggest that although

72. Rigby, The Ninety-Nine Laws, p. 56.

73. SOAS Ms. 46943, foll. 4-5; see also Map 3.
74. See, for example, KA 3166 OB 1770, Werndly's Day Register, 17 Sept.

1768; KA 3491 OB 1782, Sultan Muda to de Bruyn, 19 March 1761; KA
3858, Secret, Walbeehm to Couperus, 1 June 1792.

75. KA 2885 OB 1761, Jan Visboom's Day Register, 9 July 1759 (under date
2 June).
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the presence of all the nobles was not required, there was some kind of
unofficial quorum, On occasions when the majority of the orang besar
were absent from court, assemblies were postponed until they had been
summoned. The name given to these assemblies--mesyuarat bicara or "meet-
ings for discussion--indicates their deliberative function and the fact
that they acted as a forum in which differing views could be put for-
ward,’6 Rules for correct behaviour guaranteed that speakers were given
a fair hearing:

What are the rules where people are talking in the

Assembly? . , ., Let no one interrupt a conversation

between two persons or answer the query of an orang

l;;ser or raja if it is addressed to another individu-

The persuasive speaker often had an advantage, for in these ses-
sions he could put his case in such a way that he could sway his fellow
members. This frequently led to factions within the Assembly, with a
cabal of orang besar opposing even the ruler himself. In 1651, for ex-
ample, it was the Assembly of Nobles who, under the instigation of the

Datuk Bendahara and against the wishes of Sultan Muzafar, decided to

mirder the VOC representatives in Perak, 78

76. RKP SP 9/15, fo, 1. Such Assemblies were apparently a normal part
of the Malay political system elsewhere. In Kedah, see SSR G34/1,
Light to Cornwallis, 12 Sept., 1786 (FWCP, 13 Dec. 1786); in Brunei,
D. E. Brown, Socio-Political History of Brunei, a Borneom Mala Sul-
tanate, Ph,D. Thesis, Cornell, p. 190; in Johor, see Andaya, The

Kingdom of Johor, p. 39.
77. Rigby, Ninety-Nine Laws, pp. 56, 88,

78. S=e below, pp. 71-72.
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This incident shows the lengths to which a group of strong nobles
would go in challenging the ruler's authority, and in matters of govern-
ment, therefore, it was rare that the Sultan went against the concerted
feelings of the orang besar. Even if he should wish to act counter to
the wishes of the Assembly, there were only limited means at his disposal,
It was not possible to send a private letter because it was customary
that all incoming and outgoing correspondence be read publicly before the
assembled court and, by the same token, private audiences were also
against adat. The medium most often employed to carry out delicate mat-
terms of state was that of secretaries and envoys, who were appointed to
their post because they were in the ruler's confidence. They might bring
a purely verbal message or else an innocuous written letter which they
would then expand orally, It was means such as this which were to be
employed by Sultan Muzafar in 1752, just before his death, when he signed
a secret pact with the Dutch resident, giving the VOC the salt monopoly.
When the Company later tried to enforce this, it was roundly rejected by
the nobles who said that the pact had been signed without their knowledge
and they were therefore not bound to recognise it.79 The concept of col-
lective government was an inalienable part of the Perak political system
as it was actually practised.

Within the Assembly, there was another even more influential group,
the Council, the nature of which can be gleaned only by isolated refer-
ences. The number of members varied, but it always included the Raja

Muda, the second in line to the throne, and the Orang Besar Empat (the

79. See Chapter 111, pp. 187-188, 207-208.
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Four Great Men)--the Datuk Bendahara, the Orang Kaya Besar, the Temeng-

gong and the Menteri. They were the wazir, the ministers of state who

made up the permanent core of the deliberative Council. Other orang
besar were appointed according to their status, personal influence, and
rank.80 e members of the Council comprised a group of advisors whose
opinions could be vital in influencing royal decisions and whose position
was publicly acknowledged and formalised, Nonetheless, the members of
the Council often opposed the Sultan and their hostility was even more
threatening than that of other orang besar, for they could have access
to a large amount of tin, possess many followers, and wield considerable
authority in the Assembly. 1In short, members of the Council could equal
or conceivably outmatch the ruler in everything except possession of the
throne, and it was his ability to generate the loyalty of this group, or
at least contain its opposition, that ultimately determined the Sultan's
strength or weakness, While in theory the orang besar would "support
their raja and consider the welfare of the rakyat," in practice an offi-
cial resembling the faithful Bendahara celebrated in the Sejarah Melayu
was rare,8!

Although a ruler with a strong personality could dominate his
chiefs, the orang besar, the reverse could also hold, as the common man

well knew,

80. Compare the list of the ruler's "Special Council" given by Sultan

Abdullah to James Low. Home Miscellaneous 670 Sultan Abdullah to
James Low, 25 Oct. 1826, There are also lists available from 1655
and 1680. See J. E. Heeres, ed., "Corpus Diplomaticum Neerlandico
Indicum," BKI, 87 (1931), 78 and BKI, 91 (1934), 217-218, See also
Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 131-132,

81. Rigby, Ninety Nine Laws, p. 55; for the story of the faithful Benda-

hara, see Brown, "Malay Annals," p. 133,
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The worms may master the tallest tree

The Dutchman's glass sees far and knows

That seeming great though our princes be

They are stately ships that some dinghy tows.82

Was such a ruler then entitled to the loyalty and obedience which custom
dictated was his due? There was obviously room for argument, and the
views exchanged in a conversation between the Menteri of Larut and a

trader, Nakhoda Trang, about 1873, must have been repeated many times in

earlier centuries of Perak history.

"The custom in Perak [said the Menteri] is that the
most powerful man, no matter what his claims may be
according to birth, is always in the end acknowledged
Sultan." 1 [Nakhoda Trang] said, "If that is the
case, that whoever is the strongest can become Sultan,
there is no longer any Malay adat in Perak and you may
as well do away with all such officers as Bendahara,
Laksamana and Menteri." The Menteri replied, "Accord-
ing to Perak custom, if I were a common lamplighter and
had only men to back me, I might be made Sultan to-
morrow, I said, "Menteri, take care. If God Almighty
had intended you to be raja, he would have caused you
to have spring from the loins of Sultan Ja'afar [then
ruler of Perak] and not from the loins of Cik Long
Ja'afar."

In a sense the Menteri was right. Perak history had shown that a
man of substance could gain such influence over the ruler that he vir-
tually governed the state or could alternatively undermine roval author-
ity by supporting a rival contender for the throne. Great Perak nobles
knew only too well that "the strength of a bird is in its wings, the

strength of a crab is in its claws" (Kuat burung kerana sayap, kuat ketam

kerana segit).sl' Once obtained, power was too valuable a thing to be

82, R. J. Wilkinson, A Malay-English Dictionary (London, 1959), I, 478.

83, Perak Enquiry Papers, II, Series XXII J (Raffles Museum, Singapore).

84, C, C. Brown, Malay Sayings (Singapore, 1951), p. 181.
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willingly surrendered and because of this potential or actual opposition
of the orang besar, the Perak political system was constantly endangered.
When the fragile ties of loyalty broke, the vulnerability of the ruler's
position was made plain.

The ruler had one hold over the orang besar. It was he who made
appointments and, as a last resort, it was always in his power to dismiss '
an unsatisfactory official, Such a step was impossible with the other
important group within.the Assembly, the members of the royal family,
whose privileges came as a right of birth.

In Malay states, those of royal birth were termed generically anak
raja, the children of princes. This class was numerically large in Perak
and although very few held positions of real power, they were always a
potential source of discontent and could provide ready fuel for a re-
bellion. One of the problems in Perak, as in most Malay courts, was that
of finding occupation for these young, unattached men with no positive
administrative duties to occupy their time. Because a man was entitled
to take an unlimited number of women as gundik, there was always a large

number of young princes and nobles (anak baik) within the court circle

whose fortune depended on maintaining the favour of the ruler. A pre~
ferred wife could further the position of her som, even if he were not
fully royal (anak gahara) but this dependence on personal favour meant
the position of an anak raja was extremely vulnerable. Although a young
man who was the favourite of the ruler or a powerful orang besar could
gain a position of some importance, the corollary also held, If he fell

from grace, or if his patron lost his authority, his future could be
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radically affected. '"When the tree falls, the woodpeckers that live on
it must also perish."as Unless fortune smiled on them, these young men
had little or no opportunity of wielding any effective power. Their
energies were absorbed by such activities as flirtations, court intrigues,
opium smoking, piracy and cock-fighting. Malay literature abounds with
illustrations of the preoccupations of such anak raja; the author of the
Sejarah Melayu relates how Sultan Mahmud of Melaka ordered his son to be
killed because of the latter's association with the young men of the
court and their disrespectful behaviour towards the officers and chiefs,86
A character in the Malay epic Hang Tuah is criticised for acting like an
anak raja, flirting with the women and being disrespectful to his supe-
riors.87 Even in 1837 during a visit to Pahang and Terengganu, Abdullah
Munshi comments on the lack of education, the cock-fighting, gambling,
and opium addiction common among the anak raja there. 88 Certainly few
received the traditional Malay education expounded in such texts as the

Mahkota Segala Raja and pursued by the literary heroes of stories like

the Hikayat Raja Muda,89

85. R. J. Wilkinson, Malay Literature, PMS, III (Kuala Lumpur, 1907),
p. 12. '"Punggar rebuk, bila tuk menumpang mati,"

86. Brown, 'Malay Annals," p. 169.

87. Kassim Ahmad, ed., Hikayat Hang Tuah (Kuala Lumpur, 1971), p. 296.

88. Kassim Ahmad, ed., Kisah Pelayaran Abdullah (Kuala Lumpur, 1960),
pp. 38, 57.

89, At about ten years of age a literary hero was taught to read the
Koran and to write Arabic under the guidance of a learned Kadhi (mus=
lim teacher). They then studied grammar, logic and analysis after
which they studied the military skills under a trained soldier. A
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If an anak raja was in line for succession to the throne, or if
his claims had been passed over, it was inevitable that he would spend
much of his time garnering support in an effort to ensure his rights.
With promises of the rich rewards which would come when power had been
obtained, such support was relatively easy to find and, because o_f their
tendency to serve as foci for rebellious elements, these princes were
often regarded with suspicion. The founder of the Perak line had him=-
self been expelled from Melaka, because of fears that he might try and
"wrest the throne" from his younger brother. 90 Over two centuries later,
Sultan Iskandar (1752-1765) when opposed by a Kedah prince, Sultan Berka=-
bat, took steps to eradicate his rival; later he found himself challenged
once again by another anak raja, his cousin Raja 'Alim,

1t was only rarely that efforts by an anak raja to displace a
ruler were successful, Most were content to exist on the periphery of
politics and for them a major problem was subsistence, since they lacked
dccess to any source of income. If a prince did not possess wealth, his
influence was limited, and a poor raja lost status. The legendary Perak
hero, Daeng Selili, refused the title of Raja because, he said, his chil=-
dren would be poor and thus publicly shamed (aib) since they would not be
89. (cont'd.)

raja gave them instruction in traditional adat and etiquette and, to

complete his education, a young prince learnt the games and pastimes
suited to his status--chess, draughts and football, A, J, Sturrock

and R. 0. Winstedt, eds., Hikayat Awang Sulong Merah Muda (Singapore,

1907), pp. 50-51; R. O. Winstedt, ed., Hikayat Anggun Che Tanggal
(Singapore, 1914), pp. 20-21; R. 0, Winstedt, ed., Hikayat Raja Muda
(Singapore, 1914), p, 3.

90. Brown, '"Malay Annals," p. 193,
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able to maintain a suitable style of 1ife.91 For such people, gambling
and cock-fighting were a common means of improving their financial posi=-
tion. 1f Perak had possessed large fleets, if it had been engaged in
frequent warfare with other states, or if there had been extensive oppor=~
tunities for trade as in Johor and Aceh, these anak raja might well have
been absorbed into the social and economic life of the country. Failing

this, many turned to "seek their fortune" (mencari rezeki) by piracy, a

custom which will be discussed in more detail 'lat:er.92 With the imposi-
tion of enforced monopolies by the Portuguese and later the Dutch,
smuggling became another profitable source of revenue for Perak princes.
1f they succeeded in bypassing the European factory, and its blockading
ships, they could also avoid paying royal tolls and gain a higher price
for their tin at a port like Kedah.

It was also possible for an anak raja to seek the patronage of
some wealthy man, to become part of his following and thus be guaranteed
a living. The number of retainers a rich patron could attract is recorded
wryly in Malay proverbs; they are compared to the flotsam deposited on
the shores of a bay, or to the kerak, the burnt rice which clings to the

inside of a pan. "The larger the cooking pot, the more kerak sticks to

the inside."93 Although in some cases a large following could add to the

prestige or power of a ruler or orang besar, it was not always possible

T 1 e —

91, Personal communication, Cik Gu Ahmad Manjang, Kota Lama Kiri, 31 July
1972. Cik Gu Ahamd is a keen amateur historian who is compiling a
study of Daeng Selili, from whom he traces his descent.

92, See Chapter V and below, pp. 98-99.

93, Brown, Malay Sayings, p. 29.
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for Malay courts to absorb all these men or to provide them with the
excitement and rewards they desired. A ruler with limited resources
often deliberately avoided the responsibility of such dependents, espe-
cially if they were in any way notorious. Even in the late eighteenth
century, when Perak's position in relation to the outside world was cer=-
tainly stronger than it had been a century earlier, its rulers were re-
luctant to burden themselves with these elements. Sultan Alauddin (1773~
1792) would not grant a vagrant Bugis prince an audience because he was
afraid he would be asked for help and he was equally unwilling to grant
refuge to a group of anak raja who had fled from Kedah, telling them that
Perak had princes enough already.gz’

In Perak the problem of anak raja was made more complex by the
waris negeri (heirs of the country) system, which is not found in other
states. It is not known when this system was developed but a list of
court titles shows that it was well established by the beginning of the
eighteenth f:em:ux-y.95 The waris negeri were the anak raja most closely
related to the ruler and in direct line to the throme. Their titles, in
order of precedence were:

Raja Kecil Besar
Raja Kecil Sulung
Raja Kecil Tengah
Raja Kecil Muda
Raja di Hilir
Raja di Hulu

Raja di Darat
Raja di Baruh96

94. KA 3474 OB 1781, Res. Meyer to de Bruyn, 18 Dec. 1779,

95. RKP SP 9/15, fo. 5.
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This ordering was flexible, however, and on occasion some titles were not
held at all. The waris negeri inherited their positions through birth,
their status ascriptive rather than achieved, and there was no precedent
for the dismissal of anyone holding such a title, It was not so much an
office as an indication of royal blood, pretensions to the throne and
position in the court hierarchy, The only duty of the waris negeri was
to do "whatever the Raja and Raja Muda told them."97 Their income came

from the ruler's kurnia or bounty, although they were sometimes permitted

to trade toll-free.98 The absence of territorial power and the lack of
any specific duties in the administration meant that the waris negeri
were, in a sense, marking time, waiting for the death of the ruler so
that they would be promoted to a position closer to that of the sultanate.
Though control of the waris negeri presented a recurring problem,
especially in the eighteenth century, the greatest threat to the ruler's
authority often came from the Raja Muda, the second in line to the throne.
Theoretically the Raja Muda was the pemangku or regent, the support and

right hand man of the sultan and his loyal representative (wakil). His

duties were to ensure that the commands of the ruler were carried out
and he could be described as the executive branch of the government. As
W. G. Maxwell pointed out early in this century, the Raja Muda was to
govern the country in the name of the sultan, from whose shoulders he was

96. Ibid., This list adds a Raja Kecil Laki which is not mentioned else-
where.
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expected to take the drudgery of routine administration. "All important
matters of state were dealt with by the Sultan. . . . The Raja Muda was
merely the deputy."99

The Raja Muda's claim to succession was usually unchallenged, al=
though not automatic and an election among the Assembly was conducted on
the death of a Sultan. The latter could, if he wished, fix the succes-
sion by designating the Raja Muda as heir even in his own lifetime; he

could also pass over the claims of the Raja Muda and choose another waris

negeri, as Sultan Alauddin did in the late eighteenth century. 100 he
confusion over succession in the nineteenth century demonstrates what
could happen when the Raja Muda proved unacceptable to the orang besar.
The Raja Muda's position as possible successor and his traditional
leadership of the anak raja meant that he could provide a focus around
which discontented elements could rally. It has been noted that in the
disputes between 1800 and 1871 almost every case involved the Raja Muda
and the Sultan in opposing c.':utnps.wl While less pronounced, this pattern
is also observable in the previous centuries. Naturally, the situation
differed according to the particular circumstances and the personalities
of the men involved, but the basic problem of the degree to which power
should be shared was at the root of many of the disputes which beset

Perak politics.

99. Straits Settlements and Federated Malay States Director 1912,

quoted by J, de Vere Allen, "The Elephant and the Mousedeer--a New
Version," JMBRAS, XLI, 1 (1968), 57.

100. KA 3594 OB 1786, Gov. de Bruyn to Batavia, 15 June, 1785, fo. 49,

101. Khoo, The Western Malay States, p. 23.
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One other office peculiar to Perak merits a brief description.
This is that of the Sultan Muda, a title inherited from Melaka where it
had been used to designate a successor to the throne. Although little
is known about the history of this title in Perak, it is clear that by
the early eighteenth century it carried with it the duties of State Sha-
man., He was expected to be skilled in magic arts (ilmu pawang) and
medicine; he carried out ceremonies to 'revive" (memulih) the regalia and
had the power to invoke the guardian spirits of the cauntx:y.w2 The Sul=-
tan Muda gave feasts every three, five or seven years, collecting food
from all over the country. These feasts were intended to protect Perak
from harm, as was another conducted every three years in the ulu at Cegar
Galah., Harmful spirits were lured on to a raft which was set loose to
make its way downstream and finally out to sea. In times of illness in
the royal family, it was the Sultan Muda who conducted the seances aimed
at recruiting the help of the spirits.103

It is clear that this title gave great power to the holder and, as

will be seen later, in the reign of Sultan Alauddin (1773-1792), the Sul=-

102, RKP SP 9/15, fo. 1.

103. The position of Sultan Muda is rarely referred to in available
sources and little has been learnt about the office since Wilkinson
noted the lack of information in 1932. It is not even known if the
post was always filled. Both Wilkinson and Winstedt compiled con-
siderable information on the duties of a Sultan Muda. The last Sul-
tan Muda was a keramat (sacred, magical) elder brother of Sultan
1dris (1887-1916), There is a book of charms belonging to a former
Sultan Muda of Perak in the library of SOAS, as MS 25047/2. See
R. J. Wilkinson, "Some Malay Studies," JMBRAS, X, 1 (1932), 133,
93-97; Winstedt and Wilkinson, "History of Perak,' pp. 133-135; Win-
stedt, Count from Alif, pp. 84, 116-117; R, 0. Winstedt, Malay Magic
(London, 1925), pp. 42, 50; R, O. Winstedt, "The Perak Royal Instru-
ments,'" JMBRAS, VII, 3 (1929), 451-453.
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tan Muda's opposition divided the court into two distinct factions, The
Perak ruler continually faced the problem of gaining the support and al=
legiance of his relatives, whose interests, like those of the orang besar,
often conflicted with his own. The problem of royal versus personal in-
terest was most apparent when a ruler sought to control Perak's princi=-
pal source of revenue, the tin trade.

The ruler not only bought up large supplies of tin himself for
sale, but also received duties on mines and tolls on any tin leaving the
country. Because tolls comprised an important part of the royal revenue,
most rulers were concerned that all tin produced in the state should be
duly delivered downstream so that it would pass through legitimate toll-
ing stations. To accomplish this would have entailed the co-operation of
every subject, for the extent of the tin deposits made it possible for
almost everyone in the state, regardless of where he lived, to engage in
mining as a source of income. During the seventeenth and eighteenth cen-
turies, tin was found all along the banks of the Perak River, where it
was washed down from the tin bearing veins in the mountains. These areas
were much more accessible than the tin-producing districts of the ulu,
the most important of which were found around Kuala Kangsar and further

north on the Patani border.lol’

Even here, however, the tin was not dif-
ficult to extract and did not involve complex equipment or a large labour
force. Techniques of mining and smelting were still fairly primitive,
According to Eridia's account of 1613

the earth is dug out of the mountains and placed on cer-

tain tables where the earth is dispersed by water in such

104. See Appendix B and Maps 5 and 6.
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a way that only the tin in the form of grains remains

on the tables. It is then melted in certain clay molds

and by a process of casting is converted into large

slabs of five slabs to the bahara [about 375 1lbs.] or

into small slabs . . . of 250 slabs to the bahara.los

Because tin deposits could be found almost anywhere in Perak, there

was no way in which the tin production or those participating in it could
be effectively controlled or supervised. The difficulty of administering
the ulu mines has already been discussed, but some of the river basins
along the coast were almost as remote. Usurpation of control there by a
group of outsiders--pirates, wandering anak raja, European deserters, or
adventurers--was a recurring problem., Perak had no armies or fleets to
drive such intruders out and the ruler was therefore unable to guarantee
the safety of his subjects in these distant areas. It was equally impos-
sible for him to force them to acknowledge his authority should they
choose to display an independent spirit and ignore royal prerogatives in
regard to the tin trade. The Kerian, Kurau, Larut, Terong, Beruas and
Bernam Rivers all flowed down from tin-bearing highlands and as a result
extensive tin deposits could be found along their banks. With outlets to
the sea, these rivers became favourite detours for those who wished to
avoid the toll stations on the Perak River. From such places tin could
be sold to traders sailing down the coast or transported to neighbouring
ports. If an anak raja, orang besar, or district official acquired ac-
cess to tin supplies and made use of these river outlets in order to sell
his tin independently, there was no way in which the ruler could compel

him to come to Kuala Perak or pay the tolls due on each bahara. Larut

105. Mills, "Eredia's Description," p. 235.
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was particularly isolated because it was cut off from the rest of Perak
by a high range of hills, but all the coastal rivers were perpetual
trouble spots, over which control could be enforced only by constant
patrols that in turn demanded seapower Perak did not have. The ruler's
ability to provide an attractive market where both his subjects and
foreign traders would come from choice was virtually the only means of
retaining royal authority over the tin trade and the tin-producing dis-
tricts.

The ongoing struggle to ensure the attractiveness of this market
was hindered because there was never any lack of outsiders who also wished
to draw profits from Perak's tin and, if possible, to control the entire
trade. For many reasons--economic, geographic, political--Perak re-
mained weak, vulnerable and therefore a temptation to those who realised
the potential wealth which would come from domination of its tin. Reali-
sation of their own weakness forced successive Perak rulers to search for
allies who, in return for concessions in the tin trade, would guarantee
Perak's peace and security. This search, and the often heavy cost of ob-
taining the protection of a powerful state, become basic themes in Perak
history from its very inception.

Little is known about events during the sixteenth century, but it
is clear that for some decades after the coming of the first ruler, Perak
lived under the aegis of Johor, Through this relationship, it was caught
up in Johor's rivalry with Aceh, now regarded as one of the most prosper-
ous states in the archipelago., After Melaka's fall in 1511, Aceh had at-

tracted traders who went there to avoid Portuguese trading restrictions
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and was now prepared to challenge Johor-Melaka as leader of the Malay
world, Its rulers gradually extended Acehnese control not only down the
coast of Sumatra but also eastwards across the Melaka Straits to the
small and vulnerable peninsular negeri whose resources could yield such
great profits.106
In 1575 Perak was attacked by Aceh but, unlike later invasions,
it is not remembered in Perak histories as a traumatic event, for it
brought the young state great honour. After the death of Sultan Mansur,
the second ruler, the Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak relates how "the country
was conquered by the men of Aceh and the widow of Marhum di Kota Lama
(Sultan Mansur] was taken to Aceh. 107 Byt she and her children were
brought as honoured guests rather than as prisomers of war, and a Queen
of Aceh later took Sultan Mansur's eldest son as her husband. In 1579
he succeeded as ruler of Aceh.108  The new Sultan Alauddin did not forget
his homeland, and during his reign he sent his younger brother back to
Perak where he was installed as Raja. 109 on another occasion the Aceh-
nese court crossed the Straits to Perak for a pleasure trip.uo It is
impossible to imagine that Perak, whose ruler was a brother of Sultan
106. For a brief summary of the rivalry between Johor and Aceh, see
Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 15-20.
107. A. R, Das Gupta, Acheh in Indonesian Politics, 1600-1641, Ph.D.

Thesis, Cornell Univ. 1962, p. 55; Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, I,
fo. 28, lines 12-15.

108. Das Dupta, Acheh, p. 55; Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, I, fo. 29A, lines
1-3.

109. Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, 1, fo. 29A, line 6.
110, Ibid., line 6.
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Alauddin, did not bask in the splendour of Aceh, at this time both a
great trading port and a centre for religious studies, 1!

This new relationship served to redirect Perak's allegiance, for
it now lay in the ambiance of Aceh rather than in that of Johor. Unfor-
tunately, there is almost no published material relating to Perak during
the late sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries. We can only guess at
the relationship which developed between the little peninsular state and
the powerful Acehnese court. One source suggests it was not always an
easy one. In 1600 an "armada" under the command of the King of Pasai,
the youngest son of the King of Aceh, is said to have sailed to Perak,
presumably to enforce Aceh's authority.llz Sometime during this period,
Perak rulers allowed the Portuguese to establish a factory in Perak, pos-
sibly as a counter to Aceh's strength. This factory gave the Portuguese
direct access to the tin supplies and in later years it was remembered
as the most important source of the Melaka Captain's revenue.l1l3

The Portuguese Captains may have prospered, but Perak's trade with
the Indians of the Coromandel Coast suffered. Traders who tried to avoid
Melaka's duties by bringing their cloth directly to Perak were chased
eumy.114 Perak also became involved in the hostility which developed be-

tween Sultan Iskandar Muda of Aceh (1607-1636) and Portugal. Sultan

111. Teugku Iskandar, De Hikajat Atjeh, VKI, XXVI (1958), 41.

112. W. S. Unger, De Oudste Reizen van de Zeeuwen naar Oost Indie (1598~

1604) (The Hague, 1948), p. 87.

113. Mills, "Eredia's Description," p. 234; Maxwell, "Barreto de Resende's
Account,' p, 11.

114. William Foster, ed., The Voyage of Thomas Best, Hakluyt Soc. Second
Series LXXVI (London, 1934), 166.
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Iskandar regarded Perak as his enemy by virtue of its relationship to
the Portuguese and severely punished any trader known to have gone
there.115 1t was during his reign that the well-being of the little
Malay kingdoms across the Straits was threatened once more.

Sultan Iskandar is remembered in history as one of the greatest
of Indonesian rulers and it is significant that over 160 years later a
ruler of Perak styled himself Sultan Alauddin Iskandar Mude:.“6 During
the second and third decades of the seventeenth century, his very name
must have struck terror into the hearts of the people of Perak, for he
was to impose a new domination more burdensome than any before experi-
enced, Beginning in 1620, Sultan Iskandar launched several attacks
against the peninsula states. The Acehnese forces swept up the coast
without meeting any real opposition. Kedah was ravaged, the capital
demolished and the remaining inhabitants, numbering about seven thou-
sand, captured and taken to Aceh. The King of Kedah fled to Perlis,
where he placed himself under the protection of the ruler of siam.117

In July 1620 another fleet, consisting of three large galleys and
about thirty other ships, left Aceh to attack Perak. The conquest was

total. The countryside was destroyed, considerable booty taken and over

115. Ibid. and p. 256.

116. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 192. A Malay ruler's choice of his
reign name was never accidental. In 1857, for example, the prince
who replaced a deposed ruler of Riau-Lingga chose the name Sulaiman
Badrulalam Syah and gave his Bugis Raja Muda the title Sultan Alaud-
din Syah as his forebears had done in 1721, See Netscher, De Neder-
landers, p. 306 and Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, p. 327.

117. Journal of Augustin de Beaulieu in John Harris, Navigantum Atque
Itinerarium Bibliotheca (London, 1705), pp. 737-738.
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five thousand people deported as prisoners to Aceh. A French naval of-
ficer, Augustin de Beaulieu, who was in Aceh at the time, describes Sul-
tan Iskandar's collection of jewels and remarks on "a very old emerald,
taken recently in the conquest of Perak, which is one of the most beauti-
ful stones that one could find."!18 He also depicted the deplorable con-
dition of the captives taken not only from Perak, but from Johor, Deli,
Pahang and Kedah. The original number of prisomers had been set at
22,000 but without food, most starved to death. "At present," said Beau-
lieu, "there are scarce 1500 left, People . . . died naked in the
streets."119

The Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak describes the Acehnese invasions as
a time of great upheaval. "All members of the royal family and all the
orang besar were taken as prisoners to Aceh,"120 e country was left
completely without government. As late as the nineteenth century stories
were told about encounters with the Acehnese in the Larut and Terong dis=
tricts, while accounts of the wars are still recounted along the Perak

River.121 There was now no ambiguity about Perak's relationship to Aceh,

118. Lombard, Le Sultanat, pp. 131, 71; Harris, Navi antum, p. 733,

119. Harris, Navigantum, p. 748; Lombard, Le Sultanat, p. 73; Coolhaas,
Generale Missiven, I, 103,

120. Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, fo, 30A, lines 9-11.

121. W. E. Maxwell, Miscellaneous Notes, JSBRAS, I, 2 (1878), 236-238; 1
was also told a story of how the Perak people outwitted the Acehnese
by telling them the leaves of a stinging nettle would make them
cool. Hj. Muhd. Syariff bin Mat Jalil, Kampung Teluk Bakung, Perak,
14 Oct. 1973. According to legend, Sultan Iskandar Muda attacked
Perak because he was angry when his request to marry the daughter of
the Perak ruler was refused. (Cenderamata, 1967, p. 44. There may
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It was a vassal under the complete control of Sultan Iskandar, who di-
rected every aspect of its affairs. According to the Dutch, Sultan
Iskandar's victory over Perak had made him "so bold, that he regarded
himself as the most powerful monarch in the world."122 perak's tin pro-
vided the Acehnese ruler with a lucrative source of income and, years
later, Taj-al Alam, Sultan Iskandar's daughter, called Perak her "pleas-
ure ground" while a Dutch official termed it "Aceh's best mi1k-cow, "123

As Aceh's vassal, Perak surrendered not only control of its tin
trade, but was forced to accept Sultan Iskandar's nominee as ruler. The
Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak recounts the efforts made by one Perak prince to
return with the support of Johor but "an army from Aceh arrived," bring-
ing with it one of the royal princes who had been taken captive., He was
established in Perak with the title of Sultan Mahmud Syah.l24

Though the history of Perak in the early seventeenth century is
confused and events unclear, one fact emerges; Perak's vulnerability had
been openly exposed. In a world of warring factioms, Perak must perforce
come under the domination of one state or another and its rulers con-
stantly sought to assess the political situation so that they would be
allied with the most powerful. The appeal to Johor had failed but when

121, (cont'd.)
be some truth in this, as Beaulieu reported that Sultan Iskandar's

last wife was a Queen of Perak '"who is said to be very handsome."
Harris, Navigantum, p. 744.

122. Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, I, 103.

123. Dagh Register, 1643-44, pp. 133, 203.
124, Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak I, foll, 30A-30.
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Acehnese attacks on Melaka in 1627 and 1629 met with complete defeat and
Aceh's eclipse appeared certain, Perak, probably not unwillingly, sub=
mitted to Portugal once agaih.us Three years later, however, Goa re-
ceived news that "the kingdom of Perak has rebelled and is now allied
with the former (common) enemy of Aceh."126 1t yas in graphic terms that
the ruler of Perak described his plight to the Portuguese Governor.

He refused the tribute, saying that if only His Majesty
would deliver him from the King of Acheen he would be

His Majesty's vassal and pay tribute. He said that the
numerous fleets from Achin which throng these seas fre-
quently attacked his lands, devastating them and taking
the people captive. He well knew, he said, how much more
important it was to be His Majesty's vassal than to be a
vassal of the King of Achin, He said that he had no
power, however, to resist the tyrant and his great forces
and that if His Majesty did not supply the means, he him-
self must seek a remedy in his own kingdom by becoming a
vassal of the king of Achin and paying him the tribute
he had formerly paid to His Majesty,l27

In this troubled world, many Malay rulers saw the newly formed
United Dutch East India Company as an alternative ally. Johor, for ex-

ample, tried to obtain Dutch support against Aceh,l28 yhile Sultan

125. F. C. Danvers, The Portuguese in India (London, 1894), 11, 232-233,
Danvers says that Perak, promising to pay tribute, made overtures to
Portugal after the Acehnese defeat. However, he did not read Portu=-
guese and his sources are of dubious accuracy. C. R. Boxer, "The
Achinese Attack on Malacca in 1629, as Described in Contemporary
Portuguese Sources," in Bastin and Roolvink, Malayan and Indonesian
Studies, p. 107.

From other sources it appears that the reinforcement of depend-
ency was forced on Perak by a Portuguese fleet. Ibid., p. 108.
Dates are vague, however, and it is possible that the actual invi-
tation did come from Perak. Personal letter to author from C. R.
Boxer, 17 June, 1972.

126. Boxer, '"The Achinese Attack," p. 120 n. 1.

127. Maxwell, "Barreto de Resende's Account," p. 11.

128, Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, p. 20.
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Iskandar Muda envisaged an alliance with the VOC which would help him
oust the Portuguese and wipe out the shame of his defeats in 1627 and
1629. To obtain this assistance he was prepared to offer a tempting
prize. In 1632 he promised the Dutch four years toll-free trade in Perak
if the Company would ally with him in an attack on Melaka,129 A voC com-
mission sent to investigate the possibilities of the Perak trade, held in
such "great esteem" by the Portuguese, reported favourably. The harbour
was good, the river deep and navigable for large ships.uo The port was
well-frequented, notably by Indian traders, but also by Chinese merchants
and people from Makassar, Mataram, Bantam, Java and other areas of the
Malay world who came there to buy tin, 131

While Aceh and the VOC were making their own arrangements concern-
ing the tin trade in Perak, the latter was not at all unwilling to acquire
a new ally and was eager to stremgthen its ties with the emerging Dutch
power. Individual Dutch traders had been well received in Perak and had
in fact been buying tin there for some yean:.132 Even in 1637, before

the VOC had finalised the agreement with Aceh concerning the tin trade,

129, Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, I, 386.

130. Ibid.; Dagh Register, 1631-34, p. 239.

131, Dagh Register, 1631-1634, p. 239, 459; P. A. Tiele and J, E. Heeres,
Bouwstoffen foor de Geschiedenis der Nederlanders in den Maleischen
Archipel (The Hague, 1886-1895), II, 360, The envoys reported that
Perak could deliver six to seven thousand bahara per annum, but this
was a gross exaggeration. D. K. Bassett, "Changes in the Pattern of
Malay Politics, 1629-1655," JSEAH, X, 3 (1969), 448.

132. Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, I, 129; N. Macleod, De Oocost Indische
Compagnie als Zeemogenheid in Asie (Rijswijk, 1927), II, 205-206.
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the Perak ruler had indicated his willingness to sign a contract with
the Dutch which would exclude the Porcuguese.133 Sultan Muzafar's readi-
ness to explore the possibilities of a new alliance is especially signifi-
cant in view of the fact that negotiations for this contract were made
without Aceh's knowledge. Perak might be a vassal, but its ruler showed
a greater understanding of the shifting balance of power than did his
suzerain, Sultan Iskandar Thani, the new ruler of Aceh, whose intran-
sigance made an alliance between Aceh and either Portugal or the VOC
doubtful, 134 A private arrangement made between Sultan Muzafar Syah of
Perak and a VOC representative was disallowed by the Dutch but was re-
placed in 1639 by an official arrangement which permitted the Company to
trade in Perak in competition with other merchants.135

The anxiety of Sultan Mazafar to assure himself of Dutch friend-
ship continued to stand in marked contrast to Sultan Iskandar Thani's
hesitant attitude. Whereas Aceh did not commit troops for the Dutch at-
tack on Melaka in 1640-41, Perak was quick to perceive th:t the days of
the Portuguese were numbered. Three months after the commencement of the
siege, at a time when Sultan Iskandar was still vascillating, Sultan Muza-

far sent envoys and a letter to the Dutch commander., '"God grant that you

133, Macleod, De Ooost Indische Compagnie, 11, 207; Bassett, "Changes in

the Patterns," p. 437; Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, I, 649.

134. Bassett, "Changes in the Patterns," p. 437.

135. Macleod, De Oost Indische Compagnie, II, 207; G. Irwin, "The Dutch
and the Tin Trade of Malaya in the Seventeenth Century," in Jerome
Ch'en and Nicholas Tarling, eds., Studies in the Social History of
China and Southeast Asia: Essays in Memory of Victor Purcell (Cam-

bridge, 1971), p. 279.
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may quickly become masters of Melaka and overcome the proud Portuguese,
who are not to be trusted. . . . I hope that the kingdoms of Aceh and
Batavia shall enter into greater friendship than before, like a ring with
two stones, and even more so Perak and Batavia,"136

Sultan Muzafar might write letters of support, but it was clear
that future relations between Perak and the VOC depended on the attitude
of his overlord in Aceh. Sometimes, however, this relationship was in-
voked merely as a delaying tactic when Dutch demands were found to be un-
acceptable, Sultan Muzafar refused the VOC request that all other for-
eign traders in Perak be evicted, for example, maintaining that he could
not take such a step without first seeking Acehnese approval.137

It was this question of an open versus a monopoly market which
first brought about a souring of relations between Perak and the Dutch
and it was to remain the dominating issue in their relationship until the
fall of Dutch Melaka in 1795, VOC traders found formidable opposition in
Perak, Unable to displace their rivals from Aceh, India, China, Kedah
and Java, they fell back on legal arguments, claiming that they had in-
herited what they said were the monopoly rights of the Portuguese.l38
Friction inevitably resulted following Dutch attempts to proscribe all
Indian shipping to Perak and this friction continued throughout the cen-
tury, even after treaties guaranteed the VOC at least part of the tin

produced in Perak, 139

136. Dagh Register, 1640-41, p. 70.

137. Macleod, De Oost Indische Compagnie, 11, 220-221; Tiele and Heeres,
Bouwstoffen, II, 37; Dagh Register, 1640-41, pp. 365, 459.

138. Tiele and Heeres, Bouwstoffen, 1I, 37; 105.
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Finding it impossible to ensure their control of the tin trade
through diplomacy or treaty, the Dutch resorted to blockades and during
1644-46 and 1647-49 VOC ships patrolled the coast to force Perak inhabi~-
tants to deliver tin to the Company.“‘o A further effort to consolidate
the Dutch position was made in 1650, when another contract was concluded
with Sultan Iskandar Thani's widow, Taj-al Alam. The tin in Perak was
now to be divided solely between Aceh and the VOC "with the exclusion of
all other nations, Europeans as well as Indians."141l

The people of Perak were infuriated at this hamstringing of their
trade and the wholesale eviction of the Indians, their best customers.
Anti-Dutch feeling grew, expressed principally by the nobles under the
leadership of the Syahbandar and the Temenggong. This feeling exploded
into violence when the rumour spread that the Dutch lodge, in process of
construction, was intended to be a fort and that guns had already been

brought in. 142

During the eighteenth century feelings towards the Dutch
changed and, faced by a threatening world, Perak rulers welcomed such a
fort. 1In 1651, however, its presence was considered a threat to the

country's well-being. Who knew to what purpose it might be put? Sultan

139. Basset, "Changes in the Patterns," p. 447-448; Dagh-Register, 1640~

41, pp. 83, 86, Dagh Register 1647-48, PP. 6-7; KA 1050 OB 1763, Gov.
van Twist to Batavia, 17 Dec. 1642, fol, 23T,

140. Bassett, "Changes in the Patterns," P. 448.

141, J. E, Heeres, "Corpus Diplomaticum Neerlandico Indicum," BKI, 57
(1907), 539.

142, N. Macleod, "De Oost Indische Compagnie op Sumatra in de 17€ Eeuw,"
Indische Gids, 26, 1 (1904), 624-637 gives a full description of
this event and the ensuing difficulties between Perak and the Dutch,
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Muzafar himself attempted to resolve the issue by appealing to the Aceh~
nese court but, when his request that the Dutch be ousted was ignored,
some of his orang besar decided to take matters into their owm hands.
In April 1651, while a Dutch party was bringing a letter from the Melaka
Governor to the Perak court, "the Temenggong called amuk' and the Malays
attacked. Thirty Dutchmen were killed and the lodge destroyed. 143

This incident came as a great shock to the Dutch. Their resent-
ment at what they termed a "horrible event . . . faithless behaviour, the
murder of so many innocent souls" was fanned by their inability to bring
those involved to justice. From 1651 until 1659 the VOC attempted to
gain satisfaction through punitive expeditions to Perak and deputations
to the Acehnese court but these were unsuccessful and memories of the at-
tack lived on throughout the Company's association with Perak. 144 At the
time a Dutch envoy to the court of Aceh told Taj-al Alam outright that
"the people of Perak have given us sufficient cause to mistrust them in
everyl:hing."u's 1651 established for Perak Malays a reputation for vio-

lence which accords ill with their behaviour during the eighteenth cen-

143, Ibid., p. 628; see also Coolhaas, Generale Missivem, II, 512-519.

144. A summary of the Company's relationship with Perak drawn up by Gov=
ernor Couperus in 1791 stresses the "violent murder" of 1651. KA
3858 Secret, 1793. Diverse papers concerning the Country's Mili-
tary Commission, 31 Aug. 1791, See also Chapter 1I, p. 182. As a
contrast, it is interesting to note Maxwell's comment. "I have
lived in Perak for several years and have sought in vain among na-
tives of the state for any traditional accounts of the attack upon
the Dutch [in 1651] and the negotiations which followed. I have
never succeeded in meeting a native who could remember having heard
that such a thing had happened." W, E. Maxwell, "The Dutch in Perak,"
JSBRAS, X (Dec. 1882), 246.

145, Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, II, 515.
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tury. Despite repeated examples to the contrary, the potential "treach-
ery" of Perak inhabitants became an accepted belief among VOC adminis-
trators.

The murder of the VOC representatives in Perak also laid bare the
extent to which Aceh's control had weakened under the rule of Sultan
Iskandar Thani's widow, Taj-al Alam, The latter had for some time been
aware of the decline in her prestige and had earlier refused Dutch in-
spection of Acehnese ships leaving Perak with tin on the grounds that it
would "prejudice her sovereignty and diminish her absolute power in
Perak, at least in the eyes of Perak subjects."l46 Now it proved im-
possible for the Acehnese court to force Sultan Muzafar to surrender the
orang besar responsible for the killings; as Taj-al Alam explained to a
Dutch envoy, "The land of Perak is indeed mine . . . but the people liv-
ing there are a coarse, proud nation, full of rebelliousness."l47

This unwillingness to accept Acehnese suzerainty became more pro-
nounced after the death of Sultan Muzafar in 1651».11‘8 The latter,
originally from Siak, had been brought up in the Acehnese court and prob-
ably felt some ties of loyalty to the wife of Iskandar Thani, who had

placed him on the Perak throne.l49 With his death, however, the internal

146, 1bid., 462-463, 571,

147. Ibid., p. 511. Aceh's waning influence is also attested by the fact
that the Queen was receiving little tin from Perak. Dagh Register,
1661, p. 13.

148, Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, II, 751.

149. Silsilah Kerajaan Melaka Negeri Perak, fo. 27V, lines 6-10. Accord-

ing to this text, the Siak prince, Raja Sulung, had married a Perak
princess herself descended from the royal family of Pahang. The
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situation in Perak changed markedly. The new ruler, Sultan Muzafar's
son, was still a child and, according to the Silsilah Melaka Kerajaan
Negeri Perak, an orphan. His mother had died a short time before Sultan
Muzafar and the young prince had therefore been adopted by the "Raja of
Aceh; Her Majesty had given him a gold keris and other things. Whenever

the nubat sounded, he was held on the lap of his aunt" [presumably the

regenc].lso

This Malay perception of a troubled succession obscures a major
development within the Perak court. Now real power in the country lay
not with the ruler, but with the orang besar, and especially with the
former Temenggong. The latter had not only survived Dutch demands that
he be put to death for his complicity in the 1651 incident but had been
promoted to Bendahara. By 1655 he was in control of the entire govern-
ment.151 Probably because of the influence of his uncle, who was a
leading member of the Acehnese Council of Nobles, Taj-al Alam refused to
take any action against the Perak Bendahara, She and her nobles argued
that he could not be deposed at this point since the new ruler was too
young and inexperienced, and the Regent too old and weak to manage any
affairs of state. Everything devolved on the Bendahara and without him

the government would be in confusion, 152

149, (cont'd.)
Dutch noted that Raja Sulung was also related to Sultan Iskandar
Thani and connected to the Pahang royal house, Coolhaas, Generale
Missiven, II, 571,

150, Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, fo. 28, lines 4-7. The Dutch mention the
birth of this prince in 1641, He would therefore have been about
13 years old when his father died. KA 1045 OB 1642, Melaka's Dagh
Register, 3 April 641, foll, 307-308.

151. Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, III, 47.
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In spite of Dutch protests, the Bendahara retained his post and
even consolidated his position.153 Dominating the Perak Assembly for
a number of years, he pzocidés an excellent example of the degree of
power an orang besar could attain. He was said to have "the whole gov-
ernment at his fingertips" and, because of his hostility, it was impos=
sible for the Company to compel delivery of its quota of tin, 154 Smug=-
gling continued to the more profitable markets of Aceh and Kedah., This
Bendahara even appeared to be exploring the possibility of an alliance
with the anti-Dutch ruler of Kedah, possibly in an effort to displace
both the Company and Aceh. 155 Indeed, even after Dutch arguments and
the prospect of losing the tin trade completely finally pressured Taj-al
Alam into dismissing the Bendahara, he turned once more to Kedah in an
effort to obtain support against Aceh, 196 Though the latter's threats
were sufficient to make plans for a Kedah-Perak alliance "disappear in

smoke," the Bendahara himself appeared invincible, In February 1662 the

152. Ibid.; Macleod. '"De Oost Indische Compagnie op Sumatra," p. 634.

153. The treaty of 1655 clearly placed him at the head of the nobles and
article 7 allowed him to continue in office subject to the approval
of the Acehnese court and the Company. Four years later a further
contract between Aceh and the VOC was concluded in which the Queen
agreed to punish those "most deeply involved in the murder of 1651,"
The Bendahara, however, would be pardoned "because of his great
descent" and was permitted to retain his post. Heeres, "Corpus
Diplomaticum," BKI, 87 (1931), 78-81, 152-153.

154, Dagh Register, 1661, p. 242; Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, III, 324.

155. A marriage alliance was planned between the royal families of Kedah
and Perak. Dagh Register, 1662, p. 17.

156. Ibid., 242.
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Governor of Melaka reported that everything in Perak had returned to
"its former state" and the Bendahara, so recently deposed, had now been
reinstated. Company affairs in Perak again deteriorated and there seemed
no way that the Dutch could control the open smuggling.157

The following years saw a monotonous pattern of unfulfilled
treaties and consequent blockades, but the theme of Perak's search for
a powerful friend stands out clearly from the maze of detail, a search
for a new relationship which would replace that with Aceh, Vassalage had
brought no benefits and mow Aceh could no longer enforce its former com-
trol. Perak, however, had no desire to merely submit to the domination
of another state, Something different was envisaged, a friendship, an
alliance which would be maintained by volition rather than force. There
was never any thought of casting off all contracts and retreating into
isolationism, It would have been unprecedented for Perak to have faced
the world without a strong and powerful friend, especially in the shadow
of a newly assertive Siam. The only question was the choice of an ally.
One faction saw the Company as a possibility, despite the hostilities of
past years, and until 1670 the pendulum swung backwards and forwards be-
tween the pro-Dutch faction and those who wished to look elsewhere.

After the Bendahara's failure to gain Kedah support and his final
downfall in late 1662, the group favouring a VOC alliance gained ascend-
ancy under the leadership of Sultan Mahmud himself, now old enough to
assume control of the gcivermmanl:.158 In 1663 he told the Company that
157. KA 1126 OB 1662, Gov. Thyssen to Batavia, 28 Nov. 1661, fo. 705; KA

1130 OB 1663, Gov. Thyssen to Batavia, 28 Feb. 1662, fo. 228,

158. Sultan Mahmud would now have been about 23 years old. See above,
note 140.
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he would not only sell his tin to the Dutch but would also sever all
ties with Aceh if he could be assured that the VOC would protect him
against any tepri.«;als.l59 When this effort to recruit Dutch assistance
failed, the tide turned again in Aceh's favour and it was also rumoured
that the Perak court was considering a approach to Johor.160 Under a
newly appointed Bendahara, however, Perak's attitude towards the Company
began to improve. Those who favoured closer relations with the Dutch
found their support strengthening in the face of Aceh's growing weakness
and obvious inability to protect its former vassals from attack, Perak's
need for an ally was particularly pressing in view of a new threat from
the north, that of the Thais under their warlike king, Narai.

Since Narai's succession in 1657, Siam had become increasingly
belligerent. The new king's policy of expansion was directed not only
towards the Burmese but also towards Siam's former vassals, the Malay
states to the south. Siamese rulers never forgot that at one time they
had controlled much of the Peninsula, Jeremias van Vliet, a Dutchman
who lived in Siam from 1634 to 1636 was told that in the reign of Rama
T'ibodi (1350-1369) "many princes came to visit him, such as the princes
of Patani, Perak, Kedah etc,"161 Fifty years later, in 1685, a Johor
TEET-ET_ET_EEEEman, "Early Policies in the Malacca Jurisdiction of the

United East India Company; the Malay Peninsula and Netherlands East

Indies Attachment," JSEAS, TII, 1 (1972), 19; Dagh Register, 1663,
p. 588.

160. Dagh Register, 1663, p. 697.

161. De Cort Verhaal van 't Nature Sijn der Volbrachten Tiid en de Suc-
cessie der Coningen van Siam voor soo veel daar bij d'oude Historien
Bekent Sijn, Collectie Sweers and Van Vliet, Algemeen Rijksarchief,
7, fo. 70.
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envoy to the court of Siam was told that formerly "the King of Siam was
Protector over the whole district of Melaka . . . and the further land
of Patani as far as Kedah."162

Perak rulers, too, were fully aware of the threat posed by the
Siamese. As Sultan Abdullah wrote to the British in 1826, "this country
of Perak is part of the same continent as Siam."'63 In the seventeenth
century his ancestors would have watched with disquiet the burden of
Thai domination in such states as Patani and Kedah. Although vassalage
could be enforced only when Siam was strong, this did not make it less
onerous and the frequent rebellions by Malay states during the seven-

teenth century indicate their unwillingness to accept the status of a
"

Siamese dependency. A ruler of Kedah told the Dutch that he was "a

friend and inferior of the Siamese, but no vassal" and a Kelantan text
relates how the Raja refused to give his wife to the Siamese king 'be-
cause they are infidels and do not know proper etiquette.'" (orang Siam
bangsa kafir, tiada tahu cara bahasa 164
King Narai made it clear that he would not tolerate opposition

from these states and in 1661 Kedah was forced to send the Bunga Mas dan

Perak, the token of subservience, once more. 165 Lacking a powerful ally,

162. Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, 1V, 785-786.

163, SSR F 5, Letters from Native Rulers, King of Perak to Gov. of
Penang, 10 Sept. 1826, fo. 7.

164, Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, I1I1, 326; Taib Osman, Hikayat Sri
Kelantan, M.A, Thesis, Univ. of Malaya, 1961, p. 53.

165. Dagh Register, 1661, p. 38l. For a description of the "gold and
silver flowers" (bunga mas dan perak), see Bonney, Kedah, pp. 11-12.
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Sultan Mahmud feared for his own future. In 1670, as a result of Perak's
repeated requests and Dutch desire to safeguard the tin trade against
interference from English traders, the VOC established a post on Pangkor
Island, opposite the Dinding River. The fear of Siam was so great, how-
ever, that the Perak orang besar urged an even closer connection. When
an envoy visited the court the following year, Sultan Mahmud asked that
the Company re-establish a residence on the Perak River, assuring the
Dutch that the country was already "two-thirds theirs."l166 1n 1674 and
1677 there were again widespread rumours of an imminent Siamese invasion
and, with the final collapse of Acehnese control, Sultan Mahmud was ada-
mant in his decision to maintain a friendship with the Dutch, 167 By 1678
Governor Bort of Melaka could report that, in spite of his earlier sus-
picions, the people of Perak now appeared to want the Dutch as neighbours
and in trading matters "they treat us very fairly,"168

Because of Sultan Mahmud's support, relations between Perak and
the VOC had shown a noticeable improvement but the faction which opposed

any connection with the Dutch still wielded formidable influence., A new

166. C. 0. Blagden, ed., "Report of Governor Balthasar Bort on Melaka,

1678," JMBRAS, V, 1 (1927), 153; KA 1173 OB 1672, Report by Jacob
Schagen, 11 Feb. 1671, foll. 1428Y. 1In later years Dutch officials
recalled that Perak had ceased to pay tribute to Aceh after the
death of Taj-al Alam in 1675. KA 3858, Secret, 1793, Diverse Papers,
31 Aug. 1791.

The Dutch post on Dinding Island, as the Dutch called Pangkor,
was set up on 5 Aug. 1670. The post is described in William Dampier,
Voyages and Discoveries (London, 1931), p. 117.

167. KA 1192 0B 1675, Report by Henry Waeker to Gov. Bort, 20 Aug. 1674,
fo. 259; Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, IV, 195,

168. Coolhaas, Generale Missiven, IV, 195; Blagden, "Report of Governor
Bort," p. 142,
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Bendahara was appointed in 1674 and, like his famous predecessor, emerged
as leader of the anti-Dutch faction. Once again, resentment erupted into
violence. In 1685 the Bendahara was accused of engineering the murder of
the Dutch resident and eleven VOC employees were killed. Despite the
fact that the attack was totally opposed to Sultan Mahmud's wishes, the
Company was never able to obtain the redress it zmught.169 The Bendahara
controlled large areas of territory--Larut, Kinta, Kampar, and Sungai
Raya--and had a sizeable following within the court. Furthermore, he
was married to Sultan Mahmud's sister.l70 The Bendahara's position was
rivalled only by the royal merchant (saudagar raja), an Indian named
Sedelebe, The latter had managed to survive various fluctuations in his
fortune and by 1686 was in charge of virtually the entire tin trade in
Perak., Buying tin in the ruler's name, he ordered all the miners in the
ulu to deliver their tin to him and even refused to grant a Chinese mer-

chant a pass to trade tin with the Dutch at Pangkor Island.!71

——s

169. KA 1304 OB 1686, Gov. Slicher to Batavia, 25 Sept. 1685, foll. 815-
816. The Bendahara had also been suspected of involvement im an-
other attack on a Dutch party in 1679. Dagh Register, 1679, p. 216.

170. KA 1388 OB 1692, Slicher to Batavia, 21 April 1691, fo. 362.

171. Irwin, "The Dutch and the Tin Trade of Malaya," p. 274 gives a brief
description of Sedelebe. He had originally lived in Melaka and had
subsequently taken up residence in Perak. He fell into disgrace in
1674 and 1675, however, because both Dutch and Sultan Mahmud accused
him of interfering in the Indian trade, He was also heavily in-
debted to the Bendahara, who threatened to kill him if the debts
were not repaid. He made a rapid recovery from his disgrace and by
1685 was carrying out the duties of saudagar raja. KA 1192 OB 1675,
Bort to Batavia, 6 April 1674, fo. 212%; 24 April, fo. 231F; KA 1196
OB 1676, Bort to Batavia, 7 Oct. 1675, fo. 386V; Coolhaas, Generale
Missiven, IV, 347; 438; Dagh Register, 1681, pp. 274; Dagh Register,
1682, 11, 1463; KA 1318 0B 1687, Gov. Comans to Batavia, 30 March
1686, fo. 736V.
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These two men, though themselves rivals, provided the anti=-Dutch
faction with strong leadership. In December 1689, at a time when Sultan
Mahmud was preparing to send an envoy to Melaka, the Bendahara once again
resorted to violence against the Dutch, With the support of Sedelebe and
the orang besar, he recruited the aid of an orang laut pirate, Panglima
Kulup. On December 2, Panglima Kulup and three hundred men attacked the
Dutch redoubt on Pangkor Island.172 ag in 1651, this attack was under~
taken in complete defiance of the wishes of Sultan Mahmud and his brother,
the Raja Muda. In the words of the Melaka Governor, '"this clearly shows
how great the authority of the Bendahara is."173 Even two years later,
when the Raja Muda succeeded in deposing the Bendahara, the latter re-
tained such a following among the people that Sultan Mahmud dared not use
force against him.174 The independence of the principal orang besar dur-
ing the seventeenth century and their lack of co-operation with the
ruler form a contrast to their relative compliance a hundred years later,
when the ruler's opposition came largely from the waris negeri and anak
raja, members of his own family.

Despite the attack on the Pangkor redoubt in 1689 and the with-
drawal of the garrison the following year, the Dutch were still prepared
to renegotiate a treaty with Perak if certain conditions were met, a

tribute to the tremendous value they placed on the tin trade. At the

172. KA 1375 OB 1691, Slicher to Batavia, 23 Feb. 1690, foll. 261F-262V,
173. KA 1375 OB 1691, Slicher to Batavia, 23 Feb. 1690, fo. 262F.

174. KA 1388 OB 1692, Slicher to Batavia, 21 April 1691 fo. 362; 25 Jan.
1692, fo. 432,



82

same time Sultan Mahmud, the Perak ruler, favoured a renewal of relations
with the Company, who could supply patrols to combat the growing piracy
along the Perak coastline. In early 1691 it was reported that Sultan
Mahmud was in fact seeking the mediation of .!ohtu',175 and in the follow-
ing year envoys were sent from Perak to discuss the possibility of a new
contract with the Melaka Governor. These discussions were unsuccessful,
for the envoys were not given sufficient authority to conclude a treaty
which would satisfy the Governmor; for his part, Sultan Mahmud expressed
annoyance at Dutch failure to pay tolls and at the confiscation of a num=-
ber of Perak ships.l76 Although the Melaka Governor was anxious to avoid
an open break, it was impossible to reach any resolution, A further at-
tack by pirates on Pangkor decided the issue and for the next half-
century only polite relations were maintained between Perak and Melaka.
Pangkor Island continued to be regarded by the Dutch as Company property
and ships were sent regularly to inspect the stone pillar erected to in-
dicate VOC ownership.’-”
The seventeenth century does not appear to have been a happy one
175. After 1690 piracy increased in the waters of the Perak coast and in
fact became so bad that Dutch burghers of Melaka refused to sail to
Perak to trade except in convoys protected by Company ships, Irwin,
"The Dutch and the Tin Trade,' p. 287; KA 1388 OB 1692, Slicher to
Batavia, 21 April 1691, fo. 362.
176, KA 1424 OB 1693, Melaka Day Register, 9-25 Oct. 1692, foll, 45-72.
177. KA 1407 OB 1693, Comans to Batavia, 22 Oct. 1692, foll, 6841V
702T-V; KA 1424 OB 1693, Melaka Day Register, 11 Dec. 1692, foll.
144-148; KA 1447 OB 1695, Gov. Vosburgh to Batavia, 11 Feb. 1694;

instructions to Lt. Jan Rosdom, Commissioner to Dinding, 14 May
1794, foll. 351V-354V.
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for Perak. Virtually depopulated by Sultan Iskandar's raids of 1620, it
had recovered only to become a pawn in the disputes between the Dutch
East India Company and the c‘ourl‘: of Aceh, Perak's very weakness had led
to an intense involvement in Malay affairs, partly because of its rela=-
tionship to Aceh and the Dutch and partly because Perak rulers were con~
vinced that they must seek out a powerful friend who would protect them
against the threats which seemed to come from all sides. With Aceh's de-
cline and the slow crumbling of the relationship with the VOC, Perak was
without an ally, and it was probably this knowledge which prompted Sultan
Mahmud to send a mission to Johor, the strongest state in the region,
in 1692.178

Although successive Perak rulers had attempted to strengthen the
association with the Dutch, their experiences with the Company had not
generally been successful. Efforts by the overlord in Aceh and the Perak
ruler himself on behalf of the VOC had repeatedly been opposed by the
orang besar, who often saw their interests as conflicting with those of
the ruler. Angered by VOC blockades, low prices, and insensitive resi=
dents, members of the Perak court had on several occasions retaliated
with violence. No ruler had been able to make a pro-Dutch policy ac-
ceptable to the Assembly except at times when invasion or attack appeared
imminent. It was clear that for most Perak Malays the promise of Dutch
friendship did not compensate for the economic disadvantages which a con-
tract with the Company entailed,

178. KA 1426 OB 1694, Gov. Vosburg to Batavia, 9 May 1693, fo. 182V. An
elephant was sent to Sultan Mahmud of Johor as a gift.
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As far as the Dutch themselves were concerned, Perak remained an

unknown, hostile land. As Wouter Schouten wrote in 1663:

The country is favoured with tin mines, but everywhere

in the interior it is covered with very high mountains,

thick forests and frightful wilderness and there are

many Rhinoceroses, wild Elephants, Buffaloes, Tigers,

Crocodiles, Serpents, and many other monsters to be

found. 179
In 1689 an English visitor to the Dutch post on Pangkor, William Dampier,
commented on the "continual fear" of the VOC garrison there. Though they
traded with the Malays "yet dare they not trust them so far as to be
ranging about the island in any work of husbandry or indeed to go far
from the Fort for there only they are safe,"180 Panglima Kulup's attack
the same year merely reinforced the Dutch stereotype of Perak Malays as
faithless and treacherous.

For a short time after the Dutch departure in 1690, Perak basked
in the luxury of a freedom from both trading restrictions and outside
threats. Only rarely was it jolted out of its isolation. In 1699,
Perak, like the rest of the Malay world, was shocked by the murder of
Sultan Mahmud of Johor by his no\:les.]'81 Neither Perak nor Palembang had
forgotten their family ties with Sultan Mahmud and both states urged the

Dutch to join with them in a full scale invasion of Johor.182 1f this

179, Wouter Schouten, Reistogt naar en door Oostindien (Utrecht, 1775),
11, 50.

180. Dampier, Voyages and Discoveries, pp. 117-118.

181. See Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 203-211,

182. KA 1530 OB 1701, Gov. van Hoorn to Batavia, fo. 42; KA 1515 OB 1700,
van Hoorn to Batavia, 30 Nov. 1699, fo. 13.
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had eventuated, it would have marked the first occasion in which Perak
had been the aggressor rather than the victim and clearly demonstrates
the type of issue which Perak rulers considered justified war. The
Dutch, however, were unwilling to become involved and Perak, with the
rest of the Malay world, watched as the former Bendahara succeeded as
ruler of Johor.!83 As one of Sultan Mahmud's former friends, Perak must
have wondered whether it could count on the support of this new dynasty
whose inception it had opposed so violently and which now appeared un-
willing or unable to control the piratical raidings of its subjects in
Perak waters.!8%

Perak's lack of powerful allies became an issue of particular im-
portance in 1709. In that year the king of Siam, Prachao Sua, launched
a series of attacks to the south, possibly intended to avenge the set-
backs Siam had suffered after the death of Narai in 1688. Patani, Tereng-
ganu, Perak and even Johor were threatened and though the immediate dan-
ger of a Siamese sweep through the northern peninsula was averted by
Prachao Sua's death in mid 1709, the threat of continuing campaigns under
his successor remained until the next year.l85

Perak lay exposed, and it was almost inevitable, therefore that

183. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 210-215.

184. 1In 1701 the Dutch were told that Johor had sent fleets to drive away
pirates from the Perak river, but the problem continued and in 1709
the Governor of Melaka speculated that hopes of obtaining support
against them may have been behind Perak's gestures of friendship.
Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, p. 217; KA 1668 OB 1710, Gov. Roose-
laar to Batavia, 16 April 1709, fo. 60.

185. KA 1668 OB 1710, Rooselaar to Batavia, 16 April 1709, foll. 60, 66;

21 June 1709, foll. 177-179; Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 236-
237. KA 1687 OB 1711, Gov. Six to Batavia, 6 Sept. 1710, fo. 467.
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the ruler (Raja Inu, Raja Kecil Besar, named as Regent) should approach
the VOC once more. In 1710 he sent a mission to the Governor of Melaka
asking for an envoy to be sent to Perak, The Governor decided to wait
until a promised mission from Perak had arrived but time went by and no
delegation appeared. We can only assume that the need for a renewed
alliance was gone., Perak had been freed from any immediate prospect of
invasion as Siamese attention was diverted towards Vietnamese incursions
in Cambodia, 186 Until 1746 Perak rulers made no further advance towards
the Dutch and contact between the two lapsed for over three decades ex-
cept for occasional ships bringing tin.

Perak's retreat from involvement in the affairs of the outside
world during the first half of the eighteenth century may have been due
to the internal breakdown of government. Although the dearth of sources
makes the establishment of any chronology impossible, it is apparent that
later Perak rulers could look back on a period of factionalism and civil
war, with the orang besar and the anak raja playing a major role. Ac-
cording to the Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, Sultan Mahmud had died child-
less, but during his reign he had adopted three of his nephews, Raja
Radin, Raja Inu and Raja Bisnu. Raja Radin was made Raja Muda and Raja
Inu was appointed Raja of Bernam with the title Sultan Muzafar Syah "and
was honoured with the insignia of royalty and with a following of war-
riors according to custom,'187
186, KA 1687 OB 1711, Raja Kecil Besar of Perak to Gov. Six (enclosed

with Six to Batavia, 12 March 1710) fo, 60, also foll, 12-18; 6

Sept. 1710, foll, 487-493; D. G. E. Hall, A History of Southeast
Asia (New York, 1968), p. 455.
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After Sultan Mahmud's death, Raja Radin succeeded as Raja of Perak,
and was entitled Sultan Alauddin Mughayat Syah, while Raja Bisnu, his
brother, became Raja Muda. When Sultan Alauddin had been ruling for some
time, his other brother, Sultan Muzafar, came from Bernam and invaded
Perak. "And by the decree of God most high, who executes his will upon
all his creatures by any means that he may choose, there was dissension
among the orang besar. There was war between the Raja of Bernam and the
Datuk Bendahara and the orang besar of Perak, All was fighting and con-
fusion with one against another."188  syjtan Muzafar was defeated and
was forced downriver but, drawing support from the Laksamana and various
panglima, he launched another attack on the forces of Sultan Alauddin,
which were led by the Bendahara. The latter were defeated and forced to
retreat upstream,

The Laksamana sent a representative to Sultan Alauddin with the
message that the Laksamana had no intention of committing derhaka or
treason against any of the three royal brothers. He only wished to meet
with the Datuk Bendahara and the other orang besar, who apparently wished
to make themselves equal to Sultan Alauddin and his brothers. Sultan
Alauddin discussed the matter with the Raja Muda, saying, "If we allow
this to take place [i.e., a quarrel between the Laksamana and the Benda-
hara], the quarrel will spread all over the country." And when Sultan
Alauddin had decided what to do he went to meet his brother, Sultan Muza-

far, in the elephant yard. The three royal brothers embraced and kissed

187. Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, fo, 31, lines 1-8,
188, Ibid,, foll. 31-32A.
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each other and after this Sultan Alauddin went to Sayung in the ulu

where he lived for a long time and where his nubat was played.

After a time, the text continues, the Bendahara Megat Iskandar
died and was succeeded by Megat Terawis. Matters were discussed
(muafakat) and all parties decided to return to the way things were in
the past (seperti sedia lama). The ruler of Perak, Sultan Alauddin,
went back to Kota Garonggong while the ruler of Bernam, Sultan Mazafar,
returned to Bernam., Some time later, Sultan Alauddin made a journey to
Bernam to amuse himself and to visit his younger brother, Sultan Muzafar.
After arriving at Bernam, Sultan Alauddin joined his brother and they

amused themselves according to the adat of Malay kings.

Sultan Alauddin returned safely from Bernam to Perak. "And it
pleased God, who is ever to be praised, to bestow the blessings of peace
upon the rule of the Raja Muda, the king's brother, who administered the

government under his elder brother, together with the ministers, the of=-

ficials, the hulubalang and the bentara [court attendants] who were all
organised according to cuatom."159

Sultan Alauddin continued to reign, we are told, for seven years.
After his death, Sultan Muzafar moved from Bernam to Perak and was made
ruler, retaining his title of Sultan Muzafar., Raja Bisnu, the Raja Muda
continued to hold this office and to govern the country on behalf of his
elder brother. Megat Terawis, the Bendahara, also died and was succeeded
by Sri Dewa Raja. 'Order was established and the country was at rest and

the port [bandar] was populous and frequented by traders,"190

189, Ibid,, foll, 32A-33A,
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In its celebration of the "blessings of peace," this Malay record
remembers the period of the early eighteenth century as one of factional-
ism and dissension, not only between the orang besar, but between mem-
bers of the royal family. These three decades, when Perak was freed from
the imposition of trading restrictions and from foreign interference,
should by rights have led to a greater cohesion and a strengthening of
the political structure; instead, they left it weakened and disunited,
Although Sultan Muzafar had succeeded to the throne, there must have been
many who remembered his opposition to Sultan Alauddin and who felt that
the Raja Muda, Raja Bisnu, had a greater claim to rule, Perak was thus
ill-equipped to confront yet amother threat to its peace and security, a
threat which was the more dangerous because it encompassed the entire
Malay world, This threat was represented on the one hand by the Minang=-
kabau and on the other, by the Bugis, Through their involvement, these
two groups were to change the very course of Malay history.

Whereas Bugis settlers from Sulawesi began arriving in noticeable
numbers only after 1700, the Minangkabau were not newcomers to the Malay
world, and their cultural heartland of Pagar Ruyong was held in awe by
the Malays as the place ruled by the descendents of the princes of Bukit
Si Guntang. One of Perak's most famous folk heroes, the Bendahara Megat
Terawis, was said to be a son of the Raja of Pagar Ruyong whose origins

gave him various kinds of magic powers.lg1 Even in the nineteenth cen-

190. Ibid., foll. 33-34A.

191. Maxwell, "A History of Perak from Native Sources," (1882), pp. 93~
94, 102. 1In the early eighteenth century, Alexander Hamilton, an
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tury a visitor to Perak noted that any Minangkabau coming among the

Malays was treated with respect and veneration. 192

By the sev th century Mi kabau rantau settlements were

well established along the east coast of Sumatra and in Naning, Rembau
and Sungai Ujung on the peninsula.193 Their Dutch neighbours regarded
the Minangkabau with as much respect as the Malays. In 1695 a visitor

to Melaka wrote:

The dominion of the Dutch reaches but three miles round
the city because the natives being a wild people living
like beasts, they will not easily submit to bear the
Holland yoke, They are called Menancavos, very great
thieves, Mahometans as to religion and such mortal enemies
to the Dutch that they not only refuse to have any com-
merce with them but cut them in pieces, whenever it is in
their power. And this is the reason why the plains of
Malaca, abounding in Indian canes, they cannot be cut
without much precaution, for the fear of those barbarians.
Their king, called Pagarivyon, has his residence at Nani,
a village made with mats ill put together in the thickest
of the wood. No better account can be had of their country
for want of commerce with them, 19

The Minangkabau came into prominence particularly after 1718, when
a prince from Pagar Ruyong, calling himself Raja Kecil, appeared in Johor

claiming to be the son of the murdered Sultan Mahmud come to avenge his

191. (cont'd.)
English country trader, observed that Malays considered the Minang-
kabau to "have the character of great sorcerers, who by their spells
can tame wild tigers and make them carry them whither they order on
their backs." Alexander Hamilton, A New Account of the East Indies

(London, 1930), II, 45.

192. MacNair, Perak and the Malays, p. 132.
193, Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 112-118.

194, J. J. Sheehan, "A Seventeenth Century Visitor to the Malay Penin-
sula," JMBRAS, XII, 2 (1934), 103.
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father's death.195 Coming so quickly after the trauma of the regicide
in 1699, and the establishment of a new Johor dynasty, this claim had a
telling effect. Drawing on the allegiance of the orang laut,196 other
Minangkabau, and Malays who regarded him as the rightful heir to the
throne, Raja Kecil was for a brief time able to establish himself in the
capital of Riau, Driven out by Bugis troops in 1722, he continued to
wage intermittent warfare to regain his position until he became insane
sometime in the 1740's,197 Tne dynasty he had founded in Siak, however,
and the fraternal disputes between his sons, Raja Alam and Raja Muhammad,
and grandsons, Raja Muhammad Ali and Raja Ismail, insured that the name
of Raja Kecil was not forgotten.

Although Perak was not directly involved, its security was fre-
quently threatened during the eighteenth century by the protracted
struggles of the Minangkabau princes. As a weak state, Perak was fre-
quently forced to satisfy demands from one side or another for gunpowder

or suppl)’.es198 and its rulers often lived in fear of an attack from roam-

195. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 277-306.

196, The role of the oran; laut, or sea people, in the kingdom of Johor
has been discussed by Andaya. 1Ibid., pp. 40-46, 49-51, 208, 294~
296, 317-318.

197. For a survey of this period, see Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp.
308-347. 1In 1743 the Governor of Melaka, Roger de Laver, reported
that Raja Kecil was "effectively senseless." KA 2522 OB 1745, de
Laver to Batavia, 27 Dec, 1743, fo. 79.

198, In July 1771 Dus Rahim, a Malay of Perak was sent to Siak via Melaka
with fifty ganting of gunpowder as a gift for Sultan Mahommad of
Siak, Raja Kecil's son. KA 3252 OB 1773, Incoming Ships, under 5
July 1771, 1In 1777 Sultan Alauddin of Perak (1773-1792) sent three
hundred ganting of gunpowder to Raja Ismail, Raja Kecil's grandson,
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ing Minangkabau fleets, The Minangkabau also supplied another source

of support to which a disgruntled anak raja could appeal for aid. To the
north, Perak watched the Minangkabau assist one claimant to the Kedah
throne, while the Bugis contributed their forces to support the m;her.l99
Perak itself had its own Minangkabau population, many of whom had spilled
over from Kedah, and the loyalty of this group now became suspect. It
was to be severely tested a few years later when Sultan Berkabat, the
son of Raja Kecil and a Kedah prince, attempted to press his claim to
the throne of Perak, It is significant that the Misa Melayu emphasises
that the Minangkabau willingly followed Sultan Iskandar (1752-1765) on

his trip to sea and when he reached Larut, Minangkabau villagers in the
area came to pay homge.zoo

Of more direct concern to Perak were the activities of the Bugis.
Although they had been in Malay waters for several decades, by the mid-
eighteenth century it had become clear that many had come to settle per-

manently.zm Kelang, Linggi and Selangor, previously almost uninhabited

rantau areas subject to Johor, had become Bugis strongholds. In the

years after 1700 the area to the south of Perak was slowly filling up
with either Bugis or Minangkabau and, perhaps predictably, hostility
198, (cont'd.)
in response to a request from the Siak prince. KA 3417 OB 1779,
Res. Hensel to Gov. de Bruijn, 7 Feb. 1778; KA 3446 OB 1780, Hensel
to de Bruijn, 30 April 1778, de Bruijn to Hensel, 28 Feb. 1778,
199, Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 260-262, 333-337.
200. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 127, 173.

201. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 217, 258-259, 266-272.
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developed between them. Some of their most bitter struggles took place
during the drawn out civil war in Kedah, when one claimant to the throne
was supported by the Bugis aﬁd the other by the Minangkabau.202 It must
have been with some trepidation that Perak watched the great fleets sail
north.

Because the Bugis were to become a major factor in Perak politics,
it is necessary to bear in mind the ambiguous attitude with which they
were regarded, for it was this ambiguity which underlay the changing
policies of Perak rulers towards their neighbours in Selangor. Perak and
the rest of the Malay world had watched while Sultan Sulaiman of Johor,
failing to gain help from either his subjects or from other Malay states
against Raja Kecil, turned to outsiders. The Bugis were successful in
ousting the Minangkabau forces and placing Sultan Sulaiman on the throne
of Johor once more. A price, however, was paid; the Bugis leaders were
not only rewarded with titles, but the position of Raja Muda was dele-
gated to them and became a Bugis institution.203 yntil 1784, except for
a brief period in the 1750's, the Bugis Yamtuan Muda, as he was general-
ly called, directed the affairs of government.204

Under the new regime, Johor, now centred at Riau, re-emerged as
a prosperous trading entrepot, but the nature of the administration had

changed. The Malays were gradually forced to take a secondary role and

202. See above, n. 189.

203. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 327, 353-354.

204. After the death of Raja Muda Raja Haji in 1784, the Malay ruler,
Sultan Mahmud, assumed greater control over the government.
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in 1743 the Dutch termed Sultan Sulaiman (1721-1760) a mere puppet
(speelpop) "because he must always dance to the piping of the [Yamtuan
Muda] and his Bugis following."205 The relationship between the two
positions is depicted clearly by a Bugis chronicler: "The Yang di Per-
tuan Besar [the Malay ruler] is to be like a woman; when food is given
to him, he may eat; and the Yang di Pertuan Muda is like her man. Should
any question arise, it is he who is to decide it,n208
This relationship and the consequent eclipse of the royal family
was widely resented, not only among the Johorese themselves, but among
other Malay rulers, The elevated position of the Bugis "these people
who have just come" (orang yang baharu datang) aroused bittermess and
animaity.zw This was partially due to a heightened Bugis sense of
their own origins and cultural differences. Despite the many marriages
between leading Bugis and various Malay royal families, absorption into
the Malay community was slow and as late as 1875 a visitor to Perak re-
marked that the Bugis settlements there remained apart from those of the
Mnlnyﬁ.zo8 While the Bugis were never the monolithic group that the
Dutch considered them, those who migrated to the Malay world did retain
a remarkable cohesiveness and continued to maintain a strong connection
205. KA 2522 OB 1745, Rogier de Laver's Report on Melaka, 27 Dec. 1743,

fo. 73.

206. Silsilah Melayu dan Bugis (Johor Bahru, 1956), p. 13.

207. Raja Ali Haji, Tuhfat al Nafis, p. 101, This entire text is a justi-
fication of the role played by the Bugis in Malay history and an at-
tempt to fix the blame for the disputes which developed on known
anti-Bugis leaders such as Sultan Mansur Syah of Terengganu.

208, MacNair, Perak and the Malays, p. 131.
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with their homeland in southwest Sulawesi.209 Behind this cohesiveness
lay a history of persecution and the knowledge that in a strange land
unity was a source of strength.210

Basically, however, resentment against the Bugis was grounded on
hostility at their refusal to submit to the authority of Malay kings.
Instead, they searched out less populated areas and there set up their
own small but autonomous states. In 1717, for example, Johor was forced
to abandon its claims to Selangor and accept the token submission the
Bugis offered,?!l 1n 1772, a hundred years after the first waves of
Bugis migration began reaching the Malay world, the ruler of Kedah ex-
pressed the widespread hostility felt by many Malays during the eight-

eenth century:

Rhio, Johor, Selangor and Calang [were] formerly
governed by Malay kings and are inhabited by Malays
« . . the Bugis came and settled at Rhio and from
thence to Selangor and from Selangor to Calang.
From what pretensions the Bugis derive their author-
ity in these areas we know not.

209. Armed men, for example, were sent from Sulawesi to assist in mili=-
tary expeditions in the Malay world and the ruler of Bone in turn
received part of the spoil from these expeditions. In 1765 a prince
from Bone came to Riau to ask for Daeng Kemboja's daughter in mar-
riage. In the same years the Bone ruler also wrote to Daeng Kem=-
boja, the Yamtuan Muda, ordering him to live at peace with the
Dutch. KA 1853 0B 1722, Gov. van Suchtelen to Batavia, 11 March
1721, fo, 46; Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, p. 332; KA 3049, Secret,
Gov. Schippers to Batavia, 13 Oct. 1765; KA 3075 OB 1767, Daeng
Kemboja to Schippers, 3 Sept. 1765.

210. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 121-129 discusses the reasons for
the Bugis migrations during this period and the problems many had
faced in finding acceptance in other Indonesian states.

211. Ibid., pp. 266, 275.

212. SFR G35/15 King of Kedah to Gov. of Madras (FSGCP) 25 June 1772,
foll. 101-102,
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A similar attitude is also evident among the Dutch, whose sus=
picion of the migrant Bugis at times amounted to obsession., When the
fort in Perak was set up in 1746, for example, it was specifically stated
that there were to be "no Bugis" included in the native militia,213  Ten
years later the Governor of Melaka defended his attitude to the migrant
Bugis, claiming that Company treaties covering relations with "lawful
Bugis" in Sulawesi did not apply to their countrymen in the Melaka area.
The latter, he argued, were merely the descendents of robbers who had
fled to avoid just retribution for wrongs they had committed in their
homeland, 214

Nonetheless, it is too simplistic to argue that there was im=-
placable opposition from all quarters to the Bugis presence. On the one
hand, their hold over the Johor ruler was resented, but on the other hand
the skills they had brought were admired by both Malays and Europeans.

As merchants and traders, the Bugis, truly a maritime people, sailed to
all areas of the archipelago buying and selling, their movements helping
to link it in a close commercial network. When Francis Light established
a British settlement on Penang in 1786, for instance, he was particularly
anxious to attract Bugis traders, whom he regarded as "the best merchants
among the eastern jslands."215 As fighters and mercenaries, the Bugis
were recruited on several occasions by Malay rulers, as in Kedah. The

213. W. E. Maxwell, "Dutch Occupation of the Dindings,' JSBRAS, XI
(June, 1883), 169.

214. E. Netscher, "Twee Belegeringen van Malakka, 1756-7 en 1784,"
TBG, XII, 4 (1864), 318.

215. SSR G34/6, Light to Shore, 23 Jan, 1794 (FWCP 2 Aug. 1795), fo.
128-129.
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Misa Melayu mentions several Bugis and Makassarese among the Perak‘courc

in the mid-eighteenth centux'yz16 and the Tuhfat al Nafis provides a

testimony to the role played by various Bugis migrants in a number of
power struggles in the Indonesian area. The Dutch themselves depended
heavily on Bugis mercenaries for their own armies and in 1756 a Melaka
Governor described with respect the tenacity and military expertise of
the attacking Bugis forces.2l7 This fighting strength was not always
used with discretion, however, and Bugis raids, either independent or
under the auspices of a local ruler, gave rise to their stereotype as
adventurers and pirates.

1t was with mixed feelings, therefore, that Perak watched Selangor
evolve into a Bugis state. It was clear that although their neighbours
could promise both protection and advantageous trading connections, an
alliance with them could mean an unwelcome interference in internal mat-
ters or an embroilment in Bugis affairs. While most Malay rulers were
at some time concerned with the problem of containing these insistently
intrusive elements, Perak could never forget that it shared a common
border with a Bugis negeri.

The number of migrant Bugis and wandering Minangkabau with no par=-

216. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 144, 147, 165.

217. Netscher, "Twee Belegeringen," pp. 308-309, According to William
Marsden, the Malays made frequent allusions to the feats and achieve-
ments of the Bugis in their songs. '"Their reputation for courage,
which certainly surpasses that of all other people in the Eastern
Seas, acquires them this flattering distinction," History of Sumatra
(London, 1811, Oxford Reprint, 1966), p. 209. At the end of the
eighteenth century one observer reported that in the Indonesian
archipelago the word Bugis had become synonymous with soldier.

J. S. Stavorinus, Voyages in the East Indies (London, 1798, re-

printed 1969), 11, 185 n.
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ticular homeland and no source of subsistence exacerbated the endemic
problem of the anak raja. There were now a number of individuals whose
loyalty and services could be bought, whose allegiance was not tied to
any specific group and who thus provided further sources of instability.
Some were able to call on their own sources of power, men, ships, and
arms; such adventurers played decisive roles in a situation where so
many rulers, the Dutch included, were seeking additional reserves of
strength., Others, lacking resources, were forced to rely on their akal
(shrewd intelligence) in order to obtain the support or friendship of
someone with greater wealth. The loyalties of these men, governed by
circumstances, often vascillated and their actions were therefore un-
predictable. Throughout this study they can be seen as a distinct and
separate element which played an independent but important role in Malay
politics., They were crucial in deciding the outcome of a number of
issues, their emmity or goodwill or often mere presence determining the
manner in which inter-state relations developed,

This was particularly true because many displaced anak raja turned
to the oceans for a living, attacking ships and confiscating cargo or
raiding coastal settlements. The discussion of piracy absorbed much in-
terest in the nineteenth century and it is certainly true, as Raffles
argued, that some courts encouraged young nobles of high rank, especial-
1y those whose maintenance would have fallen on the ruler himself, to
“geek their fortune" (mencari rezeki) on the high seas.?18 1n 1743 1t

was claimed that both the ruler of Johor and the Bugis Yamtuan Muda

218, Sophia Raffles, Memoir of the Life of Thomas Raffles, p. 46.

Memoir Of the Lite Of S =
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fitted out fleets with "their own folk" and these were then sent out to
pirate.219 Thirty years later a Dutch envoy in Riau was told that this
was a relatively common practice among Malay states and even in the early
nineteenth century Sultan Husain Syah of Singapore told Raffles that
"piracy is our birthright and so brings no disgrace."zzo
While piracy was considered an honourable profession for young
men, it was naturally resented by the victims, Piratical raids could
thus become a source of disagreement between rulers but punishment was
often difficult if those involved were the sons of prominent people., The
increase in piracy during the eighteenth century was attributed by Raf-
fles to the Dutch monopoly system and restrictive trade practices but
it is also clear that historical circumstances at this time led to the
presence of numbers of young, unattached princes with no particular
source of income. It was their presence, rather than specific policies
of the Dutch, which made Malay waters in the eighteenth century in-
creasingly unsafe.
Although in the preceding discussion a distinction has been drawn
between the three groups, Malay, Bugis and Minangkabau, it is misleading
to view them as completely separate elements. As Raja Ali Haji pointed
out, Sultan Abdul Jalil of Johor (1700-1721) married his daughters to
both Minangkabau and Bugis princes. The genealogies demonstrate the
219. KA 2462 OB 1744 (2nd Reg.), de Laver to Batavia, 12 Feb. 1743,
fo, 107.

220. KA 3310, Secret. G. L. Velge's report on Mission to Riau in Gov.
Crans to Batavia, 31 Jan. 1774, fo. 72; A, H, Hill, Hikayat Ab-
dullah (Kuala Lumpur, 1970), p. 193, For a discussion of the

treatment of piracy by nineteenth century writers, see Reber, The
Sulu World, pp. 1-31.
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extent to which other Malay courts were linked with the Bugis and Minang-
kabau and the internal links which bound the three groups together. A
marriage relationship between two royal families subsumed a whole set of
friends and enemies and, according to the dictates of pragmatism, some
leaders were willing to form what might appear unlikely alliances in
order to strengthen their resources. The ease with which marriages could
be dissolved, however, meant that loyalties could quickly change and even
the survival of a marriage did not necessarily guarantee a faithful ally.
This complex network of constantly shifting relationships is a vital com-
ponent in Malay politics of the period.

It is from this background that Perak emerged, in the mid-eight-
eenth century, to face an uncertain and threatening world. The past had
taught its rulers a number of hard but valuable lessons. They had very
early come to the realisation that their inability to defend themselves,
combined with the lure of rich tin deposits made domination of Perak
both desirable and easy. There was mo way in which a hostile force
could be repelled alone; for Perak, the possession of an ally was a
necessity dictated by reality. But strong powers were themselves vul-
nerable and in their fall could bring down their friends as well. A
weak state like Perak could never take any situation for granted. There
must be constant reassessment, flexibility, readjustment. In seeking the
most desirable ally, Perak was not totally without assets, for the desire
for tin was great and the competition keen, During the eighteenth cen-
tury the potentiality of tin as a lever in diplomatic and political bar-

gaining was to become fully apparent. There was one crucial factor: the
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ruler must retain control over the tin trade if it was to be of any
benefit to him in his relations with the outside world. It was these
considerations which were brought to the fore in 1745, when negotiations
were begun for the signing of a totally new treaty between the Dutch

East India Company and the state of Perak,



Chapter II

PERAK AND THE DUTCH EAST INDIA COMPANY

In 1746, after a lapse of fifty years, the VOC and the ruler of
Perak concluded a new treaty, and this alliance, less troubled than that
of the previous century, was to endure for nearly five decades. From
the Dutch point of view, the underlying motive behind renewed approaches
to Perak had been a desire to revive the flagging tin trade, which had
previously been such a lucrative source of income. In 1678, for example,
450,000 1bs. of tin had been brought annually from Perak, but after 1700
Melaka was rarely able to fulfil its tin quotas for Batavia "much less
obtain any amount over for the Indian trade."! Now Perak tin was being
diverted to Kedah, where it was eagerly bought by European, Chinese, and
Indian merchants. Some traders came to Perak themselves, and a number
of Indians established their own agents there so that they could have
ready access to the tin supplies.2 Melaka offered little competitionm,
for prices there were low and, despite the Governor's constant urging,

—
1. KA 1787 OB 1718, Gov. Moerman's Report on Melaka to van Suchtelen,
quoted in Dianne Lewis, "The Tin Trade in the Malay Peninsula during

the Eighteenth Century,' New Zealand Journal of History, ITI, 1 (1909),
57-58.

2. KA 1636 OB 1708, Gov. Bolnar's Report on Melaka to Rooselaar, 22 March
1707, fo. 115; KA 1668 OB 1709, Gov. Rooselaar's Report on Melaka to
Six, 26 Dec. 1709, foll. S, 7.

102
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Batavia was unwilling to take any positive steps to enforce greater de-
liveries of tin. Melaka was now of little importance in the VOC trading
network and its status as an.entrepo: had been completely undermined by
the restrictive policies which sought to divert trade to Batavia. 1In

1711 an Englishman could describe the town as being "a healthful place,

but of no great trade,"3

and his comments were echoed by the laments of
VOC officials. '"Business in Melaka is wholly fallen into decay with
+ + . little appearance of a great improvement, let alone a full recovery
of the former flourishing trade."® Once "a pearl in Portugal's crown,"
Melaka was now only "a heavy burden" (last Ecst).s

Company administrators, plagued by a high overhead, did not con-
sider Melaka of sufficient importance to warrant the expense which any
efforts to increase trade would entail. In 1704, for example, Melaka's
suggestion that the price offered for tin be raised and guard ships be
sent to patrol the Straits was roundly rejected. VOC officials in
Batavia thought it unfeasible to try and compete with Asians and other
Europeans in the tin trade, and could not spare ships at a time when the

Company was at war in both Java and India.6 Conversely, Batavia was un-

3. Charles Lockyer, An Account of Trade in India (London, 1711), p. 66.

=D c-ccornt of 'rade in ‘ndia

4. KA 1583 OB 1707, Councillor de Roo to Batavia, 9 Nov. 1705, foll., 1-3,
quoted in J. E. Hoffman, "Early Policies in the Malacca Jurisdiction
of the United East Indies Company, the Malay Peninsula and the Nether-
lands East Indies Attachment," JSEAS, ITI, 1 (1972), 1.

5. KA Collectie Rademacher, 526. D, Nolthenius, "Copie Project tot Ver~
betering van den handel op Malacca," 5 Nov. 1739, n.p.

6. Lewis, "The Tin Trade," pp. 58-60.



willing to abandon Melaka, despite the financial burden it represented,
because of the town's strategic maritime position on the Straits. As
an English visitor remarked, the expenses of maintaining the Melaka fort
and two hundred European soldiers were "as much as the profits arising
from the Country under this government can defray. However, the Dutch
think it a sufficient advantage to keep it as a handle to the Mallayans
and a Security for their trade among them."’

The early eighteenth century thus found Melaka in economically
straightened circumstances, yet still vital to the Company's position
in Asia. The attention of VOC officials was therefore focused on a means
of increasing the comptoir's profits.a To many, a natural solution ap-
peared to lie in a revival of the tin trade, which had yielded such great
profits in the previous century.g These profits had been principally due
to deliveries from Perak but as yet there was no great desire to renego-
tiate past treaties with this state. Among VOC administrators, memories
of the Company's previous experiences with these "faithless traders . . .
this bloodthirsty nation" were still very much alive. 10 Even an English
country trader felt that although "Perak produces more tin than any
[other country] in India . . . the inhabitants are so treacherous, faith-
less and bloody that no European nation can keep factories there with

safecy."ll Instead, Melaka hoped to see increased profits come through

7. Lockyer, An Account, p. 74.

8. Comptoir was the name given by the VOC to their more important posts.
9. Nolthenius, "Copie Project."

10, KA 1687 OB 1711, Gov. Six to Batavia, 12 March 1710, fo. 62.
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greater tin deliveries from other areas as a result of the price rises
accorded in 1714 and 1718.12 For a short time after 1719 Dutch expecta-
tions were fulfilled. The dislocation in Johor during the wars with the
Burgis and Minangkabau made Riau a less attractive port and Melaka bene-
fitted by the resulting diversion of tin supplies, swelled by deliveries
from Bugis areas like Selangor.13 But with the return of more settled
times, and the inclusion of the Bugis in the new Johor which emerged
after 1722, trade in Riau flourished and that of Melaka correspondingly
dwindled. 14

Dutch hold on any part of the tin trade might have been totally
lost had it not been for a gradual change in Batavia's attitude and a
consequent modification in policy. The eighteenth century saw a con=-
siderable increase in the demand for tin and a parallel rise in value.
The market in India was well-established, and tin was being generally
used as a substitute for bullion there as well as ballast on ships bound
for Europe, where it could be sold for a good profi(:.]'5 Now it had be-
come even more important because of the expanding China trade., The voc,
like other European trading companies, was beginning to realise the po-

tentiality of commercial relations with China, especially with the grow-

11. Alexander Hamilton, A New Account of the East Indies (Edinburgh,

1727), 11, 44.

12. Lewis, "The Tin Trade," pp. 59-60.

13. Ibid., pp. 60-61.

14, Ibid., p. 62.

15. 1bid., pp. 55-56; Kristoff Glamann, Dutch-Asiatic Trade (The Hague,
1958), p. 25.
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ing European demand for tea. By the 1720's Europeans had come to re-
gard tea not as an "expensive--and much debated--drug" but as a '"popular
drink . . . the twin sister of coffee."16

The European market for tea was apparently insatiable, but tea
could be obtained only from China, and the Chinese showed a marked in-
difference to the products Europe could offer. Virtually the only items
which the Chinese would accept were spices and metals, notably silver and
tin.17 The latter was used in China in a variety of ways: to manufac-
ture cooking and domestic utensils, both for export and home use; to
make tutenague, a white metal similar to aluminum, which was then re-
exported and used throughout the east in the same way as pewter; for
tin foil, which was employed widely in religious ceremonies and also used
to line tea chests,1® Although China had tin deposits of its own, these
were insufficient to supply the heavy demand and at any rate Malayan tin
was preferred for the manufacture of tin foil, since it was more malle=

able and could be beaten finer.!9 Yet at a time when the ability to

16. Glamann, Dutch-Asiatic Trade, pp. 212-213.

17. Earl H. Pritchard, Anglo-Chinese Relations During the Seventeenth and
Eighteenth Centuries (New York, 1970), p. 123; E. C. G. Molsbergen,

De Nederlandsch Oost Indische Compagnie in de Achttiende Eeuw in
F. W. Stapel, ed., Geschiendenis van Nederlandsch Indie (Amsterdam,

1939), IV, 139,

18. Sophia Raffles, Memoir of the Life of Thomas Raffles, p. 44; C. N.
Parkinson, Trade in the Eastern Seas (London, 1966), p. 338; E. S.
Hedges, Tin in Social and Economic History (London, 1964), pp. 94-95.
Ernest Watson, The Principal Articles of Chinese Commerce (Shanghai,

1930), p. 284. In religious ceremonies beaten tin was pasted on
paper cards and then burnt.

19. Hedges, Tin in Social and Economic History, p. 94; Parkinson, Trade
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ensure a steady flow of tin to China guaranteed large returns, the VOC
was unable even to meet the demand in The Netherlands. By the 1730's,
therefore, Batavia was willing to approve several price rises in order
to strengthen the Company's position in the trade.zO

In response to Batavia's orders, Melaka not only offered higher
prices but made deliberate efforts to court merchants. They were cleared
through formalities quickly, treated fairly, and paid promptly in the
currency they requested, rather than in that which best suited the Com-
pany's finances. These measures, however, had little effect, and in
1743 the Governor of Melaka, Roger de Laver, bemoaned his lack of suc-
cess. '"Notwithstanding the fact that we have used our utmost power to
encourage the tin trade and thus be in a position to satisfy the demands
of the Fatherland and of India, our expectations were not answered."
From November 1741 until February 1743 he had been able to obtain only
31,887 1bs. and did not expect to see any improvement.21

According to de Laver, the reason for Melaka's lack of success
was basically the intense competition from other buyers. The Indian
traders from Surat and Coromandel did not come directly to Melaka with

their goods, but sailed first to Aceh, Kedah and Perak, as well as other

19. (cont'd.)

in the Eastern Seas, pp. 355-356. 1In 1951 a German visitor to Kedah
noted that Malay tin "is reckoned better than English tin, at least

the Chinese think so." Peter Osbeck, A Vovage to China and the East
(London, 1771), 1I, 220.

20. Lewis, The Tin Trade," p. 62.
21. Ibid., p. 63; KA 2462 OB 1744, 2nd register de Laver to Batavia,

12 Feb, 1743, foll. 50-52; KA 2542 OB 1746, Extract, Heeren XVII to
Batavia, 3 sept, 1743, foll. 38-39,
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tin areas, glutting them with cloth and buying up the tin supplies.
Their domination of the trade in Perak was also due to the fact that they
were willing to purchase large numbers of elephants, Perak's other im-
portant producc.22 The demand for tin in China had encouraged other
Europeans beside the Dutch to seek increased deliveries. The Portu-
guese from Macao, for example, sailed yearly to Goa, Malabar and Coro-
mandel, and would call at places like Perak on the outward trip. They
left money or goods there on credit, and picked up the tin on their re-
turn journey.z3 De Laver complained most bitterly about the incursions
of the English, who had made great inroads on Dutch profits with their
"eontinued trade in the tin quarters" and their willingness to deliver
goods and accept payment many months later.24

The English threat to the Dutch position had become more serious
in the first decades of the eighteenth century, though they had previous-
ly shown little interest in the peninsula ports, except for a short-
lived factory in Kedah.25 Now independent "country" traders were plying
the route from India to China in ever-growing numbers, carrying cloth
and opium and returning with chinaware, silks, velvets and other products
of the east. At the beginning of the eighteenth century they rarely

visited Perak and Selangor, and traded their goods at ports in Kedah,

22. KA 2462 OB 1744, 2nd Reg. de Laver to Batavia, 12 Feb. 1743, fo. 73.
23, Ibid., foll. 52-53.

24, Ibid., foll. 51-52; KA 2275 OB 1738, Report by Achermans to de Laver,
12 Nov. 1737, fo. 271.

25, D. G. E, Hall, A History of Southeast Asia (London, 1968), p. 489,




Ujung Salang, Aceh and other areas in Sumatra.26 The temporary lowering
of Melaka's tin prices in 1723 on Batavia's orders meant that the English
became even more welcome as Eustomera. During this period, Melaka's tin
sales fell markedly and, as an observer pointed out some years later,
English traders were given the opportunity to move into areas tradition-
ally regarded by Melaka as a VOC preserve.?’ In 1737, for example, when
a Dutch official arrived in Linggi to buy tin, he found that an English
ship had been there two weeks before and had bought up all available
supplies,28 By the 1740's English country traders were well established
in Selangor, and the influence they wielded suggests their numbers were
much larger than official figures indicate.2? Their boldness infuriated
the Dutch and made them an object of Company hostility, but there was no
way in which the English could be dislodged.
The problem of foreign competition, continued de Laver, was ex-
acerbated by the growing unsafety of the Straits, where piracy was now a
matter of real concern. Even those Malays willing to sell tin to the
Dutch were reluctant to undertake the voyage to Melaka and thus risk the
loss not only of their goods, but of "liberty and sometimes life." People
EET—B:_ET_E;;;Ett, "British Commercial and Strategic Interest in the
Malay Peninsula during the late Eighteenth Century," in Malayan and
Indonesian Studies, eds., J. Bastin and R. Roolvink (Oxford, 1964) ,
p. 122,

27. Lewis, "The Tin Trade," p. 62; Nolthenius, "Copie Project."

28. KA 2275 0B 1738, Achermans' Report, 12 Nov. 1737 fo. 268.

29

Bassett, "British Commercial and Strategic Interest," p. 123 and
D. K. Bassett, "The British Country Trader and Sea Captain in the
Seventeenth and Eighteenth Centuries," Journal of the Historical
Socie Univ. of Malaya, I, 2 (1961), 13. These give only those
cases cited in official records.
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from Rembau, for instance, were now coming overland with their tin. By
the same token, the Governor found it almost impossible to persuade
Melaka residents to embark on the dangerous journey via sea to the tin
areas.30

By the end of 1743, when the directors of the VOC, the Heeren
XVII, wrote to Batavia, they made clear their anxiety at Melaka's fail-
ure to stimulate a greater tin delivery. They pointed out that "the
Company could not be without tin" at this point, especially in China,31
The situation was especially critical because the VOC had lost access
to Siamese tin. In 1740, after some years of indecision, Batavia had
finally decided to close the comptoir in Siam when it became obvious
that the King would not renew the VOC crenty.32 Although Bangka tin was
available to the Dutch through a contract made with the Sultan of Palem-
bang in 1722, the supplies were not sufficient to fulfil the Company's
needs,33
Amsterdam's obvious concern struck a quick response from the
newly-appointed Governor-General of Batavia, Baron Gustaaf van Imhoff.
He proceeded to introduce a number of measures aimed at stimulating the
Company's economic position, especially in regard to acquisition of tin
30. };A; §:62 OB 1744, 2nd Reg. de Laver to Batavia, 12 Feb. 1743, foll.

31. KA 2542 OB 1746, Extract from Missive, Heeren XVII to Batavia,
3 Sept. 1743, foll, 40-42,

32, Realia Register op de General Resolution van het Casteel Batavia,
1635-1805 (The Hague, 1886), I1I, 204.

33. Heeres, Corpus Diplomaticum, IV, BKI, 93 (1938), 539; KA 2542 OB
1746, Extract, Heeren XVII to Batavia, 3 Sept. 1743, fo. 42.
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supplies.34 Governor Wilhelm Albinus of Melaka was ordered to send a
commissioner to Kedah to investigate the extent of the cloth trade there,
and stop at Perak and Selang;r en route to buy tin.35 The results of
this expedition whetted Dutch appetites, and when it became apparent that
existing contracts with Johor, Naning and Rembau would not satisfy the
rising demand for tin, van Imhoff decided to strike out in new direc-
t:j.ons.a6
In November 1745, van Imhoff wrote to Albinus with more instruc-
tions aimed specifically at stimulating the delivery of tin. A further
commission was to be sent to the tin producing states on the peninsula
and the VOC fort on Pangkor Island was to be rebuilt in order to pro-
text shipping and facilitate Company trade in the area. A garrison would
be set up there "with 25 to 30 Europeans and as many natives ., . . under
a suitable head,"37 Accordingly, in the following month, the Melaka
Council decided to send a representative, Ary Verbrugge, to the tin areas
of Perak, Selangor, Kelang and Linggi in order to establish the amount of
tin each place could deliver per annum, As a preliminary to further
m Tin Trade," p. 63; see also F, W, Stapel, Gouverneurs-
Generaal van Nederlansch Indie in Beeld en Woord (The Hague, 1941),
P. 59 and van Imhoff's own monumental work, "Consideratiens over den
tegenwoordig staat van de Nederlandsche Oostindische Maatschappij,"
ed., J. E. Heeres, BRI, 66 (1912), 441-621,
35. KA 2522 OB 1745, Melaka Ministers to Batavia, 6 March 1744, fo., 287.
36

Realia, II, 181, It is unfortunate that Claas de Wind's Day Regis~-
ter, included in the papers sent to Batavia, is no longer in exist-
ence. See KA 2542 OB 1746, Register of Papers, fo. 8; Melaka's notes
on Missive from Heeren XVII, 26 Feb, 1745, foll, 37-40.

37. KA 902, van Imhoff to Albinue, 20 Nov. 1745, fo. 752; Realia, I1I, 181,
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negotiations concerning the tin, Verbrugge was also entrusted with let-
ters and gifts "for the King and Laksamana of Perak, and the heads of

Selangor and l(elang.":"8

At the same time that Melaka was moving slowly towards a strength=-
ening of its relations with the tin producing states, Sultan Muzafar of
Perak was himself seeking an ally, not so much as a buyer for his tim but
as a buttress against the Bugis of Selangor.39 Although the latter had
been established in the Selangor-Linggi area since 1701, their attention
during the first years of the eighteenth century was absorbed by faction-
al fighting and Perak was apparently left in peace. The first reference
to a Bugis attack on Perak in Dutch sources occurs in Governor de Laver's
missive of December 1749. The previous May, a large number of Malay
perahu had sailed past Melaka, and, when challenged, those aboard said
that they were subject to a certain Encik Unuk, who had various "claims"
in Perak which the ruler had refused to honour. No hint is given of the
nature of these claims, but Encik Unuk was obviously resentful of Sultan
Muzafar's attitude and had organised an armed force, hoping to force
Perak's compliance. When this was unsuccessful, he decided to send an
envoy to Riau to ask for assistance.bo

The implications of this report are made apparent by an examina-

tion of Encik Unuk's genealogy. He was, in fact, none other than the

38. KA 2567 OB 1747, Melaka Resolutions, 14 Dec. 1745, fo. 327.

39, For a description of the Bugis in the Selangor-Linggi area, see
Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp. 258, 269-271 and passim.

40. KA 2360 OB 1740, de Laver to Batavia, 30 Dec. 1739, foll. 71-72,
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son of Daeng Marewa, the first Yamtuan Muda of Riau, who had died in
1727, and was thus the nephew of Daeng Cellak, the present occupant of
the Yamtuan Muda office,%l Accatding to the Silsilah Melayu dan Bugis,
Encik Unuk had settled in Selangor and the chronicler remarks that "his
name was famous."2 He was thus a man of some standing and, with his
connections in Riau, had no difficulty in gaining assistance against
Perak. In the following November Melaka noted a fleet of ships sailing
northwards, which the Governor assumed would be used to carry out a
compaign on behalf of Encik Unuk.43 Nothing more is recorded until June,
1740, when news was received that Daeng Cellak had sailed to Perak to
investigate the murder of his nephew, Encik Unuk, who had died there by
poisoning. While in Perak, the Yamtuan Muda seized four perahu as well

as two hundred bahara of tin.%%

This laconic report in the Company records gives no further de=
tails and conveys little idea of the importance of the attacks of 1739
and 1740 in Perak history. 1f the murder of Encik Unuk was the result
of a Perak conspiracy, as seems probable, it was apparently undertaken
without regard to the possible consequences. The ruler of Perak, Sultan
Muzafar, had now discovered what it meant to arouse Bugis anger. As the

sequel will show, the Bugis had made their presence felt in Perak,

41, Raja Ali, Tuhfat al Nafis, p. 22,

—==- 4’ 7alils

42. Silsilah Melayu dan Bugis (Johor Bahru, 1956), p. 56.

43. KA 2360 OB 1740, de Laver to Batavia, 30 Dee. 1739, fo, 72.

44. KA 2394 OB 1741, 2nd Reg. de Laver to Batavia, 27 Dec. 1740 (Resolu-
tions, 14 June 1740), fo. 100.
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Selangor could no longer be dismissed as a community of outsiders whose
existence had little relevance for its neighbours to the north. They
had shown that, given cause, they could call on their powerful friends
in Riau to bring down retribution. Something of the shock of this dis-
covery breaks through the conventional language of the Silsilah Raja-

Raja Perak.
About this time, by the will of God, the country was
thrown into confusion and tumult was caused among the
people by the invasion of a Bugis named Kelana [a com-
mon honorific for Bugis chiefs]. This, however, by
the help of God and the blessing and intercession of
the Prophet, came to nothing and the enemy departed.

The potential threat to Perak's security represented by the Bugis
presence was demonstrated more forcibly in 1743 when Daeng Cellak, after
ousting a rival Bugis chief, Daeng Matekko, temporarily settled in
Sel.m'xgm-."‘6 In a short time disputes again developed between him and

Sultan Muzafar which, though ignored in Dutch sources, receive extensive

treatment in Perak and Bugis texts. According to the Tuhfat al-Nafis,

after Daeng Cellak arrived in Selangor, quarrels broke out because of a
"lack of understanding and disagreements in purpose." The ruler of Perak
refused to comply with the demands of Daeng Cellak and prepared his
country's defences, constructing a number of kubu along the banks of the
river. Daeng Cellak was angry and attacked Perak with a fleet of well-

armed ships. '"Whenever they found a kubu, the Bugis took it, and they

e
Z5. Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak (Maxwell 105, R.A.S.), fo. 34A, lines 9-10.

46. Raja Ali, Tuhfat al Nafis, p. 95; KA 2522 OB 1744, de Laver's Re-
port on Melaka to Albinus, 27 Dec. 1743, fo. 84; KA 2462 OB 1743,
2nd Reg. de Laver to Batavia, 12 Feb. 1743, fo. 100.
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overcame two or three kubu a day. . . . Some Bugis assisted by coming

overland to attack the kubu, and Perak was defeated."7 The text goes

on to say that the Yamtuan Muda took up residence in Perak, making new
arrangements concerning the raja and orang besar there, according to an
agreement reached between him and the head of Selangor, Daeng Cellak
also took two Perak women as his gundik, but shortly afterwards returned
to Riau because of a summons from Sultan Sulaiman. When the Yamtuan Muda
informed the Johor ruler of what had happened in Perak, "His Majesty was
very pleased with his younger brother and happy to see that he had re-
turned safely,"48

The glorification of the Bugis role and the part played by Daeng
Cellak obscures what was for Perak a time not only of invasion from with-
out but of civil war within., The Bugis did not find Perak Malays united
behind their ruler; instead, many orang besar welcomed their arrival and
used the situation to turn against Sultan Muzafar. The results of this

are described at length in the Silsiah Raja-Raja Perak:

There came another Bugis invasion under Daeng Cellak.
All the orang besar were at enmity with each other, so
that there was more confusion and commotion in the
country and it was impossible to tell friends from foes.
Even the regalia was endangered, and as for the Yang di
Pertuan [Sultan Muzafar Syah], his condition was in~
describable, not so much on account of the fighting as
on account of the lack on unanimity, everyone working
against everyone else.

At last some of the orang besar joined the Bugis,
and destruction was near at hand, for the Bugis took
possession of the regalia as a result of the quarrels

47. Raja Ali, Tuhfat al Nafis, pp. 95-96.

48. Ibid., p. 96.
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between the orang besar of the country. Then the
patuk Bendahara and the orang besar made the Raja
Muda [Sultan Muhammad Syah, Sultan Muzafar's brother]
Sultan. And the ruler did not know what to think be-
cause of the confusion resu 1ting from the conduct of
the orang besar which had led to the loss of the re-
galia., The installation of the Raja Muda with the
nubat was performed by the orang besar and hulubalang
of Perak, and by the will of God, the reign of Sultan
Muzafar ceased and his brother the Raja Muda became

raja and was installed by the orang besar under the
title of Sultan Muhammad Syah.

Another Malay text, the Misa Melayu, speaks of this period as one
of complete confusion (huru-hara). Sultan Muzafar moved upstream to
Kuala Kangsar, while his brother stayed downstream at Pualu Tiga. Raja
Iskandar, Sultan Muhammad's son, became Raja Muda and managed all af-
fairs of government for his father, being followed loyally by all the
anak raja, the officials and people. Sultan Muhammad ruled the area

from the kuala to Pacat, and from his new capital at Kuala Kangsar,

50

Sultan Muzafar ruled over the ulu district.
The perception of events as given in these three sources varies,
and it is significant that in the Perak texts there is no reference to
any alliance between the royal family itself and the Bugis invaders. Yet
despite varying emphases, the texts clearly show that a radical change
had taken place in the government of Perak, a change in which the Bugis
participated. The Misa Melayu continues by describing the reconciliation
between the two royal brothers and the consequent reunification of the

country under Sultan Muzafar, who moved his capital downstream once

%9, Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, foll. 34A-34,
50. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 22-23.
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more, 91 It was at this point, in early 1746, that Ary Verbrugge arrived

in Perak as commissioner to the tin states.

Although the country ~"“ once more at peace, Verbrugge found that
the atmosphere was one of hostility and tension. The Captain of the
Indians in Perak, a confidant of Sultan Muzafar, came to Verbrugge in
secret as an envoy from the old ruler. He told the Melaka representative
that a prince named Raja Iskandar, a nephew of Sultan Muzafar, had allied
with the Bugis of Selangor. Hoping to wrest the throne from his uncle
and gain control of the tin trade, he had promised the Bugis leader,

Daeng Cellak, fifty bahara of tin a year for his assistance.52 Years

later, it was also learnt that Daeng Cellak had adopted Raja Iskandar as
his son as a token of the new relationship between them.>3 Sultan Muza-
far, unable to defend himself against this combined attack, had retreated
to the mountains where he governed only "a small negeri where elephants
roam,"54 But contrary to Raja Iskandar's expectations, Sultan Muzafar
was not prepared simply to resign his throne, and he used his strategic
position in the ulu to good purpose. He was able to forestall Raja
Iskandar's plan of controlling tin deliveries by blocking routes leading

downstream and thus Preventing any tin from reaching Kuala Perak,55

51, Ibid., pp. 24-26.

52. KA 2567 OB 1747, Gov. Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746, foll, 411~
41235 KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia (Resolutions, 30 March 1746),
foll. 209, 296.

53. KA 3104 OB 1768, King of Perak to King of Selangor, rec'd at Melaka,
28 Oct. 1766.

54. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug, 1746, fo. 413.

55, 1bid.
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Faced with economic collapse, Raja Iskandar was compelled to ask his
uncle's forgiveness. At first Sultan Muzafar had continued to live up-
stream but, though he was distrustful of his nephew, he was forced to
maintain the appearance of friendship. The Bugis threat was still
present and he needed Raja Iskandar's support to resist any further Bugis
demands. Daeng Cellak had been won over to the new situation with the
gift of a hundred bahara of tim, but he still insisted on being paid the

fifty bahara Raja Iskandar had previously promised in return for Bugis

asaisthnm:e.s6 As a result of the modus vivendi between Sultan Muzafar
and Raja Iskandar, the Bugis had finally withdrawn. Although Sultan
Muzafar remained suspicious of his nephew, he hoped that the new rela-
tionship between them would provide some insurance against any further
Bugis-supported uprising. Perak was in desperate need of peace, for the
country had been torn and ravaged by the protracted battle of the pre-
ceding years.57
In his secret meeting with Verbrugge, the Indian Captain also ex-
plained that the old ruler was anxious about the future for other
reasons. He could not forgive Raja Iskandar's former alliance with the
Bugis and though his nephew held the position of Raja Muda, Sultan Muza-
far did not wish him to succeed to the throne. Instead, he had decided
to follow a precedent established in the previous century. The succes-

sion would pass through his only child, a daughter, and her husband would

$6. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 3 March 1747, foll. 296-297.
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then rule, Her husband would be no ordinary anak raja, but "Sultan Cabo,
son of Siak's Radja Ketjil."58

Although the latter remains a somewhat shadowy figure, he was
well known at the time, The Misa Melayu describes him as "Sultan Berka=
bat, the son of Raja Kecil, the Minangkabau raja" and, according to a
Siak history, "the famous Sultan Berkabat" was born in Kedah, where his
father had assisted one of the contenders to the throne and had taken
several wives.’9 One of these, a Dutch governor noted, was the daughter
of the Kedah ruler himself, and she was presumably Sultan Berkabat's
mother, who was no gundik, but a "lawful wife" of Raja Kecil,60 By Malay
standards, Sultan Berkabat would have been a worthy successor to the
throne, and Sultan Muzafar may also have felt that his Minangkabau con-
nections would provide a counter to the growing Bugis threat in Selangor.
There were two major obstacles; Raja Budak Rasul was still young and
Sultan Muzafar knew that his own death was imminent. He would not be
able to ensure that his plans reached fruition and that his chosen heir
succeeded peacefully, For this he needed outside support, and the Indian
Captain told Verbrugge that the old ruler had decided to invite the Dutch
to build a lodge in Perak. The riches to which his daughter was entitled
could be placed there to keep them from Raja Iskandar and, in case he

58. Ibid., fo. 301; KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746,
fo. 413, See also Chapter I, pp. 32, 73.

59. Leiden Uni. Library, Cod. Or. 7304, fo, 443, lines 9-16; fo, 446,
line 6; Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 27.

60. KA 2592 OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report in Resolutions of 9 Dec. 1746,
fo. 302; KA 1872 OB 1724, 3rd Reg. van Suchtelen to Batavia, 27. Jan.
1723, fo. 7.
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himself should die, Sultan Muzafar asked that the Company arrange his
daughter's marriage to Sultan Berkabat. The latter would then rule over
Perak and would deliver all its tin to the voc, 61

There were other reasons behind his appeal to the Dutch. Perak's
economy had been hard hit in recent years, and this was especially ap-
parent in the elephant trade. Indians were no longer anxious to come to
Perak because of English hostility. In an attempt to gain control of the
tin, the English had tried all possible means to hinder Indian trade and
had even incited the Selangorese to murder the crew of an Indian ship.
Hoping to capitalise on the declining number of Indian merchants in
Perak, the English had offered 20,000 reals for the tin monopoly but had
refused to have anything to do with the elephant trade. They had also
specified that their rivals in the cloth market, the Indians, must pay
in cash, not linen, if they bought the animals. Sultan Muzafar's re-
fusal of this offer was prompted not only by the unattractive conditions,
but also by his desire to gain the favour of the Indians, whose cloth in
any case was cheaper than that sold by the English.62

The Bugis of Selangor had seized this opportunity to press their
claim and since then most of the tin had been taken to Selangor. The re-
mainder was transported to Kedah, where Portuguese and Chinese merchants
were prepared to pay up to forty reals the bahara. This did not solve
the problem of the elephant trade, however, and the Indian Captain told
1. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746, fo. 413; KA 2592

OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 3 March 1737, fo. 30l.

62. KA 2592 OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 9 Dec. 1747, foll. 297-298.
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Verbrugge that about two years later, Sultan Muzafar had himself ap=
proached the English in Selangor. This time the English showed no eager-
ness to accept the offer of the Perak tin monopoly. They said that they
were well-treated in Selangor, where there was less smuggling and credit
was repaid. Trading was faster and easier and, if anyone failed to de-
liver promised tin, payment was less difficult to enforce than in Perak,
where the people could retreat to the mountains. Besides, the English
argued, they did not have sufficient strength to control the traffic in
cloth, which in Perak was carried out not only by Indians but by people
from Kedah, Patani, Selangor and Makasmar.63

In his present circumstances, therefore, Sultan Muzafar had no
alternative apart from the Dutch, and Verbrugge's arrival in Perak was
most opportune. At a time when the VOC was seeking new sources of tin
supplies, Sultan Muzafar was convinced that an alliance with a European
power was the only solution for the problems facing his government. He
was to find, however, that, while disposal of his tin presented no prob-
lems, the Dutch were not at all anxious to become involved in the ele-
phant trade, for their experiences in this regard had not been happy.
In the previous century the sale of elephants in India and Ceylon had
been a source of considerable profit for those willing to import them,
and traditionally this had been almost as great a lure to the merchants
of Bengal and Coromandel as Perak's tin. The Malay elephant, differing
in build from that of India, was said to be "of a race highly esteemed

and thought to be not inferior to the boasted breed of Siam itself,"64

63. Ibid., foll. 298-300.
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In the seventeenth century Thomas Bowrey noted that an elephant of 5%
cubits (about eight feet) bought in Kedah for two hundred Spanish reals
could be sold in India for three (:huuam:n‘.l.65 Initially the Dutch were
attracted by this seemingly lucrative traffic, and in 1641 Govermor van
Twist of Melaka wrote to Batavia of his hopes for Company participation
in a trade which, like that in tin, "brought great profits . . . in Ben-
gal and Coromandel."86 A preliminary expedition sent to India a few
years later, however, failed completely. The eight elephants captured
in the Melaka area could not be sold in India, and the Dutch accused
Indian traders of scheming against them. Further efforts were equally
unsuccessful, for the animals fell ill, refused to eat or "died of sor-
row" when in captivity. Eventually, though the VOC remained active in
the elephant trade in Bengal and Ceylon, they withdrew from any efforts
in the Malay peninsuln.67 Although Indians were forbidden to buy tin in
W, History of the Indian Archipelago (Edinburgh, 1820),
s .

65. Thomas Bowrey, A Geographical Account of the Countries around the Bay
of Bengal, 1669-1679, ed., Sir Richard Temple, Hakluyt Society Second

Series XII (Cambridge Univ. Press, 1903), 273. Elephants were also
highly valued in Java. In the seventeenth century the Siamese organ-
ised elephant trapping in north-east Malaya and exported the animals
to Java. J. H. Burkhill, A Dictionary of the Economic Products of
the Malay Peninsula (London, 1935), p. 908.

66. Tiele and Heeres, Bouwstoffen, II, 36.

67. Dagh Register 1641-1642, pp. 81, 156; Dagh Register 1643-1644, pp.
75, 128; Tiele and Heeres, Bouwstoffen, 111, p. 233; Coolhaas, Gen-
erale Missiven, 1I, 241, See also G. Irwin, "The Dutch and the Tin
Trade of Malaya in the Seventeenth Century," in Studies in the Social

History of China and Southeast Asia, eds., J. Ch'en and Nicholas
Tarling (Cambridge Univ. Press, 1970), p. 275 and S. Arasaratnam,

Dutch Power in Ceylon, 1658-1687 (Amsterdam, 1958), p. 152,



123

Perak, after 1677 the Company finally agreed to allow them to purchase
elephants there, on condition they paid ten per cent of the value of
those exported in tolls.68

Since 1700, the Dutch had been even less inclined to become in-
volved in the purchase of elephants, especially as the disintegration of
the Moghul Empire and the disturbances in north and central India meant
that there were fewer rich buyers.69 Despite this decline, Perak rulers
continued to draw a large part of their income from the sale of ele-
phants, which were a royal monopoly, and Sultan Muzafar was naturally
anxious to persuade the VOC to buy these as well as his tin.70 Even if
the Dutch did not agree, however, he appeared willing to conclude a
treaty. With this message Verbrugge returned to Melaka, and on March 27,
1746, presented his report.’l Governor Albinus summed up the position
in a letter to Governor-General van Imhoff: “From every point of view,
the king's aim seems to be the obtaining of protection against the Bugis
of Selangor by the building of a fort and a new alliance."’2 He was con-
vinced that circumstances favoured the conclusion of a contract and, if
this opportunity were ignored, either the Bugis, under their new leader,
meport of Governor Bort," p. 145; Coolhaas, Generale Mig-

siven II1, 174,

69. S. Arasaratnam, "Dutch Commercial Policy in Ceylon and Its Effects

on the Indo-Ceylon Trade (1690-1750)," The Indian Social and Eco-
nomic Review, 1V (1967), 120, 123,

70. KA 2592 OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 7 Dec, 1746, fo. 305,
71. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746, fo. 412.

72. Ibid., fo. 414.
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Daeng Kemboja, or the English would seize their chance to gain control
of the tin trade.’3

In the following May, thefefore, Ary Verbrugge was sent back to
Perak to "prepare matters" and to assure Sultan Muzafar that the Company
was not only willing to sign a treaty but, in order to protect him
against the Bugis threat, had already decided to re-establish a garrison
on Pangkor Island.’% Although the matter of the elephant trade was as
yet unsolved, and there was some conflict over the terms, Sultan Muzafar's
fear of the Bugis pressured him into accepting the Company's conditions.
News of these negotiations travelled quickly and, predictably, Selangor
traders resented the imminent loss of a lucrative market, Even during
the preliminary meetings there were rumours of an assault on the Dutch,
and on July 1 the Laksamana informed Ary Verbrugge and the commander of
the garrison that Daeng Kemboja, the leader of the Selangor Bugis,
planned to attack the newly-established post on Pangkor Island.’
Melaka, fearing that the Raja Muda, Raja Iskandar, was in league with
the Bugis at first contemplated abandoning the projected residency in
Perak, but the Governor's fears were allayed by a letter from Raja Is-
kandar professing his friendship.76 At the same time, Sultan Muzafar,

seeing these Bugis preparations as a further threat to his own security,

73. 1bid., fo. 415,
74. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 29 May 1746, fo. 401.

75. KA 2592 OB 1748, Resolutionms, 29 April 1746, fo. 2265 KA 2567 OB 1747,
Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug, 1746, fo. 421.

76. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746, foll, 417-420.
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was more than anxious to obtain an alliance, despite the fact that the
Company was not willing to meet him on every point. On July 25, during
a further trip to Perak, Verbrugge concluded a new treaty with the Perak
court,

By this treaty the Dutch were given possession of the island
called Tanjung Putus, about thirty miles from Kuala Perak, together with
the tract of land on the opposite bank. The strategic advantages of this
site are indicated by the fact that Sultan Muzafar had already built a
kubu not far away, and the Laksamana, who supervised all river traffic,
maintained his residence nearby. Tanjung Putus was thus an ideal spot
to control tin deliveries and guarantee the monopoly which had been ac-
corded in the treaty terms. The VOC would buy all tin at 26 ducatoons

the bahara of 375 Ibs., as well as paying two reals toll to Sultan Muza-~

far on each bahara it exported.

All ships leaving Perak must first anchor
/

at the Company lodge to be inspected, as a safeguard against smuggling,

and, if any tin should be discovered, half would go to the Company and

half to Sultan Muzafar,’’

Although the treaty of 1746 was expanded several times, it can be
regarded as the prototype for those which were to follow during the rest
of the century., In itself, it marks a turning point in Perak's dealings
with the outside world. No ruler had entered into such relations with

any state for over fifty years, but this treaty was also the first signed
by an independent Perak ruler for over a century, and probably the first

in Perak's entire history. For most of the seventeenth century Perak had

77. Ibid., foll, 416-417; for the complete treaty, see Appendix E.
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been regarded as an Acehnese vassal and negotiations concerned with the
tin trade had always been made via the court of Aceh. 1In 1650, for ex-
ample, the preamble to the treaty reads, "Contract and agreement between
the dominion of Perak, dependent on the high court of Aceh, on the one
side and the United Netherlands Chartered East Indies Company on the
other side." It was concluded in Perak between the Governor-General's
envoys "and His Majesty Yang di Pertuan, Sultan in Perak and his closest
councillors, in the presence of the Acehnese envoys named below."’® Even
in 1670, when Aceh's power was waning, an English captain who came to
Perak was told "unless we had the Queen of Acheen's order [the ruler]
durst not trade with us, he and all the rest that lived there being her
slaves."79 The conclusion of the 1746 treaty, on the other hand, was
clearly an agreement between equals, namely 'the King of Pera, named
Sultan Malpasa Johan Berdollat Peer Allam" and the Dutch East India Com=
pany.80 It was thus a public demonstration of Perak's autonomy.

This new relationship between the VOC and Perak had no precedent
in Perak's history. The treaty to which Sultan Muzafar and Raja Iskandar

agreed in 1746, like those which were to follow, appears a straightfor-

ward statement of a commercial arr . Yet the ion between

78. Heeres, Corpus Diplomaticum, BKI, 57 (1907), 538-541.

79. Surat Factory Records G36/105, George Davis and John Portman's let-
ter, 16 Nov. 1670, fo. 108, See also L. W, Alders, International
Rechtspraak Tussen Indonesische Rijken en di tot 1700 (Nij-
megen, 1955), p. 46. There was a so-called "acte" in 1680, but this
was not a treaty as such, but merely a letter authorising the Dutch
to inspect ships. Heeres, Corpus Diplomaticum, BKI, 91 (1934), 217-
219.

80. See Appendix E.



Perak and the Company was never as simple as the treaty terms would imply
and many of the problems which later arose can be traced to differing
interpretations of the nature and purpose of their alliance. As Albinus
pointed out in 1746, Sultan Muzafar had concluded the treaty with the
Dutch not primarily for economic gain, but to provide Perak with a strong
friend and ally. The Misa Melayu speaks of the Company as coming "to
guard Kuala Perak,"81 and the view of the Dutch as the guardians of
Perak's security is reiterated throughout the course of the century, For
over a hundred years Malays had seen the Company at war throughout the
Indonesian archipelago, in the Spice Islands, Makassar and Java, but they
had learnt that Dutch military strength was not used indiscriminantly.
Even though the Governors-General at Batavia were usually more aggressive
than the Heeren XVII, they were not willing to be drawn into local con=
flicts until Dutch interests were directly threatened. It was the hope
of arousing Dutch concern sufficiently to obtain an alliance and thus
gain the support of VOC strength which had led Sultan Muzafar to seek a
treaty. This, he felt, would guarantee him against outside invasion and
shore up his position against the challenge presented by Raja Iskandar,
The treaty of 1746 was for him a personal triumph, but he and his suc-
cessors were to find that the Dutch definition of a "true, upright and
indissoluble friendship" was much narrower than that of the Malays,
Difficulties also arose because of the ambiguous Dutch attitude
towards the Perak alliance. In theory, the Company had no political in-

terests in Perak and its presence there was merely to facilitate "the

81. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 29.



128

collection of tin."82 1In 1777 Melaka specifically stated that ""the Com=
pany does not possess the kingdom [of Perak], but only has a post at the
mouth of the rlver."ar’ Individual governors, however, often defined
their duties of protecting VOC trading interests in Perak very broadly.
On a number of occasions they attempted to impose upon the court their
own interpretation of the treaty terms or the position of the ruler, at-
tempts which generally met strong resistance. Another sensitive matter
was the Dutch role in Perak's relations with other states, for Melaka
governors consistently sought to woo Perak away from any involvement,
especially with the Bugis, which they felt might threaten the Dutch posi-
tion there, Perak rulers found that Melaka's "advice" on non-commercial
affairs was often heavy-handed to the point of being menacing, especial-
ly as the century progressed and Dutch fear of the Bugis grew greater.
Despite these varying interpretations, there is no evidence that Sultan
Muzafar or the Melaka Governor saw Perak as anything other than a sover=
eign state. Even in 1765, after the Company had been in Perak for two
decades, Governor Schippers urged strongly that a new resident should
seek to dissipate the idea then current in the court that the Dutch were
trying to dominate the government, "It is well known how obsessive these
people are concerning that poinc."el’

The adat or custom regarding the conclusion of a treaty was clear-
mnse, Boelen's Report on Melaka to Schippers, 25 Jan.

1765, fo. 10.

83. KA 3392 OB 1778, Melaka Secret Resolutions, &4 Sept. 1777, fo. 25,

84. KA 3075 OB 1767, Schippers' Instructions to Cramer, 26 Sept. 1765.



129

ly demonstrated in 1746, Then, as in later years, the Company took the
initiative in the drafting of the contract, and an envoy was sent to
the Perak court with an outline of the proposed agreement, 85 This was
discussed in the Assembly and was accepted only if the chief and anak
raja, or at least those most senior, gave their appmval.85 It was then
written out in Dutch and Malay with any necessary modifications added,
Only on one occasion, in 1759, did a ruler draw up a separate clause for
discussion, but this was rejected by the Governor,87 After the new con-
tract had been copied out satisfactorily, the seals were applied, that
of the Company in red and of the Perak ruler in black,88 Provided the
mdtowicz, An Introduction to the History of the Law of Na-
Lons in the East Indics (Octord, 1967); p. 163 mirer treLaw of Na
usually had the advantage in the drafting of a treaty. An exception
to this general rule in Perak occurred in 1752 when the Resident and

Sultan Muzafar concluded an agreement in Malay which was then sent to
Melaka and translated there. See below, pp, 187-188.

See below, pp. 187-188, also Dagh Register 1641-1642, p, 83, when the

ruler of Perak said he must discuss any treaty with his orang kaya
before he made an agreement with the voc,

86

87. On this occasion, Sultan Iskandar's scribe came to the envoy request-
ing that a separate article be inserted in the contract, providing
for the recall and replacement of a resident who was found to, be un~
satisfactory by the court, Although the Dutch were never anxious to
retain an unpopular resident, they refused this request on the grounds
that it was simply a pretext to gain greater control over the Com-
pany employees. KA 2885 0B 1761, Visboom's Report, 9 July 1759,

88, The custom of using a black seal was regarded by the Siamese as
uniquely Malay, In 1829 the Chau Pya of Ligor wrote to the Governor
of Penang:
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Assembly had already given its assent, this seal was sufficient to ratify
the treaty. The presence of the principal nobles was usually mentioned
in the conclusion of the text, and this was considered evidence enough of
their ngteemen:.sg Four copies were made, two in Malay and two in Dutch,
and a duplicate set was exchanged by each signatory. These documents
were accorded great honour in traditional Malay society, and in the fol-
lowing reign it was recorded that Sultan Iskandar himself took possession
of all treaties, refusing to allow them out of his hands.%0 His brother,
Sultan Mahmud, had a similar attitude towards the tangible representation
of the alliance, that is, his copy of the treaty. He constantly referred
to it as "an inheritance," as something which he had received in trust
from his predecessots.gl The document itself symbolised the relatiomship
between Perak and Melaka and as long as each party held its copy, the
treaty remained 1ntacc.92

88, (cont'd.)

SSR F5, Letters from Native Rulers, Chau Pya of Ligor to Gov. of
Penang, n.d., fo, 170.

89, The treaties made in the eighteenth century bore only one seal, that
of the ruler, In 1818 the Laksamana informed a British envoy that
the ruler's seal was sufficient. SSR G34/67 Cracroft to Clubley, 3
Aug, 1818 (FCCP 5 Sept. 1818), fo. 35. During the course of the
nineteenth century it became common for the Raja Muda and Raja Benda-
hara to affix their seals as well.

90. KA 2885 OB 1761, Visboom's Report, 9 July 1759.

91, KA 3075 OB 1767, King of Perak to Schippers, 4 Nov. 1765; KA 3252 OB
1773, King of Perak to Schippers, rec'd. at Melaka 18 June 1771; KA
3278 OB 1774, King of Perak to Schippers, rec'd. at Melaka, 21 Aug
1772,

92, KA 3306 OB 1775, Hensel to Schippers, 12 Feb., 1773,
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The negotiations and successful conclusion of the treaty in 1746
showed that although it was a small, weak state, Perak could conduct its
diplomatic relations with the same aplomb and according to the same
standards that had characterised the courts of Melaka, Aceh and Johor,93
Each time the treaty was renewed, Perak reaffirmed its ability to deal
with the Europeans in terms of time-honoured Malay tradition, The man-
ner in which diplomacy was carried out was thus of absorbing interest
to the Perak court, Custom was always strictly observed, for the slight-
est deviation from accepted practice could not only cause great insult,
but would openly display a ruler's ill-breeding.

This concern is best illustrated in the approach to the letters
exchanged between the Company authorities and the Perak court, since
among the Malays letter-writing was regarded as the basis on which diplo=~
macy rested, Perak rulers made full use of the system to submit com=
plaints or requests to the Governor, and it was also an important medium
for maintaining relations with other states. As the major expression of
both the ambitions and resentments of successive rulers, these letters
remain a fundamental source for providing some insight into the way Perak
rulers saw themselves in relation to the outside world.

The art of letter-writing was called ilmu terasul, and the con-
ventions which governed it were set forth in various treaties or kitab

terasul,% as one traveller noted the following century:

93. For descriptions of the reception of foreign envoys, see Brown "Malay
Annals," pp. 89, 54-56; Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, pp., 92-94; Lom-
bard, Le Sultanat d'Atjeh, pp. 139-144,

94. Raffles 79 in the R.A.S. provides an example of such a work, foll,
46, 49,
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The Malays . . . have a most rigid epistolary eti=
quette and set forms for letter-writing., Letters must
consist of six parts and are so highly elaborate that
the scribes who indite them are almost looked upon as
litterateurs. There is an etiquette of envelopes and
wafers, the number and colour of which vary with the
relative positions of the correspondents, and any error
in these details is regarded as an insult.

In 1778, for example, Raja Ali of Riau sent a letter to Sultan Alauddin
of Perak (1773-1792), asking him to discharge a cargo, but because it was
not folded, "in a kingly way,' Sultan Alauddin was angry. Only the argu-
ments of the other raja kept him from sending the ship auay.gs An incor-
rectly placed seal on a letter was regarded as a studied imsult, and,
when this was done by the Dutch Governor in 1765, the resident of Perak

reported that he had 'work enough to dissipate all the suspicion and

imagined evil" that this error had caused.?’

The language in which a letter was couched and the manner in which

95, Isabella Bird, The Golden Chersonese and the Way Thither (Oxford Re~
print, 1967), p. 25; Wilkinson, Malay English Dictionary, II, 1139,
gives only four parts: the address (selamat surat), the contents
(isi surat), the heading (kepala surat) and the preamble (puji-puiji
surat),

96. KA 3446 OB 1780, Hensel to de Bruijn, 16 March 1778. As Munshi Ab-
dullah noted, a letter should be folded "in the proper way" (lipat
seperti ada-nya). A, H. Hill, ed., Hikayat Abdullah (Oxford, 1970),
p. 187.

Munshi Abdullah noted that a torn letter sent to Raffles by the
ruler of Siam was a deliberate slight, Ibid., p. 184,

Abdullah's son, Ibrahim, also criticised the disorganisation and
dirtiness of a letter sent to an English representative by Raja Ab-
dullah of Perak in 1873, Kisah Pelayaran Muhammad Ibrahim Munshi,
ed., Muhammad Syed bin Haji Sulaiman (Johor, 1956), p. 68.

97. KA 3075 OB 1767, Wiederbolt to Schippers, 20 Aug, 1765. The seal of
the writer was normally in the middle of the page on one side of the
text. In 1666 a ruler or Jambi, writing to the Sultan of Johor,
placed his seal at the top of the page, this indicating that he was
superior. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor, p. 87.
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it was received were also of great importance. Letters themselves were
accorded almost the same respect as that given to the person who had
dictated them, Umbrellas wére held over them as they were brought in
Procession to the recipient, and they were carried on a salver covered
with a cloth of the royal colours, yellow or white. This was because the
letter was regarded as a representative of the sender, and in the words
of one Perak ruler, "I felt as if I spoke with my friend himself, whose
words are as sweet as honey and as cool as the dew that falls in the
morning, refreshing all the flowers in the field, the colour of which is
as pleasing as saffron, words that have the power to make the contract
more binding."98 When a reply was sent to any letter, assurances were
always made that the contents had been pleasing and that the letter it-
self had been received with all due honour. "I received my friend's
letter and derived a great deal of pleasure from it;"99 "y write to tell
my friend that I have received the letter and have brought it in with
all possible hcmour;"100 "I opened the seal and unfolded the envelope
and the letters glittered like morning stars."10l 14 1709 Sultan Muham-
mad Syah had expressed his doubts that a letter received from Melaka
could indeed be from the Governor "since it was contrary to custom,

handed over to us in an unsuitable fashion.'"102

_—
98. KA 3252 OB 1773, King of Perak to Schippers, rec'd. 18 June 1771.

99. SSR G34/67, Raja of Perak to Gov. of Penang, 27 Aug, 1816 (Fcep
7 Nov. 1816).

100. KA 2885 0B 1761, King of Perak to Boelen, 10 July 1759,

101. SSR F5, Letters from Native Rulers, Sultan Abdullah to Gov. of
Penang, 15 Nov. 1826, fo. 28,
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1t was also essential that the contents of the letter be phrased

in a fitting manner, for failure to follow the dictates of convention

would be regarded as a gross insult. The Tuhfat al Nafis, for example,
records that when a Dutch admiral sent a letter to the ruler of Tereng-
ganu in 1784, its contents were so shocking and ill-phrased that it was
torn up and its fragments thrown to the dogs, but even they would not
lick them.l103 A well-written letter should be pleasing to the ear when
read aloud, for "words used in the proper place make for euphony and
clarity; used in impossible places, they sound awkward, like a rice-
pounding rod used to draw out a thotn."ml’ Even a beautifully phrased
letter could, however, be spoilt by a bad reader, and in 1761, when Sultan
Iskandar was annoyed by the language used in a Dutch letter, the envoy

claimed this was due to either faulty construction or a bad reading.105

102. KA 1668 OB 1710, Sultan Muhammad Syah to Rooselaar, enclosed with
Rooselaar to van Hoorn, 16 April 1709, fo. 60. The Governor ex-
plained that the letter concerned was from private individuals, not
from the Company. KA 1668 OB 1710, Rooselaar to van Hoorn, 21 June
1709, fo. 225,

103, Raja Ali, Tuhfat al Nafis, p. 231, The Sejarah Melayu records how
a quarrel broke out between Haru and Pasai because when a letter from
Haru was read, the reader consistently substituted obeisance (sembah)
instead of greetings (salam), Brown, "Malay Amnals,' p. 120; R. O.
Winstedt, "The Malay Annals or Sejarah Melayu," JMBRAS, XVI, 3 (1938),
146.

104, Hill, Hikayat Abdullah, p. 105. In another work Abdullah complained
that with few exceptions, the letters of Malay rulers were badly con-
structed and poorly spelt, the letters wrongly joined and misplaced,
all of which he felt contributed to the loss of the beauty and force
in the Malay language. Kisah Pelayaran Abdullah, ed., Kassim Ahmad
(Kuala Lumpur, 1960), p. 37.

105. KA 2954 OB 1763, Cramer's Report, 12 June 1761; KA 3075 0B 1767,
Wiederholt to Schippers, 20 Aug. 1765.
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Correspondence between rulers, like other state administration,
was a public matter. Normally it was not possible for any communication
to be private, and this gave added importance to the terms employed,
since all letters were read out in front of the entire court assembly, 106
The arrival of a letter from Melaka became a great occasion, and people
would often come to court specifically to hear the contents,'07 A pri-
vate letter was in fact so rare that Malay texts find it worthy of com=-
ment. Sultan Muzafar despatched a letter to the Dutch Captain "but no
one knew the contents of 1t."108 yhen Admiral van Braam sent two letters
to Terengganu, "the smaller one was read under the umbrella, but the
longer letter was read by the Yang di Pertuan himself,"109 Any insult
in the letter was thus intensified because of the public nature of the
communication. When the Company addressed Sultan Iskandar's brother as
Datuk rather than Raja Bendahara, the Dutch envoy found it necessary to
give a full explanation and apology to the asaembly.uo Open criticism,
such as the public denunciation of the Sultan Muda in 1778, could cause

great offense because it was seen as deliberate humiliation, 111l

106. KA 2885 OB 1761, Meyer to Boelen, 7 Feb. 1759, oOn another occasion,

when an envoy wrote a private letter of complaint to each member of
the council, none of his grievances were answered in the reply,
which would, of course, have been public. KA 3166 OB 1770, Cramer's
Report, under 19 and 21 Sept. 1768.

107. KA 3803 OB 1791, Secret, Walbeehm to Couperus, 6 March 1791,

108. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 31,

109. Raja Ali, Tuhfat al Nafis, p. 231.

110. KA 2954 OB 1763, Cramer's Report, 12 June 1761,

111. KA 3446 OB 1780, Meyer to de Bruijn, 9 Dec. 1778.
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The role that letters and written documents played in Malay poli-
tics placed great importance on the position of court scribes and inter-
preters. While the Dutch representatives in Perak usually spoke Malay,
it was important to have an expert in language, a jurubahasa, to clarify
fine points and to translate documents. These middlemen supplied the
sinews of the diplomatic body, and were recognised as such by both Malays
and Europeans. The Misa Melayu records that Encik Tadung, the court
jurubahasa, was one of those entrusted with the delicate mission of buy-
ing cannon from an English trader.!12 An interpreter was also expected
to act as a scribe (jurutulis), translating and writing letters, and both
scribes and interpreters received the respect and prestige given by a
largely non-literate society towards those who were skilled in ilmu
tetasu1.113 They held a position of great trust, acting as the ruler's
confidant and mediator with the world beyond the court. Raja Culan tells
us that, under Sultan Iskandar, the scribe Sri Dewa Raja was greatly
trusted and also served as treasurer, and during a mission to the court
in 1761, Everard Cramer praised the scribe's honesty and sincetity.lu’
Knowing that their reputation depended on maintaining the ruler's confi-
dence, these men were careful never to jeopardise their standing. In
112, Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 106; KA 2885 OB 1761, Visboom's Day

Register, 9 July 1759; Meyer to Boelen, 3 Jan. 1760.

113. The Taj us Salatin, like many Islamic texts, devotes a chapter to
the power wielded by the pen. Taj us Salatin, ed., Khalid Hussain
(Kuala Lumpur, 1966), pp. 138-140, 141-145. Gullick, The Indigenous
Systems, p. 52, describes the position of such men in nineteenth
century Malay society.

114. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 165; KA 2954 OB 1763, Cramer's Report,
12 June, 1761.
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1776, when a new tin weight was introduced the scribe told Resident Hen-
sel that he would not dare to use it without the ruler's knowledge, as
the resident had suggested., 115 It was men of honour such as this who
were frequently bearers of messages so sensitive that they could not be
committed to paper, and by the same token it was through them that the
Dutch were able to gain a deeper understanding of court politics, 116

A disproportionate number were of Indian origin, for in Perak
there was a small but influential Indian community, mostly Moslem, who
had married local women, Raja Culan, for example, notes that "in Sayung
[near Kuala Kangsar] there was a woman, Siti Sara, the daughter of a
Keling man, Lebai Hanap. She married another Keling, Seri Raja Khan."117
A man sent to India on a royal mission had "one wife in Perak and another
in India,"118 The Indian community contributed to the entertainment dur-
ing court celebrations, and several attained prominent positions within
the court. According to Raja Culan, one of Sultan Iskandar's bravest
panglima was an orang Keling, and that the retinue of the Orang Kaya
Besar included a large number of people from Malabar, 119 Indians moved

easily into the court circle, for their skills were in high demand, 1In

115, KA 3387 OB 1778, Hensel to de Bruijn, 18 Jan. 1776.

116. For example, in 1766 the scribe warned the resident of possible re~
percussions against the fort if the Dutch tried to interfere in re-
lations between Perak and Selangor. KA 3104 OB 1768, Wiederholt to
Schippers, 3 Nov. 1766.

117. Raja Culan, Misa Mela u, p. 100,

118. Ibid., p. 78.

119. Ibid., pp. 86, 90, 131,
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1663 the ruler of Perak wrote to Melaka asking specifically that a
"Hindustan goldsmith" might be sent to Perak for two years to make "beau-
tiful things" for him, and almost a century later the Misa Melayu re-

cords that the Temenggong's perahu was carved most skilfully by a man

from Bengal. 120

It was, however, for their trading ability that the Indians were
most respected. Their reputation for acute business acumen was not un-
earned, especially in Perak, where Indians had always been valued cus-
tomers. Their skill in this regard was rewarded in Perak society by the
positions they attained, and the responsibilities given to them. Because
of their cosmopolitan experience, their ability to communicate with other
Indian traders in Perak, and their ties in centres like Melaka, they were
entirely suited to the position of royal merchant or saudagar raja, who

was in charge of the ruler's own trade, 121 gych men often exerted great

120. Dagh Register, 1663, p. 202; Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 132.

121. An Indian saudagar raja was common among Malay courts in the eight-
eenth century. In Aceh, a man from Malabar was succeeded by "a cer-
tain chuliah, Poh Saleh." Thomas Forrest, A Voyage from Calcutta
to the Mergui Archipelago (London, 1792), pp. 51, 56; Lee Kam Heng,
Acheh's Relations with the British, M,A. Thesis, Univ. of Malaya,
Kuala Lumpur, 1969, pp. 73-76; SFR G35/15 Desvoeux to du Pre, 15
April 1772 (FSGGP 25 Junme 1772); 9 April 1772 (FSGCP 15 June 1772).

In 1770 Light, arriving in Kedah, noted that the ruler's trad-
ing matters "were always handled by a Malabar." BM., Add. Ms. 29133,
Light to Hastings, 17 Jan. 1770, fo. 9. 1In 1786, when Light re~
turned to Kedah, he described the saudagar raja as a "deep, cunning
and villainous chooliar,' who had formerly been only a 'common
cooly." SSR G34/2 Light to Cornwallis, 12 Sept. 1786 (FWCP 13 Dec.
1786), fo. 166.

A "Moor servant" in Terengganu, Sultan Mansur Syah's saudagar
raja, also exerted a great deal of influence over political de-
cisions. KA 3802 Secret, Couperus to Alting, 10 Feb. 1789, fo. 202.

Compare these examples with the activities of similar figures
in southern India. S. Arasaratnam, "Aspects of the role and activ-



influence over the ruler and his nobles; an excellent example is seen in
the Indian called by the Dutch Sedelebe, who had played such a prominent
role in the seventeenth cenfury.lzz

Because the scribes, interpreters and the saudagar raja all dealt
with outsiders, especially in matters relating to trade, the three func-
tions were often filled by the same man. Again the Indians had an ad-
vantage, for certain groups among them made writing an occupation, The
reputation for "intelligence and language ability" that characterised the
Jawi Peranakan community over a hundred years later was also prevalent
in the eighteenth century.123  Munghi Abdullah notes the eagerness with
which Tamil traders in Melaka during his boyhood had encouraged their
children to study their mother tongue, because it was widely used in
trading circles,!24 He algo records that in early nineteenth century
Melaka there were only four or five letter writers, mostly Indian. They
were all "diligent in study . . . their word held high in councils.'125
This prestige could mean advancement for themselves and their families.
In Perak, during the reign of Sultan Alauddin, the scribe, an Indian

121. (cont'd.)
ities of South India merchants c. 1650-1750," Proceedings of the

First International Conference of Tamil Studies (Kuala Lumpur, 1966),
582-596.

PP-
122. See Chapter I, P. 8l. In 1747 Gov. Albinus sent the Perak saudagar

raja "a piece of red cloth" in return for his help. KA 2592 OB 1748,
Albinus to Orang Kaya Saudagar Raja in Perak, 29 July 1747, fo. 685.

123. William Roff, The Origins of Malay Nationalism (New Haven, 1967),

pp. 48-49,

124, Hill, Hikayat Abdullah, pp. 45-46.
125. Ibid., p. 52.
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entitled Megat Raja and his son were great favourites of the ruler, and
in 1787 Megat Raja was appointed I.aksamaml.lz6 On other occasions he
was sent as an ambassador to Kedah, to India with a cargo of elephants,
and, like others who held this post, functioned as a mediator between
the court and the Dutch resident. 127
Because of the influence of the Indian community in Perak, it is
not unexpected that "the Captain of the Moors" acted as Sultan Muzafar's
representative in the negotiations with Verbrugge. Envoys, too, were a
vital component in the diplomatic framework and, as Alexandrowiscz has
emphasised, they had long held an important place in Asian diplomacy.
"In principle, all envoys sent from sovereign to sovereign . . . enjoyed,
subject to certain exceptions, the customary privileges and immunities,
such as personal inviolability, immunity from jurisdiction, and freedom
from interference with their function.'128 No matter what relations
existed between the two states, their envoys were supposed to be accorded
the treatment due their position.129 Like the scribes, envoys were fre-
quently entrusted with more delicate information information than that
actually committed to paper, and it was their duty to clarify any point
which the ruler did not wish to be made public.
126, KA 3446 OB 1780, Meyer to de Bruijn, 9 Dec. 1778; KA 3704 OB 1789,
Diedenhover to de Bruijn, 15 Feb. 1787.

127. KA 3491 OB 1782, Meyer to de Bruijn, 17 April 1780; 20 March 1781;
KA 3594 OB 1786, Wilner to de Bruijn, 30 Jan. 1785.

128. Alexandrowiscz, The Law of Nations, p. 205.

129. Thus, when the ruler of Kedah detained two Perak envoys for five
months in 1816, it was considered a great outrage. SSR G34/67 Raja
to Perak to Gov. of Penang, 27 Aug. 1816 (FCCP 7 Nov. 1816).
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Because of the trust placed in them by the ruler, and because the
manner in which they presented a case could influence its outcome, en-
VOys were a corner-stone of interstate relations. Texts on statecraft
in the Malay world stress that such people must be of good appearance,
behave in a fitting manner, and speak well, 130 Envoys were given very
specific instructions and were not authorised to go beyond these, a prac-
tice which was frequently employed by Malay rulers to their own advant-
age.u1 Normally envoys acquitted themselves satisfactorily, being men
of some standing in the court, but there were cases in which the ruler's
wakil (representative) disgraced himself, 1In 1769, when an envoy to
Patani behaved badly, he knew that he had incurred Sultan Mahmud's anger
and hid for several months before he dared make an appearance. 132 To
cite another example, in 1776 Sri Rama Pahlawan, who had been entrusted
with previous missions, was sent to Melaka to enquire about a Perak
perahu captured in Siak, In Melaka, however, he fell into disgrace,

roaming around with other bad folk, fighting cocks" and gambling away

130. Khalid Hussain, Taj us Salatin, pp. 141-145,

131. Between 1687 and 1692, for example, Melaka received several missions
from the ruler of Perak, but the envoys were never authorised to
deal with "weighty matters," KA 1342 OB 1689, Slicher to Sri Sultan,
Magmut of Perak, 12 April 1689, fo, 368T; KA 1348 0B 1690, Meun to
Slicher, 23 Feb, 1689, fo. 260T; KA 1375 0B 1691, Slicher to Sri
Sultan Mahmoet, 27 July 1690, foll. 307"V; KA 1424 Melaka Day Reg-
ister, 10 Oct. 1692, foll, 48-49, 25 Oct, 1692, fo, 72,

By this means the Perak ruler was able to maintain friendly re-
lations with Melaka while avoiding dealing with a number of sensi-
tive issues such as his indebtedness to the Company. A similar
policy was followed by Sultan Mansur Syah of Terengganu a hundred
years later.

132. KA 3196 0B 1771, de Wind to Schippers, 15 Oct, 1769; KA 3226 0B
1772, de Wind to Schippers, 4 Jan. 1770,
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all his possessions. Governor Crans requested not only that Sri Rama
Pahlawan should be recalled, but that he should not be employed as mes-
senger again, since he was considered to be "unfit for the envoy of a
king."133 The penalties for inefficiency or failure were high; at best,
an envoy risked losing the ruler's favour, and at worst his life. In
1688 Sultan Muhammad said that an envoy who failed to carry out his task
effectively should be krissed.134 on the other hand, an envoy who per=-
formed his duties well should be praised. Of a Dutch commissioner,
Abraham Werndly, Sultan Mahmud wrote in 1768:

The fiscal Abraham Werndly has given me my friend's
greetings., My friend places much trust in him, there=-
fore 1 trust him also, because I found that his actions
were very good, his speech is very suitable, sweet as
honey and sugar. Because of this my heart was opened,
as when dew in the morning falls on all the flowers in
the fields to freshen them. Thus our friendship is in-
creased. . . .1

An examination of the activities of scribes, interpreters and en-
voys shows that most of them fulfilled a variety of duties for the

ruler. Though not possessing formal power, they could exert great in-

133, KA 3387 OB 1778, King of Perak to Crans, 19 Feb. 1776, 15 April
1776; Crans to King of Perak, 25 March 1776, 23 May 1776.

134, KA 1348 OB 1690, Meun to Slicher, 2 Nov, 1688, foll. 215F-216T,

135. KA 3166 OB 1770, King of Perak to Schippers, 18 Sept. 1768. Such
qualities continued to be valued, as seen in the Sultan of Perak's
comments on Frank Swettenham, made over a century later:
We are much obliged to our friend for the officer whom our
friend has chosen. He is very clever; he is also very clever
in the customs of Malay government and he is very clever at
gaining the hearts of Rajas with soft words, delicate and
sweet, so that all men rejoice in him as in the perfume of
an opened flower.

R. 0. Winstedt, A History of Malaya, JMBRAS, XITI, 1 (1935), 241.



fluence over his personal decisions because of the trust he placed in
them. The confidants of kings and princes, their favour too was courted.
It is noteworthy that in March 1746, when the Melaka Council was attempt-
ing to pave the way for negotiations regarding the Perak tin trade,
presents were sent not only to Sultan Muzafar, Raja Muda Iskandar, and
the Laksamana Nakhoda Pusmah, but to the ""Captain of the Moors."136 A1-
though the latter was not originally from Perak, he had gained a posi-
tion of responsibility within the court through his competency and
shrewdness. Able to maintain his standing with both the ruler and the
Dutch, this envoy, like many others, became a pipeline between the court
and the Company, the interpreters of one world to another.
This personal contact was of particular importance because of the
ease with which rumours spread, Malay courts had traditionally relied
on news brought by traders coming from neighbouring ports. One of the
duties of the Perak Syahbandar was to escort traders from other coun~
tries to the ruler so that they could personally "report on news from
other countries."!37 yhile this allowed for the acquisition of informa-
tion not included in letters or conveyed by envoys, the accounts re-
ceived from traders were often contradictory, distorted, or completely
136. KA 2592 OB 1748, Melaka Resolutions, 30 March 1746, fo, 223. On an-
other occasion, for example, Cramer presented the scribe with a sil-
ver box and a piece of linen. KA 2954 OB 1763, Cramer's Report, 12
June 1761.

137. Raja Kamaralzaman Papers, SP 9 no, 15, fo. 1l. This is also found
in a seventeenth century legal digest which was drawn up for use in
Perak, Pahang and Johor. The Syahbandar, among other duties, was

also required to "collect foreign news." J. E, Kempe and R. 0, Win-
stedt, "A Malay Legal Digest," JMBRAS, XXI, 1 (1948), 28.
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false. Yet in the rumour-ridden world of Malay courts, reports conveyed
through unofficial sources frequently offered the only explanation for
Dutch policy or the activities of other rulers. The very Malay word for
rumours, "wind-news' (khabar angin), conveys something of the way in
which whispers of conspiracy or attack swept through the archipelago.

The Dutch in Melaka themselves adopted the system of interviewing
those arriving from other areas in order to obtain intelligence, but the
Governor was forced to treat every report with suspicion until it was
verified by further information. His judgement was often crucial in in-
fluencing Batavia's attitude and thus determining the nature of Company
relations with Malay states. As Professor Boxer has pointed out, how=
ever, it was not easy for the VOC Directors to find capable individuals
to fill such high-ranking posts. Educated men found Company service un-
attractive because of the low pay, the hardship of the long voyage out
to the Indies and the dangers of life in a tropical country. In general,
only men from the middle and lower ranks of the burgher class sought em=
ployment with the VOC in an administrative capacity, and then only as a
last resort. The majority of those who came were lured by the prospect
of making a quick fortune through bypassing the Company ban on private
l:r:m'li.ng.138 The activities of the Melaka Governor Rogier de Laver (1736~
43), for example, became so scandalous that he was recalled and demoted, 139

On the other hand, there were some Governors who were not merely

138, Boxer, The Dutch Seaborne Empire, pp. 50-53, 201-205,

139, W. Wijnaendts van Resandt, De Gezaghebbers der Oocost Indische Com-
pagnie, op Hare Buiten Comptoiren in Azie (Amsterdam, 1944), p. 219.
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interested in making money., For those who demonstrated administrative
ability and relative honesty, promotion was rapid. David Boelen, Gov-
ernor of Melaka from 1758 to 1764, came to the Indies as a common seaman
but rose quickly through the ranks and ended his life as a member of the
prestigious Council of the Indies.l40 He was one of those who showed
some understanding of the nature of Malay diplomacy and it was during
the administration of men such as Boelen that relations with Malay rulers
were at their best,

One of the Governor's principal duties in relation to Perak was
the appointment of the resident. Once again, the calibre of people
available was not high. In the eighteenth century the VOC was increas-
ingly unable to attract sufficient men to the lower ranks of Company
service. While they may not have been "the dregs of the Dutch nation,"
the soldiers, sailors and clerks who came to the Indies were not usually
promising VOC representatives,l4l Some Perak residents had previously
been in the Company's civil service as scribes or accountants, but most
were soldiers, drawn from the VOC's ill-trained and corrupt army. As
one Dutch observer wrote in 1778:

The European soldiers . . . arrive as the Company
send them: they are given a bad coat and bad musket
and--lo, they are soldiers! The officers are no bet-
ter; it is almost degrading to be one of them and
they are completely excluded from good society, The

other day a halbardier of the general's escort was
drunk and fell off his horse. He was summoned before

—_—
140. Ibid., pp. 223-224.

141, Boxer, The Dutch Sea-Borne E: ire, pp. 55-83 gives a sympathetic
description of the lives of these men.
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the general who reprimanded him with the words: '"You
villain, if this happens again, I shall forthwith make
you a lieutenant" [a promotion]. How I thank God that

1 have Yz& accepted the brevet of captain of these noble
troops.

Despite the limited choice of men available, the VOC residents in
Perak general acquitted themselves satisfactorily, probably because they
were hand-picked by the Governor. The Dutch Company fully realised the
tenuousness of their position in Perak and the importance of the resi-
dent as an intermediary between Melaka and the Perak court. Repeatedly
Governors spoke of the need for a man "yell-versed in the customs of the

dating nature" who should be ap-

country and of a ding yet
pointed as Perak resident.u'a The favour of the people should be won
by "soft words and a friendly manner" so that they would trade with the
Company not from fear, but from preference.lu‘ The Dutch did not easily
forget their experiences with a hostile Perak in the previous century,
and, on occasions when a Company employee angered the ruler, he was im-

mediately recalled or punished; on others, his stay was extended when

he had met with approval from the court, 145

142. P. C. Hoynck van Papendracht, "Some old Private Letters from the
Cape, Batavia and Malacca," JMBRAS, I1I, 1 (1924), 13.

143. KA 2654 OB 1751, Albinus' Report on Melaka to van Heemskirk, 15
Feb. 1750, fo. 361.

144, KA 3104 OB 1768, Schippers' Instructions to de Wind, 18 Nov. 17663
KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 13 Oct, 1747; KA 2827 OB 1759,
Dekker to Meyer, 20 March 1758; KA 908, Mossel to van Heemskirk,

7 Nov. 1751, fo. 726.

145. J. Wiederholt was recalled in 1766 after two years and J. Flies-
holt was summoned before the Council in 1750 because he had annoyed
Sultan Mazafar. KA 3104 OB 1768, Schippers to Batavia, 31 Jan.
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The position of Perak resident was not always an enviable one,
however, and those who filled it did not always do so willingly, 146
Theoretically sent for three.yeara, they were often asked to remain
longer; Claas de Wind, for example, spent five years in Perak before his
final replacement in 1772147 The climate was hot, the wages low, the
work hard; the only break in the monotony came from the arrival of a Com- -
pany ship or an occasional visit to court,l48

The duties of the resident, the Governor's representative, were
varied. He was responsible for the general condition of the fort and
for the maintenance of discipline among the forty to sixty men under his
command. This demanded a person of strong character, for the garrison,
a mixed group of Europeans and Malays, was not always amenable and often
objected to carrying out the Governor's instructions. A letter from the
Governor to the Perak resident in 1791 gives some idea of the work ex~-
pected of the Company employees there:

Should it be necessary, the ditches around the fort

should be dug out by the garrison. All men, including

145. (cont'd.)
1767, fo. 14; KA 2654 OB 1751, van Heemskirk to Batavia, 6 Oct.
1750, fo. 399.
B. Meyer's stay was extended in 1759 because he had met with
the approval of the Raja Muda. KA 2858 0B 1760, Dekker and Boelen
to Batavia, 10 March, 1759.

146. When one Perak Resident, Johan Essche, requested a release from
Perak, complaining of "weakness of the eyes" the Governor-General,
in rejecting the request, specifically stated that it was not good
to change residents too often. Essche had been in Perak less than
a year. KA 2673 OB 1751, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 20 Feb, 1751,
fo. 42; KA 908, Mossel to van Heemskerk, fo., 729,

147. See Chapter VII, pp. 481-482,
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the native cannon assistants, should work together and
no one should be excused. If everyone goes [to work]

in the woods, then the Corporal and six militia should
remain on watch in the fort. A sentry should be posted
outside the fort door--the sickest people can be used for
this during the day but at night everyone must [share the
duty of] sentry, native assistants as well as Europeans.
In all, five sentries should be posted at night and if
there is no Company ship on hand, a Corporal and five
militia must be posted in a perahu or boat . . . om the
other side of the river to watch for smuggling. . . .

The men do not have to serve out their time in
Perak, but if they have served a year or more, they can
ask for their release to return to Melaka and serve out
their time there. . . .

In Perak the men do not have to be clothed like the
militia in Melaka and it is not possible to fit them out
properly because of the hard work they do every day. They
can manage with a jacket and underdrawers, since they always
work in mud, They must cut the long grass and small trees
around the fort twice a year, generally in June or July
and December or Ja“sry. The VOC will supply the tools
for all this work.

The severity of the climate, the monotony of the diet, the heavi-
ness of the work demanded not surprisingly resulted in drunkenness,
chronic illness, frequent death, and desertion.lso The garrison was com-
monly undermanned and in 1761 the Governor received a complaint that the
men had no time for anything except 'receiving, weighing, smelting, dig-

ging and delivery of tin,"151

148. Resandt, De Gezaghebbers, p. 17.
149. KA 3858, Secret, de Bruyn to Walbeehm, 31 Aug. 1791.

150. For example, between 15 Sept. and 17 Oct. 1758, three men died and
the Resident said he needed eleven or twelve replacements to man the
fort properly. KA 2827 OB 1759, Meyer to Dekker, 17 Oct. 1758. 1In
almost every letter the resident mentions the illness or desertion
of some members of the garrison.

151. KA 2954 OB 1763, Cramer's Report, 12 June 1761.
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Besides supervising the fort and its occupants, the Perak resident
was expected to act as the eyes and ears" of the Governor by keeping the
Melaka Council abreast of ev.ents not only in Perak but in surrounding
areas. Like the Malay Syahbandat,» the Dutch resident also gathered in-
formation from the crews of perahu which arrived in Perak from Riau,
Sumatra and other peninsular states, He was similarly expected to be
constantly attuned to any changes of attitudes towards the Dutch or
shifts of loyalty within the Perak court circle. This involved the cul=-
tivation of reliable informants and influential people in the Assembly,
An efficient resident could usually manage to obtain duplicates of in-
coming correspondence, since such letters were always read aloud at a
public gathering. It was more difficult to collect information about
letters sent by the Perak ruler to other states, but generally the resi-
dent could learn the nature of the contents and on rare occasions obtain
an actual copy, perhaps through an arrangement with the scribe, 52

The resident was also required to placate the court when the
Dutch had unwittingly given cause for insult. A seal misplaced, a title
ignored, presents forgotten, would lead to much speculation about Dutch
intentions, but could usually be explained in terms of Dutch misunder-
standing about Malay adat. In 1755, for example, Sultan Iskandar sent a
letter to Melaka covered with a white, rather than a yellow, cloth. The
Covernor was very suspicious, since he thought this was "contrary to the
mesident obtained the copy of a letter from the ruler of

Perak to the ruler of Selangor in 1766, the Melaka Council remarked

that they did not know how he had obtained it, Ka 3166, OB 1768
Melaka Resolutions, 5 Nov. 1766, fo. 287,
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custom of eastern kings," and was intended as an insult. While he agreed
to accept the letter, he ordered that no cannon shots be fired as it was
brought in "to stress our sensitivity over this [supposed insult] to the
king."153 In fact, the use of a white cloth was by no means unprece-
dented, and indeed, "white was more strictly a royal colour than yel-
low."15% The anak raja, were also permitted to use yellow umbrellas,
but only the ruler himself could use white, 153

The resident's ability to explain such incidents could have cru-
cial effects on the Dutch position in Perak, and for this reason the
governors always tried to send men of some discernment. Generally their
choices were successful, since all the residents without exception knew
Malay and had had some experience in the Malay world. Some, however,
were better-liked, building up closer ties within the court circle and
were therefore more adept at persuading the court to agree to changes in
VOC policy. But even they could not know everything. The Dutch fort at
Tanjung Putus was several miles downstream from the royal residence,
which meant that the Company's employees lived essentially outside the

mainstream of court life. They were also forbidden to take Malay wives,

153. Ka 2753 OB 1756, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 30 Spril 1755, fo. 183.
154. Brown, "Malay Annals," p. 54.

155. 1bid.; see also Adat Lembaga didalam Negeri Perak Darulridzwan
(Kuala Kangsar, 1936?), p. 12. In official Councils the ruler wore

white or light yellow. Teh Zakariah binte Jahidin, Bahasa Istana
di Negeri Perak, Academic Exercise, Univ. of Malaya, 1966, p. 10.

In 1721 the Melaka Governor noted that the head of Selangor,
Daeng Marewa, had sent him one letter in yellow cloth and another
in white. KA 1853 OB 1722, van Suchtelen to Batavia, 11 March 1721,
fo. 46.



151

and throughout these fifty years there is no record of any incident in-
volving Dutch men and Malay women. 156 Most of what they learned came
through informants, who sometimes misled them, either unknowingly or
deliberately. On several occasions the resident was totally unaware of
an important happening until long after the event.l57 Despite the
presence of the resident, the Dutch often found that the atmosphere in
the Perak court became so hostile that it was necessary to despatch a
personal emissary from the Governor himself in order to dispel suspicion,
Such missions were also an integral part of the diplomatic system, for
it was during these visits that vital information was gathered, and it
was then that the ruler could display his ability to deal with the VOC
in a dignified and fitting manner.

When a mission arrived in Perak, the Company envoy would usually
go first to the fort and inspect it.158 Here a formal ceremony of wel~
156. Such incidents could have disastrous results. For example, in

November 1772 a Dutchman coming from Kedah informed the Melaka Gov-
ernor that the English there had been forced to leave. One of the
reasons for their expulsion was Malay annoyance at the behaviour of
the English who "had lived familarly and wildly with the native
women, against the custom of that country." KA 3281 OB 1774, Schip~-
pers to Batavia, 9 Jan. 1773, fo. 192. A text from Siak ascribes
Sultan Muhammad's attack on the garrison at Pulau Contong in 1759 to

his anger at the way the Dutch treated Siak women. Cod. Or. 7304,
fo. 462, lines 3-4,

157. For example, the arrival of a Kedah prince about 1762 and the nature
of the agreement between Perak and Selangor in 1766. See Chapters V
and VI, pp. 391, 417.

158. This general discussion has been drawn from the reports of several
missions: KA 2885 OB 1761, J. J. Visboom's Report, 9 July 1759; KA
2954 OB 1763, E. Cramer's Report, 12 June 1761; KA 3075 OB 1767,
Cramer's Report, 4 Sept. 1765; KA 3166 OB 1770, A. Werndly's Report,
19 Sept. 1768; KA 3306 OB 1775, Werndly's Report, 22 Dec. 1773; KA
3704 OB 1787, E. Lucas' Report, 22 Dec, 1786.
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come was normally held, aimed at impressing the Malays. The Laksamana
and Syahbandar were informed of the envoy's arrival, and as soon as pos-
sible a message would be sent upstream to court. This message, and the
Dutch request for an audience, were sent through the medium of the scribe,
who continued to act as intermediary during the Dutch visit.lsg Pre-
liminary negotiations were frequently conducted between him and the en-
voy before the latter went to court so that the position of both sides
would be quite clear. It was during these preliminary interviews that
the envoy from Melaka familiarised himself with court politics and court
personalities. A special balai penghadapan would be prepared and, when
the ruler was ready to receive the envoy, word would be sent downstream.
The Dutch party, together with the Governor's letters and presents, were
accompanied upstream by the Laksamana and Syahbandar. The perahu which
carried them were decorated with pennants, flags and the royal emblem,
the umbrella, while other perahu transported musicians.

A temporary residence was assigned to the emissary and, when the
court was assembled, two or more notable personages were sent to escort
him to the balai. It was considered an insult if these officials were
not of a status commensurate with that of the envoy himself, and in 1759
Jan Visboom refused to be escorted by two minor officials. He sent a
T58. (cont'd.)

Although Verbrugge's Report from 1746 and Schippers from 1753

are missing, these are treated in the Misa Melayu, pp. 62-64, 106~
113.

159. In 1788 Lucas enquired as to the method he should use to obtain an
audience, and he was told that this had always been done through the
scribe. KA 3704 OB 1789, Lucas to Silvester, 12 June 1788.
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message to Sultan Iskandar informing him that, in order to avoid com-
Plaints to the Governor, he should be received according to custom. It

was not long before the Temenggong and Menteri appeared to accompany
him, 160

On arriving at the bali penghadapan, the envoy was ushered in and
seated, usually facing the Yang di Pertuan.l6] The anak raja sat on one
side, the orang besar on the other, and behind them were the court of-
ficials, placed according to rank. Greetings were exchanged and the
letters read out in order, corresponding to the status of the recipient.
These were then passed around to the principal anak raja and orang besar
for their perusal, again according to their rank in the court hierarchy.
Compliments were repeated and presents exchanged, for the success of a

mission could depend on whether they were considered satisfactory.wz It

160. KA 2885 Ob 1761, Visboom's Report, 9 July 1759. See also Brown,
"Malay Annals," p. 56 where the chronicler notes the court custom
that the status of the person to be received by the ruler determined
the rank of those who escorted him,

161. On his second mission in 1765, Cramer brought his own chair, pos-
sibly to give himself more dignity. KA 3075 0B 1767, Cramer's Re-
port, 4 Sept, 1765.

162. Alexandrowiscz, The Law of Nations, p. 208. There was a running
controversy within the VOC hierarchy about the value of presents, A
Governor like Jan Crans (1773-1777) delayed the despatch of a com-
mission to Perak so that suitable gifts could be purchased, and in
the same year, when requesting a lowering of the tin price, he re-
marked outright that the presents sent from Batavia (two pairs of
blunderbusses, two flintlocks and two pairs of pistols) were insuf-
ficient. "If one desires something of importance," he wrote, "it
is not only necessary to present gifts of an unusual kind to the
King and Young King, but also to the nobles, as this is not only
customary from olden times, but can also be disadvantageous or ad-
vantageous for the achievement of our aims." KA 3306 0B 1775,
Melaka Resolutions, 25 Oct. 1773, fo. 329; Crans to Hensel, 27 Sept.
1773. See also KA 2634 0B 1750, Albinus to Batavia, 3 March 1749,
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is relevant to note that the Malay word bingkisan refers specifically

to the gifts accompanying a letter. 1t was said of Sultan Iskandar that
he was very reluctant to grant any request unless presents were also
given, and Raja Culan relates how he refused to receive a letter brought
by Piro Muhammad, the VOC interpreter, because there were no bingkisan.163
On the other hand, an attractive and unusual gift could do much to gain
his favour, and the Misa Melayu records that he was delighted with the
rare and exotic gifts brought him by a trader from lndia.la‘ In 1759,
when Visboom presented him with a Japanese screen, Sultan Iskandar told
the envoy that he had never seen anything so beautiiu1.165 Cloth was
high valued, especially velvet in brilliant colours, while gold and sil-

ver thread, rosewater and spices were also acceptable, Each of the prin-

cipal court dignitaries received gifts in proportion to his rank,166 and

162. (cont'd.)

Some governors, on the other hand, felt that such expense was
unjustified. In 1754 Gov. Dekker expressed the view that although
the favour of the ruler's confidants should be courted, this should
be done without giving gifts, since this was likely to cause jeal-
ousy. KA 2731 OB 1755, Dekker to Batavia, 25 March 1754. In 1792,
when the VOC was in difficult financial straights, no mission was
sent to acknowledge the change of government in Perak, and the usual
presents were ''somewhat reduced." OIE 89, Couperus to Walbeehm,

5 Dec. 1792.

163. KA 2954 OB 1763, Cramer's Report, 12 June 1761; Raja Culan, Misa
Melayu, p. 61. The failure of the Company to send gifts to the Sul-
tan Muda after his appointment in 1773 was regarded as a breach of
court etiquette. KA 3359 OB 1777, Melaka resolutions, 4 Dec. 1775,
fo. 373; Crans to King of Perak, 7 Dec. 1775.

164. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 81.
165. KA 2885 OB 1761, Visboom's Report, 9 July 1759.

166. A typical list reads: For Sultan Iskandar, three ells of dark blue
velvet, two lbs. nutmeg, 1 lb. cinnamon; for the Raja Muda, three



apart from these official gifts, other tokens of Company esteem were
presented to influential people in private interviews.l67
Once begun, audiences were frequently adjourned until the follow-

ing day, although they were not granted during religious holidays or dur-
ing the fasting month (bulan gue;sal.)lf‘8 They were always public and,
when Cramer sought a private discussion with the ruler, Sultan Iskandar
refused, for this would be "against custom, and would only cause scandal
and angry objections."169 Because of the public nature of audiences,
some limitation was placed on the ruler's freedom to discuss matters.
Similarly, he would not make a public or written request unless he had
first made sure that it would be granted. Any refusal would mean great
personal shame, and it was in affairs such as this that the ruler leant
heavily on the services of his scribe. 170 yhen all the discussions and
166. (cont'd.)

ells dark blue velvet, 1 1b, nuts; for the Raja Bendahara, three

ells dark blue velvet; for the Orang Kaya Besar, three ells dark

blue velvet.

On one occasion when the list of gifts did not tally with those
delivered, the ruler, Sultan Mahmud, was most upset. Wiederholt,
the resident, attributed the omission to an error made in the latter
by the Company's translator. KA 3104 OB 1768, King of Perak to
Schippers, 18 Aug. 1766; Wiederholt to Schippers, 18 Oct. 1766.

167. For example, the gifts of linen given to the Temenggong and "tobacco
to a few penghulu" in 1760. KA 2885 OB 1761, Meyer to Beelen, 3
Jan. 1760.

168. KA 3306 OB 1775, Werndly's Report, 22 Dec. 1773; KA 2954 OB 1763,
Cramer's Report, 12 June 1761.

169. KA 2885 0B 1761, Visboom's Report, 9 July 1759; KA 2954 OB 1763,
Cramer's Report, 12 June 1761; KA 3166 OB 1770, Werndly's Report,
19 Sept. 1768. This general rule was not absolutely invariable, for
in 1768 Werndly, to his surprise, was able to obtain a private inter-
view with the Raja Muda. KA 3166 OB 1770, Werndly's Report, 19 Sept.
1768 (under dates 11 and 12 Sept.).
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arrangements were finally concluded, the envoy took his departure, again
in great state. If a treaty was to be drawn up, the scribe usually came
to the envoy's residence on the evening of the same day or the next morn-
ing to prepare the text and deliver the return letters and presents for
the Governor of Melnka.”1
The lengthy descriptions of Dutch missions to Perak in the Misa
Melayu suggest the prestige a court acquired by entertaining the repre-
sentatives of the Raja of Melaka, and Raja Culan takes care to assure his
audience that they "were welcomed according to 1@."172 With the sign-
ing of the treaty in 1746, a new relationship was established between the
VOC and the Perak court which was upheld and supported by the diplomatic
ceremony that Malays held dear. The Dutch showed that they were willing
to deal with Perak within the framework of an already established idiom.
Court hierarchy was strictly observed in such matters as the phrasing of
letters, the value of presents, and the cannon fired when the ruler or
his nobles visited the fort. The ruler, for example, received eleven

cannon shots, the Raja Muda nine, and the Orang Kaya Besar only five.173

SN o o=
170. KA 2885 OB 1761, Meyer to Boelen, 7 Feb. 1759.

171. These presents were usually tin, but sometimes more unusual items.
In 1749 Sultan Iskandar sent two books and three cocks. KA 2654
0B 1751, letter from Paduka Sri Sultan Camar Chah to Fliesholt, en-
closed in missive Albinus to Batavia, 15 Feb. 1750, fo. 149. The
following year Sultan Muzafar sent "519 1bs. of tin and a male
slave." KA 2673 OB 1752, Resolutions, 29 June 1750, fo. 228.

172. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 106.

173. KA 3446 OB 1780, Meyer to de Bruijn, 9 Dec, 1779; KA 3474 OB 1781,
Meyer to de Bruijn, 4 Sept. 1779. Governor Dekker, who had been
concerned about unnecessary expenditure on gifts, was also annoyed
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When envoys brought a letter to Melaka from the new ruler of Perak in
1765, it was received with great pomp. The envoys bore the letters from
Sultan Mahmud and his nobles into the Council Room on a silver salvar
covered with a yellow damask cloth. As they walked in, three musket and
thirteen cannon shots were fired from the bulwarks of the fort. The en-
voys were then seated on the Governor's left hand on "three suitable

chairs," and the letters were read.

A few unimportant remarks were then exchanged, after
which the envoys stood up and were conducted bz Licen-
cemaster Cramer to the steps of the lmlt:tmy.l7

On the morning of their departure, the envoys were once more received by

the Melaka Council, "the same ceremonial being observed as when they

came."175

173. (cont'd.)

with Meyer in 1758, when he felt that the resident had been ex-

cessively enthusiastic in the welcome he had given to the royal

party. The total supply of gunpowder in the fort had been ex-

pended, and Meyer had been forced to buy up two hundred 1bs, of

locally produced gunpower.
We have nothing against your honouring the king and prin-
cipal nobles with a few marks of respect when they come
downstream in the future; on the contrary, we specifical-
ly want this, so that by courteous and friendly treatment
we can incline the hearts of the Perakese more and more
towards the Company, but showing your respect to this ex-
tent is going too far, and is reckless, because the Perak-
ese are fully conscious of your request [ for gunpowder] and
with similar behaviour a second time, you might find your=-
self without any means of defence . . . one must mistrust
the natives in every respect.

KA 2827 OB 1759, Dekker to Meyer, 20 March 1758.

174. KA 3075 OB 1767, Melaka Resolutions, 30 Aug. 1765, fo. 233.
175. KA 3075 0B 1767, Melaka Resolutions, 12 Sept. 1765, fo. 254. Normal-

ly letters from the ruler were simply enclosed with those of the
resident, and naturally on these occasions there was no ceremony.
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The treaty signed in 1746 was seen by the Malays not as a passing
flirtation with a minor princeling, but as a grand alliance with the most
important European power in the area. Centuries before, Malay overlords
had looked to China with hopes of beneficial x'esulcs,176 and Sultan Muza-
far approached the VOC with the same expectations. He was fortunate in
that his advances to the Dutch came at a time when the normal policy of
non-interference had been somewhat modified under van Imhoff's adminis-
tration. Melaka was encouraged to take a more active part in the poli-
tics of the area, since van Imhoff did not stress neutrality as much as
his predecessors had done.177 As a result of the policies of Governor
Albinus and his successors, the Dutch were drawn "more closely into the
web of political rivalry in the Straits."l78 The treaty signed with
Sultan Muzafar in 1746 was done so on the understanding that the Dutch
would ensure the succession of Sultan Berkabat and oppose the claims of
the Bugis~-backed Raja Iskandar. This alliance, and the tangible evi-
dence of Company support represented by the fort on Pangkor Island made
Sultan Muzafar a formidable opponent.

For a time it appeared as if Raja Iskandar and his Bugis allies
had been outmanoeuvred, and indeed, had it not been for a fortuitous
175. (cont'd.)

One notes merely the terse statement "Three Malay letters were read.
." KA 2592 OB 1748, Melaka Resolutions, 30 March 1746, fo. 208.

176. Wolters, The Fall of Srivijava, pp. 37, .57,
177. Lewis, The Dutch East India Company, pp- 175, 181.
178. Ibid., p. 190.
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event, the course of Perak history might well have been quite different.
Raja Iskandar could well have disappeared into oblivion and have been
remembered as simply one of a number of anak raja whose attempts to chal-
lenge the status quo were short-lived and unsuccessful. In October 1746,
two months after the signing of the treaty, Verbrugge returned to Melaka
unexpectedly to report that the old ruler's plans for the future had been
completely undermined. His daughter's betrothed, Sultan Berkabat, the
Prince selected to rule Perak after Sultan Muzafar's death had murdered
an Indian trader in Larut.l79 A¢ 5 time when Sultan Muzafar was doing
everything in his power to encourage Indians to come to Perak, this ac-
tion was inexcusable, since it could well mean a real setback for the
elephant trade. Without any equivocation, Sultan Muzafar broke off the
betrothal and sent back the tanda pinang, the betrothal gifts,180
As a result, the succession once more lay open. There were two

possible choices for heir, both Sultan Muzafar's nephews. On the one
side was Raja Iskandar, whom Sultan Muzafar disliked and on the other,
Raja 'Alim, son of Sultan Muzafar's sister and a Kedah raja., According
to the Misa Melayu, the latter had been a favourite with Sultan Muzafar
in the court at Kuala Kangsar, and the rivalry between him and Raja
Iskandar was strong.lal Both men, noted Albinus, had equal claims to
T79. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 9 Nov. 1746, fo. 450; KA 2592

OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 7 Dec. 1746, foll, 302-303.
180. Sultan Berkabat had given a gold-plated pending (an embossed plate

of metal worn by a bride and bridegroom at weddings) and also a

gold-mounted keris. Sultan Muzafar also demanded the return of the

money and tin he had given Sultan Berkabat. KA 2592 OB 1748, Ver-
brugge's Report, 7 Dec. 1746, fo. 301.
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the l’.htt:me,182 but Raja Iskandar had already succeeded in banishing his
cousin from the court and had already been named Raja Muda. His great-
est advantage lay in the potential support he could command among the
Selangor Bugis.183 Sultan Mazafar, old and sick, knew his end was near,
and was only too aware of the factiomalism and even civil war which could
arise if a ruler died with the succession uncertain. It was essential
that Sultan Berkabat's place be filled. Raja Iskandar, seeing his uncle's
predicament, did not hesitate to capitalise on his position, and a bar-
gain was struck between the old ruler and his Raja Muda. Raja Iskandar
would marry Raja Budak Rasul and be proclaimed as heir to the Perak
throne; in return, he agreed to ensure that the Bugis left hilir Perak
so that the elephant trade with the Indians could be carried out in
peace.lsl‘

1746, therefore, is a crucial year in Raja Iskandar's career. It
is unfortunate that the available Dutch sources are not only incomplete
but are in many places vague and confused, often raising more questions

than they answer."85 This is not really surprising, for Verbrugge had

181. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 29-30.

182, KA 2654 OB 1751, Albinus' Report on Melaka to van Heemskerk, 15 Feb.
1750, fo. 359.

183. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 30; KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia,
18 Aug. 1746, fo. 419.

184. KA 2592 OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 7 Dec. 1746, foll, 301-302;
KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to van Imhoff, 9 Nov. 1746, fo. 450-451.

185. The Register of Papers sent to Batavia in 1746-7 to Batavia gives
some idea of the gaps in the present collection in The Hague. KA
2567 OB 1747, Register of Papers.
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found himself thrust into the midst of an extremely complex situation,
the details of which he did not fully understand. This confusion is re-
flected in the missives sent to Melaka from Batavia, and even four years
later, Governor Albinus was still uncertain about the internal relation-
ships within the Perak royal fam:lly.186 Yet it is clear that by the end
of 1746, Raja Iskandar had consolidated his position. He had been
promised the daughter of Sultan Muzafar in marriage and had been desig=
nated heir to the throne, a step only rarely taken in Malay states.187
He appeared so totally in control of affairs that the Dutch began to re-
fer to him as "the King of Perak, Raja Aschandhaer."188 pjg reconcili-
ation with Sultan Muzafar had transformed him into the heir to the throne,
future son-in-law to the ruler, to whom the court should give unquestion-
ing loyalty. Some members of Sultan Muzafar's following who had gone
upstream with him to Kuala Kangsar found this volte face impossible, and
the Misa Melayu hints at drastic changes in the composition of the court.
All those who refused to reconcile themselves to the new regime under the
domination of the Raja Muda were dismissed. Among these individuals were
such notable figures as the Orang Empat Besar, including the Bendahara
who was descended from the royal house of Kedah and who would therefore
have had connections with the Minangkabau and Sultan Berkabat, 189 The
m 1751, Albinus' Report to van Heemskerk, 15 Feb. 1750,
foll. 358-359.

187. Although the Raja Muda was normally elected as successor, the actual
choice was not usually made until after the ruler's death.

188. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 6 Nov. 1746, fo. 440,

189, Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 23, 26; see below, p. 119,
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Bendahara, Orang Kaya Besar, Temenggong and Menteri were all replaced by
new uppointees.lgo Dutch sources reinforce the view of a court dominated
by "this Bugis-inclined prince," who had gradually won the entire assembly
over to his side, with the exception of the Bendahara, who had in conse-
quence been dismissed.l91

In his new position, Raja Iskandar assumed a more prominent role
in relations with the Dutch, directing many administrative matters on be-
half of his ailing uncle. As a result, Perak policy towards the VOC
underwent a marked change. This change was so pronounced that in Decem-
ber 1746, Verbrugge reported that there now appeared to be little like=
1ihood of holding the court to the recently concluded r.reaty.192 Raja
1skandar's hostility towards the Dutch had been openly expressed on a
number of occasions. At one point he declared that the entire contract

would be cancelled unless Verbrugge credit the ruler with the delivery

of one hundred bahara of tin, although the Dutch claimed only seventy had

been bought.193 On another occasion, Raja Iskandar argued that the Com=-
pany itself should pay for the transportation of tin from the ulu down
to the VOC pos:.lgh Even more than his uncle he pressed for the continu~

ation of Indian trade, and when Verbrugge asked if he intended to answer

190. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 26.

191. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746, fo. 419; KA 2592
OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 9 Jan. 1747, fo. 10; 3 March 1747, fo.
302.

192. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 9 lan. 1747, foll, 9-10.

193. KA 2592 OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 7 Dec. 1746, fo. 302.

194. Ibid., foll. 304, 307.
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the Governor's letter, the Raja Muda gave a "proud answer . . . saying
that this was not necessary."195 Little tin was being delivered, and in
Verbrugge's opinion, Raja Isiumdar had adopted this policy of obstruc-
tionism in a delibe‘rate effort to discourage the Dutch from building the
proposed fort on Tanjung Putus.196

Raja Iskandar's conviction that the VOC treaty was a mistake was
shared by a considerable number of prominent people within Perak, First-
ly, the contract had brought about a drastic change in a well-established
trading pattern. Although perahu from the neighbouring areas--Riau,
Selangor, Kedah, and the east coast of Sumatra--continued to come to
Perak, the Dutch monopoly of tin meant that there had been a marked de-
cline in the number of foreign traders. After July 1746, '"legal trade"
(that is, trade dealing in goods approved by the VOC) was limited to

opium, cloth, small goods and household necessities,!97 Much of this

195. Ibid., fo. 304.
196. 1bid., fo. 305-306.

197. A typical example of the goods sold and bought by the people of
Perak (apart from tin) is seen in the cargo of a Nakhoda Assan, who
arrived in Melaka on June 2, 1774 in a pencalang (trading ship).

His crew consisted of sixteen men, and his brought 3% koyan unhusked
rice, 300 ganting of husked rice, 600 bundles of rattans, 1100
pieces of cane. He left on the 10 July with 3 koyan of salt, 4
pikul of powdered sugar, 5 pikul of gambier, 3 pieces of cloth,

13 pieces of Chinese cloth, two iron cannon, 10 parang and 1% pikul
of Javanese tobacco. KA 3335 OB 1776, Incoming and departing ships,
1774, under dates 2 June and 10 July.,

Another example of the kind of local transactions made by Perak
traders is seen in a trading trip made by the nephew of the Laksa-
mana in 1793. He left for Penang in a perahu with five men, carry-
ing a cargo of betelnut and salted fish, which he sold in Penang.
With the money thus obtained, he bought sugar cane in Kuala Muda,
which was re-sold in Penang. The Nakhoda then bought a cargo of
pots and jars in Kedah, with which he returned home. SSR G34/6
FWCP 1 Aug. 1794 (Court case, 21 Jan. 1794).
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was now paid for in cash, since the Dutch monopoly removed the article
of barter which was most in demand. In the words of Raja Culan, "After
this, people could no longer take tin out of the river for export, but
all was given to the Dutch and traders took reals with them on their
\royagets."198 Many resented the restrictions on trade implicit in the
treaty, and felt that the Dutch emphasis on their own profits was com=
pletely at variance with Malay interests.

Secondly, the Dutch contract had severely damaged Perak's trading
links with Indians from the Coromandel coast, who for generations had
come with cloth and had taken away tin and elephants. Sultan Muzafar
himself had continued to press for Dutch agreement to his proposal that
Indian merchants should be allowed to exchange cloth for elephants, and
Verbrugge reported that, even at the signing of the contract, "nothing
else was heard than that the king would gladly see the Moors come again
to buy elephanm."199 Attempts by Sultan Muzafar to encourage some of
the Indian ships docking in Kedah to come to Perak had been of no avail.
Without the possibility of obtaining tin, Perak's attraction was con=
siderably 1essened.20°

Thirdly, many Perak Malays objected strongly to selling their tin
for ducatoons, as specified in the treaty, for they realised this form

of payment was dictated by the Company's own interests. When the Dutch

S
198. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 29.

199, KA 2592 OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 7 Dec. 1746, fo. 305; Albinus
to Batavia, 5 March 1747, fo. 91,

200. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 13 Oct. 1747, fo. 47L.
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had first begun trading in the Indonesian archipelago, they found that
the most popular currency was the Spanish real, which had been custom-
arily used by the Portuguese; The Dutch adopted the real as a form of
payment, but, because of itg popularity, faced the endemic problem of
maintaining a sufficient supply. The VOC struck no coins of its own in
the archipelago during the seventeenth century, although some were im-
ported from Holland. To counter the growing shortage of reals, however,
the Company later minted its own coinage and introduced ducats, lion
dollars, rijksdaalders, Dutch shillings, double and single stuivers,
Indian rupees, and ducatoons as alternative payment.201 The reputation
of these currencies was not high. In 1711 an Englishman in Melaka re-
marked that Dutch "liondollars" were sometimes found to be unacceptable
in China, and he complained that other coinage circulating in Melaka was
also of little value. "To carry [them] from that place would be a great
disadvantage, for they are base silver and not worth near what they pass
for,"202 e ducatoon, though of silver, was one of those currencies
minted by the VOC for the Company's own use, and was thus of limited
value outside the Dutch sphere of influence. On the other hand, the
Spanish real, of Mexican or Spanish American silver, was highly esteemed
not only throughout Asia, but in Europe.203 Naturally the Dutch were
201, Encyclopae yclopaedie van Nederlandsch-Indie (The Hague, n.d.), 11, 588~
619; C. Scholten, The Coins of the Dutch Overseas Territories,
1601-1948 (Amsterdam, 1953), pp. 33, 36, 44, 58-50,

202. Lockyer, An Account, p. 69.

203. V. T. Harlow, The Founding of the Second British Empire, 1763-1793
(London, 1952), I, 4, 65-67.
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anxious to see ducatoons accepted by Perak tin suppliers rather than
the precious reals, but the Malays were perfectly aware of the relative
value of the different coins, On any important occasion in the Perak
court, for example, such as a wedding or a funeral, gifts or alms were
always given in the form of reals rather than the other currencies avail-
able,204

There was also a strong faction at court which resented the loss
of trading connections in Selangor and Kedah which had resulted from the
Dutch treaty. An arrangement with Selangor, they argued, would mean
renewed traffic not only with the Bugis themselves, but with the English
country traders who were sO numerous there. The price of their cloth
was much cheaper than that delivered by the Company, and they were will-
ing to sell on ::redit.zo5 Other members of the Assembly wished to see
the trading ties with Kedah re-established, for the ports to the north
opened the doors to all the trade of the east. In Malay texts from
Kedah, this period is remembered as one in which Indianm, Arabic, Portu=
guese, Dutch and English vessels crowded in the Kedah harbour to ttade.2°6
Dutch records reinforce this, and describe how ships from Amoy, Siam,
Cambodia, Coromandel, Bengal and Surat came there to sell salt, cloth,
and other goods for the tin which was now in such high demand,207
EEZT-EZEK_EGT;;, Misa Melayu, p. 95.

205. KA 2592 OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 7 Dec. 1746, foll. 297-300;
KA 2445, Batavia to Heeren XVII, 5 April 1743, fo. 1737.

206. Wan Yahya bin Muhammad Taib, Salasilah atau Tawarikh Kerajaan Kedah

(Penang, 1913), p. 5.

207. KA 2634 OB 1750, Albinus to Batavia, 10 Aug. 1749, foll, 315-316.
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This resentment was shared by the rulers of Selangor and Kedah,
who were openly hostile at the loss of a lucrative market. For the
Bugis, access to Perak's tin had been "the aorta of their trade with the
English," and the signing of the treaty in July had merely served to fan
their resentment.208 Their response to the Dutch trading threat was
quick. Rumours had already circulated of Bugis plans for an attack, and
by August it was reported that in Selangor Bugis ships were lying in
readiness for an expedition which would drive the Dutch away from Pang-
kor. It was also rumoured that Sultan Muhammad Jiwa of Kedah was in-

volved.209 He was angry because two hundred bahara of tin he had bought

previously had been seized by Daeng Cellak, and he now claimed recom=
pense from Sultan Muzafar, Sultan Muhammad was also suffering econom-
ically because Perak tin was no longer reaching the Kedah market, where
it had formerly been a principal attraction to foreign traders,210

In his December report, Verbrugge told the Melaka Council that
Dutch difficulties in Perak were compounded by Sultan Muzafar's change
of attitude. Only a few months before he had been an ardent supporter
of the VOC alliance, but he now saw little reason for maintaining it.
The modus vivendi between himself and Raja Iskandar had brought about a
more stable political situation in Perak and had led to the withdrawal

of the Bugis from the hilir area. Yet much to the Governor's relief, the

treaty survived for several reasons. In the first place, a group of

208. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746, fo. 422,
209. KA 2592 OB 1748, Melaka Resolutions, 10 Sept. 1746, fo. 282,

210. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1747, fo. 422.
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orang besar within the assembly actively advocated retention of the al-
liance, despite the undoubted restrictions it entailed. These were the
men who had access to large suppl’ias of tin, and depended on a peaceful
and settled climate in which they could bring their tin downstream and
trade unhindered, Among this group it was generally believed that a con-
tract with the VOC and a Dutch lodge in Perak would serve as a stabilis-
ing influence in the country's economy and lead to an improvement in the
trade which the Dutch were told had been disturbed in recent years.zu A

fort near kuala Perak, they argued, would ensure that all the tin, ex-

cept that produced in and around the Larut area, would have no other out-
let than through the Perak River, especially if patrols were instituted,
In an effort to shore up Dutch resolve, this group furnished Verbrugge
with a list of goods which the Dutch would be able to sell in Perak, and
they themselves guaranteed that, after the fort was established and the
traders from Selangor and Kedah excluded from the Perak market, the Com-
pany would be able to dispose of a hundred corgie of cloth per annum, 212
It was this group which finally gained ascendancy in the Assembly, and
with the argument that the VOC was an asset, persuaded Sultan Muzafar
and Raja Iskandar to agree to the continuation of the treaty.

In the second place, the Company itself was prepared to bend on
several issues. On Verbrugge's recommendation, it was agreed that Indian
merchants should be allowed to come to Perak to trade cloth for elephants

without any hindrance whatever and, perhaps more importantly, the Dutch

211, KA 2592 OB 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 6 Dec. 1746, foll. 304-305.

212, Ibid., foll, 305-306. Pack or corgie = 20-22 pieces of cloth.
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would henceforth pay for the tin only with Spanish reals. The Perak
ruler had also asked that the Dutch bring down the tin at their own ex-
pense, although Verbrugge did not agree with this, regarding the trip up~
stream as dangerous. Ag far as Indian trade and the reals were con-
cerned, however, he advocated compromise, because "tin is needed so

much that everything they propose must be observed, "?13

In the third place, both Sultan Muzafar and Raja Iskandar had
come to realise the potentiality of this new alliance with the Europeans.
It could not only serve as a grop to the ruler's authority, as the most
powerful weapon in his arsenal, but also as a means of guaranteeing a
frequently threatened revenue. Between 1747 and 1749 the advantages of
the voc treaty from the ruler's viewpoint were made patently clear.

In early 1747 Perak's security was threatened by the disgraced
and humiliated Sultan Berkabat, who was not prepared to relinquish his
claims to the Perak throne without a struggle. When Raja Iskandar
threatened him with death, Sultan Berkabat fled to Larut, which had pre-
viously been given to him as a fief.2l4 pay from the centre of control
at Pulau Tiga, with access to his own supplies of tin, he made prepara-
tions to attack Perak, finding a ready ally in the notorious Bugis ad-

venturers, Daeng Matekko and his son Daeng Mencellak,215 His open chal-

213. KA 2592 0B 1748, Verbrugge's Report, 7 Dec. 1746, foll. 307-308.

214. 1bid., fo. 302. R, J. Wilkinson, The Incidents of Mala Life (Kuala
Lumpur, 1908), P. 22, notes that betrothal was one occasion on which
Malays would brook no insult, and broken engagements off too often
led to bloodshed.

215. KA 2592 0B 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 3 March 1747, foll, 90-91,
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lenge to Raja Iskandar could not be ignored, for Sultan Berkabat was

no mean enemy and he was allied with experienced fighters. Further, he
was contending for what he saw as an established right, his succession
to the throne, which he claimed by virtue of his betrothal and his pre-
vious adoption as Sultan Muzafar's son. The Dutch records mention lit-
tle about the composition of his following within Perak, but it appears
from the Misa Melayu that he enjoyed extensive support among the chiefs
of the ulu, many of whom would have remembered him from former days when
he had been a favourite at Kuala Kangsar.216 As son of the great hero
Raja Kecil, Sultan Berkabat was able to call on the loyalty of the
Minangkabau community in Perak, especially as his ally, Daeng Matekko,
had himself been a close supporter of Raja Kecil and was father-in-law

to Raja Muhammad of Siak, another son of Raja Kecil.217

215. (cont'd.)
Matekko was somewhat of an outsider among the Bugis in the Malay

world, being from Wajo' rather than Bonme. His enmities towards
those migrants from Bone and Soppeng stemmed from quarrels between
the two states in their homeland, and accounts for his alliances
with the Minangkabau. For some time he had been established in
Selangor and Linggi, but being driven out, withdrew to Siak where he
married his daughter to Raja Muhammad, sone of Raja Kecil. With his
Minangkabau allies he embarked on an unsuccessful attack on Selangor
and Linggi, prior to his alliance with Sultan Berkabat. Siak Chron-
icle, fo. 453, line 2; KA 2086 OB 1732, du Quesnme to Batavia, 12
March 1731, fo. 2; 9 Nov. 1731, foll. 19-20; and Reg. 28 Jan. 1732,
foll, 7-8; KA 2427 OB 1742, de Laver to Batavia, 14 Nov. 1741, fo.
102; KA 2462 OB 1743, de Laver to Batavia, 18 March 1741, foll. 10-
11; 24 Feb. 1742, foll. 49-51.

216. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 27-28.

217. Raja Culan refers briefly to Minangkabau living in Perak, Ibid.,
p. 173, The Megat family in Perak claim descent from the Pagar
Ruyong dynasty of Minangkabau, and Cik Gu'Ahmad Manjang of Kota
Lama Kiri, Perak, himself an amateur historian and descended from



Both Sultan Berkabat and Raja Iskandar realised the potential
role that the Dutch could play in this situation, and the former at-
tempted to safeguard his position by asking the Company to remain neutral
in any conflict. With promises of future favour in the tin trade should
he be victorious, Sultan Berkabat also asked for assistance with gun=-
powder and shot.218 Raja Iskandar, too, saw the Dutch as a source of

possible help, and he requested that a ship be sent for use against the

s:t:zu:kers.zw When Albinus did not respond, Sultan Muzafar also wrote

to Melaka, stressing the economic implications of Sultan Berkabat's
presence in Larut; and his desire for Dutch protection:

« - . a letter from the King of Perak, Paduka Sri Sul-
tan Muzafar, written to the Governor assuring him that
he will hold to the treaty concluded with the Honour-
able Company in every way. To ensure this he asked not
only that a ship might be sent over there to remain
anchored, while another carries tin backwards and for-
wards to Melaka, but also that the Company will send
from here Chinese, Moors etc. to live over there and to
carry out trade. He also asks that the Europeans once
again take possession of and built a house on the spot
previously designated [at Tanjung Putus] with the aim
of blockading all the tributaries of the river so that
no tin can be taken out any more and bad people cannot
cause any difficulties,22

Now, he said, it was said everywhere that the Company had come to "take

217. (cont'd.)
the Megats, told me that his ancestors supported Sultan Berkabat
against Raja Iskandar. Personal conversation, 26 Nov. 1973, It
is also possible that Raja Kecil's supposed descent from Sultan
Mahmud of Johor could have won his son some adherents,

218. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 9 Jan. 1747, foll, 9-11,

219. Ibid.

220. Ibid., 5 March 1747, foll. 90-91.
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care" of Perak (voeden), and without its aid he was helpless. He re-

quested that assistance be sent against Sultan Berkabat and his Bugis
allies who were now attacking upper Perak from Larut, in the area where
Sultan Muzafar had previously gathered "a thousand bahara of tin,"221

The fears of Raja Iskandar and Sultan Muzafar were borne out, for
on February 24, 1747, Sultan Berkabat attacked the Dutch fort on Pulau
Pangkor, striking at the principal source of the ruler's new strength,
the VOC alliance. Without Dutch support, Perak would be defenceless.
Backed by a varied force of Minangkabau, Bugis and Orang Laut, Sultan
Berkabat was confident of success, but he underestimated Dutch strength.
His followers, unsuccessful in their attempt to capture the post, were
driven off.222 Sultan Berkabat's accurate reading of the ability of
Perak forces, however, was attested by his victory over Raja Iskandar.
The latter had been sent to attack the invaders at the kuala, but in
the ensuing battle was roundly defeated and lost thirty men and several
::mmon.zz3 On the other hand, the Dutch garrison at Pangkor, only sixty
strong, had stood fast and had succeeded in killing three of the
mmy.zza

The defeat of the Perak force was in marked contrast to the rout

221. Ibid., fo. 91. The Misa Melayu also refers to an attack by Sultan
Berkabat in the ulu, but in this battle Raja Iskandar was victori-

ous. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 28.

222. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 14 April 1747, foll. 443-444,
223, 1bid., 13 Oct. 1747, fo. 470.

224. Ibid., 14 April 1747, fo. 44b4.
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of Sultan Berkabat's men at Pangkor, and the entire episode served to
reinforce Sultan Muzafar's resolve to maintain the alliance at all costs.
With the realisation that 1c.wns an added resource on which they could
draw, both he and Raja Iskandar attempted to persuade the Governor to
join with them in a campaign to evict Sultan Berkabat from his strong-
hold in Larut. In a letter received in Melaka in October, Sultan Muza=-
far once again requested that the Company patrol the area to present Sul-
tan Berkabat's smuggling. Indeed, he added, this pi‘inca could be ousted
from Larut altogether if the Dutch would attack from the seaward side
while Perak forces fell upon him from the land,225

Governor Albinus was naturally averse to becoming involved in an
affair of this nature, but he showed that the Company was fully prepared
to protect their interests in Perak. 1In July 1747 he had sent two ships
to patrol Kuala Perak. These, he said, would openly demonstrate that,
should any attempt be made to disturb Perak's peace and security, its
enemies "shall encounter the might of the VOC, which is always ready to
ward off any violence that might threaten its allies."226 Syltan Muza-
far obviously regarded this as a guarantee of protection, and was even
more pleased with Albinus' agreement to commit six ships and a contingent
of men to patrols around Larut, whence Sultan Berkabat had retreated.
With a force of about seventy men, he made continuous raids into Perak

territory, capturing tin deliveries which were then sent on to Kedah, 227

225. Ibid., 13 Oct. 1747, fo., 470.

226. Ibid., Albinus to King of Perak, 31 July 1947, fo. 688-689.

227. KA 2610 OB 1749, Albinus to Batavia, 30 Jan. 1748, fo. 15,



174

In 1750 Governor van Heemskerk noted that "the king has learnt with
singular pleasure of the blockade of the River Larut and is now certain
that no tin from his country will go elsewhere." Indeed, the old ruler
had intended to go himself and inspect the situation there, had it not
been for fear of involvement with Kedah traders in the area.228

As far as Sultan Muzafar was concerned, the Dutch patrols pro=-
vided an insurance against smuggling and the loss of royal revnue this
involved. Furthermore, Perak now seemed completely safe from any Bugis
attack. In January 1748, Albinus decided to move the garrison from the
post on Pangkor to the site at Tanjung Putus which had been given to
the Company in 1746. Once again, Sultan Muzafar was delighted, and in
1750 he told the resident that '"mow he feared no ome, while the Company
keeps such a great strength and maintained such a close watch over the
river."229 There were even hopes for the elephant trade. Albinus had
urged his superiors to find some solution, and in February 1751 Batavia
issued an order to the Ministers at Nagapatnam, directing them to en-

courage local traders to go to Perak and buy elephants there. As a fur-

ther ind t, it was d that no tolls would be levied on these

animls.ZBO

228. KA 2654 OB 1751, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 6 Oct. 1750, fo. 398.

229. KA 2673 OB 1752, Fliesholt's Report, 7 May 1750, fo. 211. The de-
cision to move the fort was made partly as a result of the attack in
1747, and partly as a result of the endemic sickness among the men
there, resulting from the bad water. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to
Batavia, 14 April 1747, fo. 446; KA 2610 OB 1749, Albinus to Batavia,
30 Jan. 1748, foll. 18-21, 29.

230. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746, fo. 415; KA 2673
0B 1752, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 20 Feb. 1751, fo. 24; KA 2712 OB
1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 14 July 1753, fo. 276,
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Raja Iskandar had also become convinced of the necessity of main-
taining the Dutch alliance. His rival, Sultan Berkabat, was still in
evidence in Larut, where Dutch patrols had been only partially successful
in controlling Sultan Berkabat's activities. The tiny inlets, bays and
mangroves made effective patrols impossible, and to avoid the Dutch
cruisers, the people of Larut also cut a path through the jungle to the
ulu tin mines. Buffalos and elephants brought the tin down to the head-
waters of the Larut tributaries, where small perahu brought it to the
kuala. From thence it was transported to Kedah, only fifteen miles
away.231 Sultan Berkabat, meanwhile, had strengthened his position by
marrying a Kedah princess and had thus allied himself with one of the
most outspoken opponents of the VOC alliance, Sultan Muhammad Jiwa of
Kedah. He continued to live in Larut until 1750, and his presence there
provided irrefutable arguments supporting retention of the tteaty.232

But what spoke even louder in favour of the VOC connection was
the hostility of another anak raja, Raja 'Alim, Raja Iskandar's cousin,
who was also unwilling to lay aside his claims to the Perak throne. The
account given in the Misa Melayu indicates that the court regarded Raja
231. KA 2673 0B 1752, Albinus to Batavia, 20 Feb. 1751, foll. 220-222.

Tin is extremely heavy. An elephant could carry about one bahara,

and a buffalo about half a bahara. Anderson, Political Consider-
ations, p. 171.

232. There appears to have been a hereditary streak of insanity in Raja
Kecil's family. He was reported to be insane in 1743, and in 1750
the Melaka governor reported that Sultan Berkabat had contracted the
"family sickness, that is, foolishness." In 1750 he left Larut to
seek a cure in Kedah. KA 2522 OB 1745, de Laver to Batavia, 27 Dec,
1743, fo. 215; KA 2673 OB 1752, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 20 Feb,
1751, fo. 222.
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'Alim's challenge as serious. According to this text, Raja 'Alim had
incurred Raja Iskandar's anger by his blatant refusal to take up arms
or organise resistance against Sultan Berkabat.233 of greater concern
was the rumour reported by the Dutch that Raja 'Alim was conspiring with
the ruler of Kedah to seize the Perak thronme. Although Raja Iskandar
was betrothed to Sultan Muzafar's daughter, and had already been de-
clared heir apparent, Raja 'Alim was thought by many to have equal
claims and himself had a sizeable following within the court, headed by
the Laksamana and Syahbundat.ZJI‘

In addition, Raja 'Alim had aroused Sultan Muzafar's hostility
because of his reported involvement in smuggling to Kedah. Both Raja
Iskandar and his uncle decided to exploit the Dutch alliance as a means
of eliminating a dangerous rival. In July 1749 the resident received a
'

letter from Raja Iskandar complaining about "the activities of Cik 'Alim,"

whom he accused of theft.

He is very wicked, for he has no other thought than
to steal, and therefore I am very angry with him.
If the Captain feels any affection for me, I think
it advisable to send him away, grom here, or to kill
him, together with Cik 'Asi1.239

At the same time, Sultan Muzafar wrote to the Governor, levelling simi-
lar accusations against Raja 'Alim "the rival for this kingdom," who, he
said, was not only conspiring against the Raja Muda but was smuggling

tin to Kedah.236

233. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 30.

234. Harrison, "Malacca in the Eighteenth Century," pp. 27-28; KA 2634
0B 1750 Albinus to Batavia, 10 Aug. 1749, fo. 316.
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Albinus lost no time in making a decision. On 3 July it was re-
solved to order the resident to place both Raja 'Alim and his father-in-
law, Cik 'Asil, under arres:; and to send them to Melaka. If he con-
sidered it expedient, the Laksamana should also be detained, since he was
known to be a friend of Raja 'Alim and "a thief and very pernicious per~
son."237  There were several reasons underlying the Govermor's decision.
Firstly, he hoped to prevent the development of an alliance between
Raja 'Alim and the ruler of Kedah. The latter had long been opposed to
the Dutch post in Perak and might be tempted to support a rebellion aimed
at placing Raja 'Alim, to whom he was related, on the Perak throne. This
would guarantee Kedah's control of the tin trade.238 "ge ig only wait-

ing," wrote Albinus in 1750, "for a suitable occasion to start a serious

attack on our position, and has already promised to divide up the tin

with the mercenary and fickle people of Perak, promising them a better

price."239 1f Sultan Muhammad, or even the Bugis, chose to support

Raja 'Alim, it would certain elicit some response in Perak, for Raja

'Alim was no petty chief and commanded widespread loyalty.zl‘o

Furthermore, Sultan Muzafar was now eighty years old, and it was

235. KA 2654 OB 1751, Albinus to Batavia, 16 Feb. 1750. Letter from
"Paduka Sru Sultan Camar Chah" to Resident Fliesholt, foll. 148-149.

236. KA 2654 OB 1751, Albinus to Batavia, 16 Feb. 1750, fo., 147.

237. Ibid.

238. Ka 2634 OB 1750, Albinus to Batavia, 10 Aug. 1749, fo. 316.

239. Harrison, "Malacca in the Eighteenth Century," p. 27.

240. KA 2634 OB 1750, Albinus to Batavia, 19 Oct. 1749, fo. 359.
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apparent that the Dutch must think in terms of policies which might be
adopted by his successor. In view of his past opposition, Raja Iskandar
could well turn back to his former allies, the Bugis, and refute the con-
tract made by his uncle. In his report to his successor, Pieter van
Heemskerk in 1750, Albinus gave the following advice:

Considering the advanced age of the King and our uncer-

tainty with regard to the Raja Muda's methods as a ruler,

it would be advisable to retain Raja 'Alim under house

arrest within this fortress. . . . The purpose of this

would be to keep the Raja Muda in a state of fear lest,

if he broke the contract or attempted other deceitful

evasions, the Company should place Raja 'Alim on the

throne. . . . By this means, at any rate, it would be

possible to keep the Raja Muda under better control and

in greater respect for the Company after the King dies.

Otherwise in response to others or in his own interest, 41

he might change a little, as is the nature of the Malays.z
Finally, as long as Raja 'Alim remained in the Company's charge, his ad-
herents would hope for his ultimate return and oppose any attempt by
Raja Iskandar to ally with the Bugis and attack the fort, with the ex-
pectation that by performing this service for the Dutch, Raja 'Alim
would be installed as ruler.242

The means by which the arrest was accomplished are not disclosed

in the Dutch records, but following a further order on September 26,
Raja 'Alim and Cik 'Asil were transported to Melaka, where they arrived

in mid Ocl:ot>¢al'.2“3

241. Harrison, "Malacca in the Eighteenth Century," pp. 27-28.
242. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 17 March 1753, fo. 253.
243. KA 2634 OB 1759, Albinus to Batavia, 10 Feb. 1750, fol. 147, 19 Oct.

1749, fo. 357. According to Raja Culan, the Dutch Captain arrested
Raja 'Alim one day when he came to the lodge to exchange tin. 'He
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Raja Iskandar, unaware of Albinus' ulterior motives, must have
been highly gratified at the apparent Dutch willingness to support him
against Raja 'Alim. By 1756 he could look back on several occasions
when the Dutch had given him tangible assistance, and he was now com-

pletely won over to the contract. Perhaps the turning point in his at~

titude towards the alliance had been the Dutch victory over Sultan Berka-*
bat's forces in early 1747, followed by the commitment of further Com-

pany ships and men for patrols. In October of that year Albinus told

Batavia that '"the Raja Muda or heir to the throne is very pleased with
the Company and promises to continue to maintain affairs on a good foot-

ing when he succeeds.'244 The deportation of Raja 'Alim must have in-

creased Raja Iskandar's goodwill towards the Dutch, and the Raja Muda's
favour was particularly important in view of his growing importance in

the government. In early 1748, by which time he was "administering the

kingdom of Perak for his old father," Raja Iskandar repeated his inten-

tion of remaining loyal to the treaty concluded with the voc,245 In the
following year the Dutch sources record for the first time his use of
the title "sultan,

246

" itself a mark of his high status and prestige within

the court.

243, (cont'd.)
was received by the Dutch and taken aboard their sloop, in which he
was immediately conveyed to Melaka. Encik 'Asil, too, was subse-
quently seized by the Dutch and taken to Melaka. He was thrown into
a dungeon and all those who remained submitted to Sultan Muzafar
Syah." Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 31-32.

244. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 13 Oct. 1747, fo. 472,

245. KA 2610 OB 1749, Albinus to Batavia, 21 March 1748, fo. 243.
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With the support of Sultan Iskandar, the success of the contract
appeared assured. To this point the tin collection had been proceeding
smoothly and Albinus was justifiably proud of his achievement. In his
retiring report to van Heemskerk, he recorded:

When I took over the administration of this govern-
ment in 1745 . . . it was absolutely impossible to
satisfy the requirements of the home government and
those of the Indies. . . . I therefore began to give
serious thought to the recovery of this trade. I
gradually prepared the ground with Perak and just at
the time when the Buginese had worked out a division
of tin interests among the members of the court of
that kingdom, I obtained an exclusive contract through
a special envoy in the year 1746. . . . Since then
this has been such a success tza: a good quantity of
tin has been brought thither.? 7

As a result of these measures, Albinus added, he had been able to
fulfil all the requirements for the European, Chinese and Surat markets,
and still had supplies remaining in the warehouses of Perak and Melaka.
"It is quite clear," he concluded, "that this tin trade depends mainly
upon Perak and upon regular consignments from the him:erlands."2“8

The Governor had put some thought into the maintenance of satis-
factory relations with Perak, comstantly stressing the need for fair
dealings and generous treatment of the Malays. Experience had shown, he

that no contract could last unless the benefits of both parties were

taken into consideration.249 Accordingly, he had chosen his representa-

KA 2654 OB 1751, Letter from Paduka Sri Sultan Camar Chah to Flies-
holt, eaclosed with Albinus to Batavia, 16 Feb. 1750, fo. 148.

24

247. Harrison, "Malacca in the Eighteenth Century," p. 26.
248, Ibid., p. 27.

249, KA 2634 0B 1750, Albinus to Batavia, 3 March 1749, fo. 61.
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tives in Perak carefullyzso and had consistently worked to gain the

favour of Sultan Muzafar, Raja Iskandar and the principal nobles. The

large amount of tin deuverea during his period as governor attests his
success.

Albinus left Melaka in 1750 and at first his successor. Pieter
van Heemskerk, reaped the benefits of the previous relationship. ' In
February 1751 he was able to report that "in Perak the collection of tin
increases daily," and he had even been forced to send another ship to
cope with deliveries,251 By the middle of the year, however, the good-
will between Melaka and Perak had begun to sour. Nome of the problems
were of van Heemskerk's making. As Melaka Syahbandar from 1741 to 1746
and head administrator from 1747 to 171‘9.252 he had absorbed much of
Albinus' attitude towards the Perak court. Like his predecessor, van
Heemskerk worked hard to maintain amicable relations between the Company
and the Perak ruler.253 But he had no control over such matters as the
250. For example, Johan Fliesholt was appointed in 1748 because he had

long experience in Java, but was recalled in 1750 when he became
i1l. Albinus feared he might develop "a sort of meloncholy" which
would be regarded askance by the Malays. Albinus became very angry
with Fliesholt when it was later disclosed that he had aroused Sul=-
tan Muzafar's annoyance. KA 2610 OB 1749, Albinus to Batavia, 30
Jan. 1748, foll. 15-16; KA 2634 OB 1750, Albinus to Batavia, 3 March
1749, fo. 63; KA 2654 OB 1751, Albinus to Batavia, 10 Feb. 1750, fo.
27; 6 Oct. 1750, foll. 399-400.

251. KA 2673 OB 1752, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 20 Feb. 1751. fo. 41.
During the financial year 1750/51, Perak delivered 443, 979 1bs. of
tin. KA 2673 OB 1752, 2nd Reg. van Heemskerk to Batavia, 26 Feb.
1752, fo. 20.

252. Resandt, De Gezaghebbers, pp. 221-222.

253. KA 2673 OB 1752, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 20 Feb. 1751, fo. 42.
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supply of reals, and for several weeks in early 1751 he was unable to
despatch sufficient amounts to Perak to pay for the large tin deliveries.
The situation became so critical that the resident feared repercussions
against him and his garrisonm. The resentment of tin suppliers in Perak
had grown so great that they had given him an ultimatum: ''no money, no
contract.,"25%

Van Heemskerk recognised the urgency of the situation and did his
best to ease it. 1In April a large supply of reals were sent to Perak and
in August he warned the Governor-General that "if Perak is not continu-
ally supplied with the desired coinage for the tin trade, and if the
people are prevented by one means or another from taking their tin out,
they could well try to break past using violence (following the sad ex-
ample of 1651)."255 He also hoped to persuade the tin deliverers to
accept goods in lieu of reals, but this proved impossible because of un-
favourable Company ptices.256

For the first time it became clear to Sultan Muzafar and Sultan
Iskandar that their maintenance of the treaty might entail unforeseen
disadvantages. Perak Malays had been prepared for the restrictions im-
posed by a momopoly, but not for Dutch inability to pay. Previously,
most trading transactions had been carried out by barter in tin, and
money had not therefore been considered a necessity. But now tin could

only be sold to the Dutch, and Perak Malays were dependent on a steady

254. Ibid., 17 Aug. 1751, foll. 429-430.
255, Ibid., foll. 430-433.

256. Ibid., foll. 433-438.
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supply of Spanish reals to buy their salt, cloth, pots and other items
from incoming traders. Some delay in payment could be tolerated by the
administration because the r;nler did not have heavy expenses such as the
maintenance of large fleets or armies. In later years Sultan Iskandar
was able to use money from his own treasury in order to buy up his sub-
jects' tin. Yet, although the actual machinery of government in Perak
was not costly, most members of the court were responsible for the sup-
port of a large following in the same way that the anak raja depended on
the ruler's kurnia or bounty. There came a point where reals were neces-
sary both for the common man who wished to buy his salt and for the
orang besar who needed to feed his household.

The shortage of reals in Perak was thus a matter of some concern,
and while van Heemskerk was struggling to restore the former goodwill
between Perak and the VOC he was faced with increasing antagonism from
the Raja Muda, Sultan Iskandar, especially during the course of 1752.

It was not until the following year, when a mission was sent to Perak,
that the cause of this hostility was discovered. Albinus' decision to
retain Raja 'Alim in Melaka and his recommendation that van Heemskerk
should follow the same policy proved to be a gross miscalculation, for
it merely served to rekindle Sultan Iskandar's suspicions about Dutch
intentions. In 1749 Sultan Iskandar had asked the Governor to ''get rid
of Raja 'Alim, or to kill him" and had naturally been pleased when the
Comapny placed his cousin under arrest. It was some time before he
realised that Raja 'Alim was being kept by the VOC in Melaka as a state

guest. This realisation brought immediate doubts as to the extent of
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Dutch sincerity. Perak Malays explained Albinus' decision by pointing
towards Raja 'Alim's acknowledged claim to the thronme; obviously, they
said, the VOC intended to depose Sultan Iskandar and place his cousin in
Perak as ruler instead.257 This rumour spread throughout the country,
gaining the more force because it was not so far from the truth, and be-
cause Raja 'Alim was known to be corresponding with his supporter, the

Laksamana, in an effort to return to Perak.258 As van Heemskerk noted

the following year, the question of Raja 'Alim's future had become "a

thorn in [Sultan Iskandar's] foot."259
Suspicious of Dutch designs, Sultan Iskandar's attitude towards

the alliance showed a marked change, and differences developed between
him and his uncle over the favour the old man showed to the Company. In
mid-1752 Sultan Mazafar signed a salt pact with the resident, giving the
Dutch the monopoly of salt sales within Perak. Sultan Iskandar openly
declared that he would revoke this after he succeeded.260 His distrust
of the VOC became so great that he made no secret of his intention to
evict the Dutch when he came to }mwzr.z61 Sultan Muzafar still clung to
257. 342712_—03 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 14 July 1753, foll. 273~
258. KA 2673 OB 1752, Van Heemskerk to Batavia, 6 Oct. 1751, foll. 523-

524; Raja 'Alim to Laksamana to Perak, foll. 525-526; Laksamana to

Raja 'Alim, fo. 526.

259. KA 2712 OB 1752, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 1 Sept. 1753, fo. 291.
260. Ibid., 31 Jan. 1753, fo. 89. The letter from Resident Essche tell-
ing of this pact was dated 24 May 1752 and arrived in Melaka on
June 14. The date given by Heeres (Corpus Diplomaticum, BKI 96

(1938), 580) must be incorrect. The Hijrah date, 7 Rajab 1164
(1 June 1751) is also incorrect.
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the alliance which he had helped to forge, but as the old ruler's hold
on the last remains of his former authority became increasingly weaker,
Sultan Iskandar assumed a corresponding degree of power. The relation-
ship between them deteriorated rapidly, and during Sultan Muzafar's final
illness, Sultan Iskandar was not even permitted to come into his pres-
ence.262 Melaka had little cause for optimism about the future of the
Dutch treaty, for in September 1752, Sultan Muzafar died and Sultan
Iskandar ascended the Perak throne and assumed control of the government
in fact as well as n-mm::_i.ﬂ’3 With his accession, Sultan Iskandar ushered

in a new era of VOC-Perak relations.

261. KA 2692 OB 1753, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 12 Oct. 1752, foll. 15~
16.

262. KA 2673 OB 1753, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 12 Oct. 1753, fo., 17.

263. 1bid., fo. 16 and Register of Papers, fo. 13; Melaka first heard
of the death on September 30 by the Resident's letter of 19 Sept.
A postscript, dated 24 September had been added, telling of the
death of Sultan Muzafar and the accession of Sultan Iskandar,



Chapter III

SULTAN ISKANDAR AND THE DUTCH ALLIANCE

When Sultan Muzafar died in 1752, the future of the contract be-
tween Perak and the VOC hung in the balance. From the Malay point of
view, several factors argued against remewal, Firstly, the lack of reals
in 1751 had meant real economic hardship and for weeks at a time trade
had been brought to a standstill.l Secondly, tin prices were rising and
the English and Bugis were prepared to offer far more than the Dutch in
order to obtain supplies of this metal. Sultan Muhammad Jiwa of Kedah
claimed that at his ports tin could be sold for as much as 42 reals the
bahara, and even the Melaka Governor admitted that "the exchange market
for cloth, opium and other goods' was much better in Kedah than either
Perak or Melaka.2 The tin miners of Larut and ulu Perak found the lure
of Kedah great. The resident himself acknowledged that the amounts many
people delivered were so small that it was not worth the jourmey to bring
their supplies down to Tanjung Putus, since the trip cost "many times

their profits."3

1. KA 2673 OB 1752, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 17 Aug. 1751, foll. 430-435.

2. KA 2654 OB 1750, Albinus' Report on Melaka, 15 Feb. 1750, fo. 360.

3. KA 2673 0B 1752, 2nd Reg. Van Heemskerk to Batavia, 20 Feb, 1752, fo,
23.
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The attraction of the Selangor market, too, was mot lost on Perak
Malays. By the beginning of 1752 smuggling was beginning to eat into
Dutch profits. :

In spite of the careful watch kept at our Perak fort,
the cunning natives leave no way unexplored in order to
deceive our guards. They bring their tin down in two
or three slabs in fishing perahu, concealing them under
nets and, under pretext of fishing, go past our fort to
the mouth of the river. Here the tin is buried until the
amount reaches a few bahara.
When a larger vessel came by, these caches were secretly taken on board
and shipped to Selangor for sale to the Bugis or to English country
traders.4

The Perak nobles had even greater reason to be antagonistic to
the Dutch presence. Formerly, they had been accorded certain privileges
in the purchase of salt, but after the pact made with the Dutch in May
1752 the price had been regularised and no distinction was made between
buyers.5 This VOC monopoly of a much-used item also had far-reaching
effects on the lives of the common people. The latter had previously
bartered their own produce, fruit and vegetables, for salt® but the Dutch
would only sell in exchange for tin or reals. The general unacceptabil-
ity of the salt pact was exacerbated by the knowledge that Sultan Muza-
far had concluded it secretly, without the normal consultation with his
court. While van Heemskerk had accepted the Malay document signed by
m.' 22-23. The Dutch had found the patrolling so expensive

that van Heemskerk had contemplated asking for exemption from the
tolls specified in the contract. Ibid., fo. 24,

5. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 31 Jan. 1753, fo. 156.

6. Ibid.



the resident and Sultan Muzafar at a private meeting as legal and bind-
ing, the court regarded it as 1nva11d.7

Sultan Iskandar was likewise aggrieved at the new salt pact,
especially since few benefits would accrue to him personally. An in-
itial two hundred reals had been given to Sultan Muzafar, but thereafter
the ruler would receive only a koyan of salt per annum.8 The Chinese,
on the other hand, were willing to pay a hundred of the much-desired
reals yearly for the same monopoly, an offer far more attractive than
the arrangement made with the Dutch.? To these economic consideratioms
were added Sultan Iskandar's own distrust of the Company's intentions.
He became increasingly convinced that the Dutch were merely biding their
time, waiting for an opportunity to depose him and install Raja 'Alim
instead. 10 Naturally apprehensive of Dutch moves should they hear of
Sultan Muzafar's death, the Raja Muda did not despatch an official envoy
to inform the Melaka Council of this event and even sent van Heemskerk
a letter which he signed with his uncle's nama.l!ll

The atmosphere of suspicion was not confined to Perak. News of
the death of Sultan Muzafar and of his nephew's succession arrived in
-T._m. 274-276. For a translation of the salt pact, see Ap-

pendix E.

8. KA 2682 OB 1753, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 22 Oct. 1752, foll. 15-
16 and Appendix E.

9. KA 2712 OB 1754, Van Heemskerk to Batavia, 31 Jan. 1753, fo. 155.
10. Ibid., 14 July 1753, foll. 273-274.

11. KA 2692 OB 1753, Register of Papers, fo. 13.
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Melaka on September 30, 1752. Van Heemskerk immediately convened a spe-
cial meeting of the Council specifically to discuss "this significant
change in that kingdom . . . since it is feared that the long perceived
hostile feelings of the new king shall now be shown opcmly."12 The re-
newal of the tin treaty, the future of the salt pact and, indeed, the
safety of the garrison itself were all at stake.

The new king . . . incited by, and with the help of,

his rapacious Bugis following, could be spurred on to

a further step, namely, that of disputing the Com-

pany's present price for tin, or possibly driving the

Company out totally, a move which both Kedah and

Selangor would be pleased to bring about.l3
The Governor left nothing to chance. A message was sent to Batavia by a
private trader in order to notify the Governor-General as speedily as
possible. Van Heemskerk requested permission to reinforce the Perak
fort, and he also wrote posthaste to the resident, instructing him to
"keep a close, watchful eye on all the doings of the court" and to in-
form Melaka immediately of any further developments. Even the cruisers
in Larut were placed on the alert.l4

1t was at this point that relations between Sultan Iskandar and

the VOC were at their most vulnerable point. The treaty had not been
ratified, and any whisper of hostility from either side might end hopes

of renegotiation. This realisation was not lost on the small group

within the Assembly who still supported Raja 'Alim's cause. They appre-

12. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 31 Jan. 1753, fol. 155.
13. Ibid.

14, Ibid., foll. 155-156.
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ciated the clear advantage that Sultan Iskandar's alliance with the Com-
pany had given him in his rivalry with his cousin, but they were also
attuned to the implications of the present estrangement. Because of the
credence so easily given to rumours, as well as Dutch dependency on in-
formation, it would not be difficult for them to inject further suspicion
into the already tense atmosphere, Sultan Iskandar's enemies understood
full well that rumours of attack which filtered through to the Council

Room at Melaka or the royal balai in Perak could eradicate any possi-

bility of the contract's renewal, and, if the situation were fully ex-
ploited, pave the way for Raja 'Alim's return. But the time to strike
was now, while the treaty was in abeyance; to wait even a week might be
too late.

The initiative for this bold effort to sabotage any new alliance
between Sultan Iskandar and the Dutch came from one of the most power ful
nobles in the Perak court, the Laksamana, Nakhoda Pusmah.15 According
to Perak tradition, the Laksamana was the jurubatu, the ship's mate who
sat in the bow at Kuala Perak.l® The office carried with it control 'up-
river as far as the tide can reach, downriver to the line where the surf
breaks on the bar and the grey mullet come to the surface."l7 He took

care of war preparations in case of enemy attack and had "the superin-

15. Called Nachoda Posama in the Dutch records and Tun Pusmah in the
Misa Melayu.

16. Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A History of Perak," p. 146; Ms. 46943 SOAS,
foll. 4-5.

17. Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A History of Perak,' p. 146. The bar refers
to the sand banks outside Kuala Perak.
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tendence of everything relative to the perahu passing up and down the
river."18 The Laksamana was expected to work closely with the Syah-
bandar, the harbour master, and only by application to them could a
stranger gain admittance to the court.l9 1In the words of Raja Culan,
these two men were "the keys to the country."20

The Laksamana's previous dealings with the Dutch had shown that
he was fully able to exploit the potentialities of his office. In 1746,
when the VOC first contemplated a treaty with Perak, he had been singled
out as a person of great authority and Albinus had despatched letters and
presents in order to win his favour.2l The treaty of 1746 itself docu-
ments his prestigious position within the court, for the conclusion
reads, "Thus contracted to-day, the 25th of July, anno 1746, in the
balai of the Laxamana in the presence of the Radja Moeda, named Siandaar,
and the Dato Laxamana Nachoda Posama."??2 In contrast to other contracts,
there is no mention of any further oran besar, and it appears that the
Laksamana was the only major chief to emerge unscathed from the divisive
disputes of 1746.

It was not long before the Dutch themselves came into conflict

18. SSR G34/67, Cracroft to Clubley, 3 Aug. 1818 (FCCP 5 Sept. 1818);
RKP SP 9/15, fo. 10.

19. RKP SP 9/15 fo. 11; Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 44, 106; KA 2567

OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 18 Aug. 1746, fo. 416; KA 2954 OB 1763
Meyer to Boelen, 20 March 1761.

s
20. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 44.
21. KA 2567 OB 1747, Albinus to Batavia, 26 Feb. 1746, fo. 328,

22. Heeres, Corpus Diplomaticum, BKI, 96 (1938), 431,
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with this powerful man, whose favour they had so assiduously courted.
In October 1747 an angry letter from the Laksamana had arrived in
Melaka:

I sent a perahu to Prai to buy rice and padi. .

The Nakhoda with two of his people landed on [Pangkor

Island] without any weapons, but the Captain arrested

the nakhoda and his people and threw them into chains

without their doing anything wrong,23
To offend such a prominent personage was a serious matter, and Albinus
hastened to make amends. Although the garrison commander was recalled
in disgrace, the letter showed the Laksamana was unhappy with the Dutch
presence on other counts. His request to collect tin sand on Pangkor
had been refused and he, like other tin suppliers, was growing dissatis-
fied with the VOC price for tin. Because this price had been estab-
lished at a fixed level, it showed no response to the rising market
elsewhere. 1In his letter to the Governor, Nakhoda Pusmah voiced the
complaints of the faction which resented the Company monopoly.

The Captain of the Company ships asked to buy all

the tin I had and I have helped him. There is much

tin here, but the merchants will not sell for 32

Spanish reals. They want 33, apart from the toll,

which makes 35 with the toll. I cannot compel the

merchants to deliver their tin.2

By 1749, Governor Albinus had recognised that the Laksamana was
not only the leader of the anti-Dutch faction within the court but was
also a strong supporter of Raja 'Alim. While Sultan Muzafar was alive,
however, the Laksamana's opposition both to the Company and to Raja Muda
23. KA 2592 OB 1748, Letter from Laxamana Nachoda Pusama, rec'd. Octo-
ber 2, 1747, foll, 734-735.

24. Ibid., fo. 735.
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Iskandar had been muted, since he stood in high favour with the old
ruler. In 1747, and again in 1750, Sultan Muzafar had himself protested
to Melaka when the Laksamana‘ had complained to Dutch insults and, as a
token of royal approval, both he and the Syahbandar had been permitted
to retain the two reals toll on any tin they sold, 25

The position Nakhoda Pusmah had attained in Perak is the more
surprising since the evidence indicates that he was from Sumatra rather
than Perak and had inherited this office by marriage into the Perak

Laksamana famtly.26 Furthermore, according to the Misa Melayu, although

25. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 13 Oct. 1747, foll. 475, 727-

728, 733-735 and Resolutioms, 5 Oct. 1747, fo. 328; KA 2673 OB 1752,
Resolutions 29 June 1750, fo. 210; KA 2753 OB 1756, Dekker to Bata-
via, 30 April 1755, fo. 45.

26. Winstedt suggests that the Laksamana may have come from Pasumah in
south-west Sumatra; Raja Culan says he was "a man of Aru," which is
on the east coast of Sumatra directly across the Melaka Straits from
Perak. It may be relevant to note that he died in Asahan. (Win-
stedt's note, Misa Melayu, p. 57; KA 2827 OB 1759, Meyer to Dekker,
27 May 1758.)

The office of Laksamana was held to have once belonged to the
family of Tun Saban Balik, the legendary founder of ulu Perak. 1In
Perak folk-lore the first Laksamana is called Nakhoda Hitam, a
fisherman from Pasai, in Sumatra. He had been given the office of
Laksamana by a genie, who also promised that he would be "the great-
est chief in Perak" and that his descendents would prosper. His
title, 'Tuk Kuala Bidor, occurs again in another Perak manuscript,
where the Laksamana figures as a supporter of Sultan Muzafar during
his struggles with his brother, Sultan Muhammad. When Sultan Muza-
far succeeded to the Perak throne, the Laksamana was ordered to take
charge of Kuala Bidor. After this Laksamana died, Sultan Muzafar
gave this office to his son. (Raja Kamaralzaman Papers, SP 9/15,
fo, 10; Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A History of Perak," pp. 146-147;
Notes and Queries, 1, JSBRAS (1885), p. 47; for the legend surround-
ing Tan Saban Balik, see Raja Razman et al., Hulu Perak Dalam Sejarah,
p. 2.)

Tt is impossible to establish any definite connection between
this Laksamana and the Nakhoda Pusmah who held office from 1746 to
1758. However, according to one genealogy it was the son-in-law of



Nakhoda Pusmah had been accredited with the authority of a Laksamana,
he had never been formally installed.?” Yet this did not prevent his
assuming a prominent place in court politics, and it was this favoured
position which Nakhoda Pusmah saw threatened by the accession of Sultan
Iskandar. Neither he nor the Syahbandar had accepted Sultan Iskandar's
claim to be the legitimate heir to the Perak throne and, as we have seen,
Nakhoda Pusmah had long been working towards Raja 'Alim's return. Raja
'Alim's letters from prison to "his father, the Laksamana' attest the
latter's loyalty to the exiled prince.28
The new ruler, for his part, was well aware of the Laksamana's
support for Raja 'Alim, and it is a comment on Nakhoda Pusmah's influ-
ence that he had not been dismissed like many others when Sultan Iskandar
first came to power. If anything, his position was strengthened, for the
Misa Melayu notes that soon after his own installation, Sultan Iskandar
held an impressive ceremony of appointment for the Laksamana "to in-
26. (cont'd.)
'Tuk Kuala Bidor who succeeded him in office. This son-in-law was
called Tun Abu 'esama, and he was from Sumatra; it is tempting to
see here a corruption of "Tun Pusmah." The same genealogy notes
that his niece married Sultan Ahmadin Syah (1792-1801?), and another
states that Sultan Ahmadin married the daughter of 'Tuk Kuala Bidor.
If in fact Nakhoda Pusmah was the som, or son-in-law of 'Tuk Kuala
Bidor, it would explain his appointment as Laksamana and also in part
his opposition to Sultan Iskandar, since he would have been associ-
ated with Sultan Muzafar in the days when Raja 'Alim was the favour-
ite and Sultan Iskandar the enemy. (Winstedt and Wilkinson, "A His-

tory of Perak," p. 148; Silsilah Raja-Raja Perak, fo. 34A, lines 6-7;
Silsilah Raja Raja Perak II, fo. 12, lines 10~12.)

27. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 57.

28. KA 2673 OB 1752, Raja 'Alim to Laksamana and Laksamana to Raja Alim,
foll. 525-526.
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crease his loyalty."

In the presence of the entire court his status re-
ceived public recognition. Sultan Iskandar not only presented him with

a new set of clothing and offered him sirih from the royal betel box,

but formally bestowed upon him the title of Laksamana Orang Kaya-Kaya,29
If the new ruler had hoped to win over the Laksamana by these
marks of honour, he was disappointed. Nakhoda Pusmah remained loyal to
Raja 'Alim and his determination to bring about the exile's return to
Perak grew even stronger. His aim was to discredit Sultan Iskandar in
Dutch eyes and in this he found a ready ally, not only in the Syahbandar,
but in the VOC interpreter, an Indian named Piro Muhammad. The latter
had been a Company employee for a number of years and, prior to his ap-
pointment in Perak, had been stationed in Linggi.'m He was sent to
Perak in 1747 to help the Dutch resident organise the tin deliveries,
principally because "he was a man experienced in the Malay areas, espe~
cially in Perak."3l At first he was sufficiently trusted to have the
entire tin trade in his hands, albeit under the nominal supervision of
the resident.32 Probably another reason for Dutch reliance on his ser-
vices was the influence he wielded with Sultan Muzafar. According to
Raja Culan, "Piro Muhammad had been appointed by the Raja of Melaka to

be interpreter (jurubahasa) to the Dutch, who were living at Pangkalan

29. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 57-58.
30. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 13 Oct. 1747, fo. 261,

31. Ibid., fo. 684; KA 2610 OB 1749, Albinus to Batavia, 30 Jan. 1748,
fo. 16.

32. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 13 Oct. 1747, fo, 686.
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Halbnn,33 and during the reign of Sultan Muzafar this interpreter was in
high favour and could do anything he liked."af*

While this comment comes from a hostile source, it is supported
by Dutch accounts. Early in his Perak career, it was disclosed that Piro
Muhammad had entered into an arrangement with the Laksamana in order to
gain greater influence over the Indians who came to buy elephants. In
a report submitted to the Governor in May, 1750, Resident Fliesholt
claimed that Piro Muhammad was "a cunning fellow,'" who had devised a
number of ways to further trade between Indians and Malays to the detri-
ment of the Company's interests. He had therefore forbidden the inter-
preter to have any more dealings with the Indians, an order which annoyed
both Piro Muhammad and the Laksamana exceedingly. On this occasion,
Piro Muhammad gained his revenge by utilizing his influence over Sultan
Muzafar, demonstrating a shrewd understanding of the basic issues in
Perak-Melaka relations. The value placed by van Heemskerk on amicable
dealings between resident and court was well-known. Piro Muhammad
succeeded in having the resident summoned before the Melaka Council by
the simple ruse of drafting a letter of complaint in Sultan Muzafar's
name and persuading the older ruler to put his seal to it.35 1In the fol-
lowing years, Piro Muhammad had used his privileged position as royal
confidant and Company interpreter to pass on private confidences to
Eman—ﬂalbnn was the landing place just below the Dutch fort,

Kruijt, "Iets over de Vestiging der Nederlanders in Perak," p. 598.
34, Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 60.

35. KA 2673 0B 1752, Resolutions 29 June 1750, foll. 209-212,
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Melaka. Immediately before Sultan Muzafar's death, for example, he had
written to a Company official telling him that Sultan Muzafar was very

ill and hinting at dissension between the dying ruler and his nephew,

the Raja Muda.36

With Sultan Iskandar's ion, h , all Piro Muh a'

s
influence within the court was suddenly lost. Raja Culan describes the
new situation in straightforward terms: '"In Sultan Iskandar's time, Piro
Muhammad could not behave as he had done before. He therefore hated
Sultan Iskandar."37 1t is obvious that the interpreter, like the Lak-
samana, had good reason to be hostile towards Sultan Iskandar. Driven
by rancour and desire for revenge, he joined the Laksamana and the
Syahbandar in a shrewdly-laid plot aimed at unseating Sultan Iskandar
and, with Dutch compliance, installing Raja 'Alim on the Perak throne.

It was essential that they move quickly, because it soon became
clear that Sultan Iskandar was still prepared to negotiate with the
Governor, despite his dissatisfaction with many aspects of the Dutch
relationship and his suspicions about Raja 'Alim's future. Since 1746
he must have seen how the VOC alliance, if manipulated adroitly, could
be turned to the ruler's advantage. More impressive was the revenue
which had gone to Sultan Muzafar in years like 1749 and 1750 when there
had been a constant supply of reals and the tin deliveries had gone well.
While Albinus and van Heemskerk had regarded with delight the wmounting

surplus of tin in the Melaka godowns, Raja Culan comments on the in-~

36. KA 2692 OB 1754, Albinus to Batavia, 12 Oct. 1752, foll., 16-17,

37. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p, 61,
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creased wealth which flowed to Sultan Muzafar and his subjects. 'Many
thousands of reals were given to His Majesty in tolls from Perak and all
the people in the country put by many reals,"38
With memories of these years, Sultan Iskandar felt the treaty was

worth salvaging. In September 1752, about two weeks after his succession,
he decided to send two envoys to the fort '"to assure the resident of his
sincere friendship towards the (:ompnny."39 The conspirators wasted no
time, Hardly a day had elapsed before the Laksamana himself came
secretly to the resident,

declaring that he had no other intention than to

benefit the Company and further the well being of

Perak and for that reason he felt obliged to in-

form the resident that the promises of the king,

however noble they might appear, should be regarded

as nothing more than a trick. In fact, shortly after

the death of the older king, Sultan Iskandar had al-

ready decided to get rid of the Company.“u

The resident, already apprehensive, accepted Nakhoda Pusmah's

story without question and immediately wrote to inform van Heemskerk.
The letter arrived on October 15, accompanied by one from Sultan Tskan-
dar, another from the Laksamana, and a third from Piro Muhammad. Those
of Nakhoda Pusmah and his accomplice were carefully calculated to rein-
force that of the resident and add to Melaka's known distrust of Sultan

Iskandm‘.['1

38. Ibid., p. 29. Even in 1751-2, a poor year, Perak delivered 425,081
1bs. tin. KA 2712 OB 1752, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 17 March 1752,
fo. 175.

39. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 17 March 1753, fo. 170.

40. Ibid., foll, 170-171,
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The Governor and his Council discussed all four letters in detail

and

remarked that the king protested the most sincere decla=-
rations of friendship with the Company, but from the
letters of the resident, Laksamana and interpreter, we
should construe his feelings as being otherwise.,4
Van Heemskerk's suspicions were now so strong that Sultan Iskandar's
letter, intended as a preliminary step towards further correspondence
and negotiation, merely gave greater reason for mistrust.
Reflecting that he has never once informed the Company
in a fitting manner of his accession to the thronme, it
is agreed, therefore, that for the present this letter

will remain unanswered, until we are told by an embassy
of his succession.

Even more critical from the point of view of Melaka's standing in
Perak was van Heemskerk's decision to disregard the Governor-General's
order to send Raja 'Alim to Batavia. In the meeting of December 10,
"after mature deliberation," the Melaka Council decided that it was in-
expedient to discard their protege, since they had grave doubts about
Sultan Iskandar's real intentions towards the Company. Van Heemskerk
was unaware of the rumours which had resulted from this policy and still
felt, as Albinus had done, that Raja 'Alim's presence in Melaka would
serve as a "bridle for the present government.'"44
mlﬁ. The interpreter, as a Company servant, would have

been well aware of Melaka's feelings toward Sultan Iskandar.

42. Tbid.

43. 1bid. and fo. 171.

44. 1bid., fo. 258,
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In Perak, the Laksamana continued to press his advantage. The
Resident's fears had been partly put to rest by Sultan Iskandar's com-
ciliatory attitude and on October 29 he wrote to Melaka reporting that
there were "no difficulties, and the king appears to be succeeding with
a good government,"45 Piro Muhammad and Nakhoda Pusmah, nonetheless,
proceeded with their carefully laid plan, a plan so calculated and so
shrewd that it very nearly succeeded.

In describing this episode, the Misa Melayu ignores the role
played by the Laksamana and portrays Piro Muhammad as the sole con-
spirator. According to Dutch records, the Company interpreter had often
acted as a messenger to the court,46 but on this occasion, says Raja
Culan, he came upstream without first informing the Laksamana and the

T IT—

. He d that he had brought a letter from the Kompeni

-

S
Holanda, and requested an audience, When Sultan Iskandar heard that the
interpreter had not brought the customary bingkisan, and had not pre-

viously consulted the Laksamana and Syahbandar, he was angry and refused
to receive either letter or interpreter, "since it is customary for let=-

ters from one country to another to be accompanied by presents,'47

45. 1bid., fo. 171.

46. KA 2592 OB 1748, Albinus to Batavia, 13 Oct. 1747, fo. 730; KA 2712
OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, fo. 171,

47. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 61. There is no account in the Dutch
records which tallies exactly with this one, although the resident
did write on January 29, 1753 to say that he had sent the inter-
preter upstream with a letter to ask for some elephants previously
ordered by Melaka, as well as two to three hundred bahara of tin,
"and that the present Raja Muda, in the king's name, had answered
that there were elephants to sell, without speaking of tin. KA 2712
OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 17 March 1753, fo. 171,
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Unable to gain admittance to the court, Piro Muhammad determined
on revenge. Returning downstream, he went immediately to the resident
and told him not only that Sﬁltan Iskandar had refused to accept the let-
ter, but that he obviously intended to attack the Dutch post, and he was
even now gathering all his men toge:het.Ml This entire story, says Raja

Culan contemptuously, was merely fitnah, slander, but Resident Hartman

was convinced of its veracity. He was not simply a gullible fool. He
had already been warned by the Governor of possible repurcussions as a
result of Sultan Iskandar's succession. Furthermore, there was indeed
great activity upstream, although Hartman was not aware, and the Lak~
samana did not enlighten him, that this was because Sultan Iskandar was
in the process of building a new capital a few miles upstream from the
fort.49 The interpreter and Laksamana thus found a receptive audience
for their warning of imminent attack and, with the help of the Laksamana,
the frightened resident made ready the fort's defences.

In reply to our letter of January 7 [wrote Melaka],
the resident informed us that the king, when all his
tin was collected, intended to divide it into fifty
or sixty parts. At the same time, with a correspond-
ing number of ships, he would send them down the river
with the aim of taking the Company's fort by surprise.
In order to carry this out, he has already gathered
soldiers together.

On receiving this news, the Commander [Resident
Hartman], gave orders to the Laksamana that no armed
Perakese should approach the fort, which orders this
official approved and thereby promised to assist the
Company with all his power saying that yes, his might
alone was sufficient to withstand the king in his
rapacious aims.

48, Raja Culan,— Misa Melayu, p. 61.

49, Ibid., p. 60.
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Nakhoda Pusmah was even able to convince the resident that the only solu-
tion to the problem of Perak's relation with the Dutch was to instal
Raja 'Alim as ruler "since his arrival there would be met with great de-
light by most of the people."51

The Laksamana may have succeeded in winning over the resident, but
convincing the Governor was another matter. In the Council Room at
Melaka, far removed from the tense atmosphere at Tanjung Putus, van Heems-
kerk could afford to adopt a more sceptical attitude towards the Laksa-
mana's show of confidence and his declarations of loyalty. Nakhoda Pus-
mah's claim that he alone could resist Sultan Iskandar seemed hardly
credible and his proposed solution disclosed his true aims. In his ef-
forts to convince the Governor of Sultan Iskandar's hostility Nakhoda
Pusmah had overplayed his hand. The Melaka Council now regarded his
entire story with suspicion. In the Governor's view, the resident had
placed undue reliance on the Laksamana's information, and he concluded
that Nakhoda Pusmah 'the interpreter, and others, are united in an effort
to take away the new king's realm with the Company's help and give it to
Raja 'Alim. n52

Nakhoda Pusmah, unaware that Melaka no longer accepted his ver-
sion of events, continued to foment suspicion in Perak. He not only per=-
suaded the resident that the lives of the entire garrison were in danger,

but also used his position as a senior official in the court to spread

50. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 17 March 1753, fo. 172,
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the rumour that the VOC was prepared to support a rebellion against Sul-
tan Iskandar. This khabar angin, '"news spread by the wind," swept
through the country and Sult;m Iskandar's suspicions about the Dutch be-
came certainty., The Company did intend to turn against him, depose him,
and instal Raja 'Alim instead.3 It was only when all these reports
reached Melaka that van Heemskerk realised the connection between Raja
'Alim's continued retention there, and Sultan Iskandar's hostility. The
ruler's antagonism had seriously affected tin deliveries, for since his
succession he had only sent down eleven bahara. As the Governor said,
the situation was critical (hachelijk) and the Council was finally jolted
into action. In their meeting of February 6, they resolved

in order to remove these difficulties as quickly as

possible . . . to send one of us [to hand over] our

letters, accompanied by a few unusual presents, first

to present condolences over the death of [the king's]

father-in-law, and then congratulate him on his suc-

cession, together with verbal and written compliments

to the Raja Muda and other nobles.
The envoy was then to reassure Sultan Iskandar of the Company's friend-
ship in order to eliminate his suspicions and, this done, should re-

negotiate both the tin treaty of 1746 and the salt pact of 1752. Fur-

thermore, if it was considered ry, the Lak and his friends

who were to blame for the present antagonism could be placed under ar-
I‘eS[.SS

This was a most delicate mission, and van Heemskerk chose his

53. Ibid., fo. 267 (Resolutions, 6 Feb. 1753).

54. Ibid., fo. 172.

55. Ibid., foll. 172-173.
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representatives with care. The man in charge was '"the merchant and
treasurer," Thomas Schippers, who had been in the Indies since 1740,
serving in Bantam, Batavia and, after 1746, in Melaka.ss He would be
assisted by the accountant Ary Verbrugge, already well-known in Perak
and acquainted with affairs there. Perhaps the most important member of
the mission, in view of Piro Muhammad's duplicity, was the interpreter,
and for this post van Heemskerk selected "the man most qualified and of
proven trust, many times employed by the Company in dealings with na-
tive kings," Encik Surin, the brother of the Malay Captain in Melaka.57

Schippers' departure from Melaka on February 19 came none too
soon. Both Dutch and Malay sources clearly demonstrate the success with
vhich the Laksamana disseminated his stories of deceit and sedition.
Only three days after Schippers had left, another letter arrived in
Melaka from the frightened resident. The king, he said, had already
established himself a few miles above the Dutch post and "was building
a fortress for himself there, as well as two others, one for the Chinese
and one for the Moors." Once again he begged the Governor to send Raja
'Alim back to Perak.ﬁa Raja Culan's account, on the other hand, shows
the result of the conspirators' campaign not omly in the residency, but
within the court itself:

When the Captain heard the interpreter's report, he was
extremely fearful. Then the interpreter wrote a letter,

m. 173, 269; Resandt, De Gezaghebbers, p. 224.
57. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 17 March 1753, fo. 173.

58. 1Ibid., fo. 175.
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the contents of which were very evil. This was ordered
to be sent to Melaka, and from thence to Batavia to the
Company, saying that the Raja of Perak wanted to destroy
all the Dutchmen in Perak who were at Tanjung Putus.
When the contents of this letter were heard in Melaka
and Batavia, the Company ordered seven sloops to be sent
from Batavia to Melaka, and thence to Perak. Ome of
their panglima was called Commissary and the other was
Kapitan Melayu, and they came to ascertain whether the
intentions of the Raja of Perak were as described in the
interpreter's letter or not. . .

The commissary and the Kapitan Melayu arrived at
Kuala Perak with their seven sloops, and then came up
the river to Pangkalan Halban, to the Dutch godown which
guarded that place, They made arrangements for an audi-
ence, and told the Laksamana and Syahbandar that they were
envoys from Batavia who wished to see the ruler. The Lak=
samana and Syahbandar went to His Majesty and told him there
was an envoy from Batavia with seven sloops which wished to
see him. When His Majesty heard this, he ordered a con-
sultation with the Raja Muda and orang besar. And the
Raja Muda discussed the matter with the orang besar. '"The
arrival of so many Dutchmen in our country creates dif=-
ficulties, as our place here [the new capital] does mnot
yet have a fort, Because of this, it would be better if
we waited three days longer. After this the Yang di Per-
tuan can receive them."

After the matter had been discussed between the
Raja Muda and the chiefs, they waited three days and in
this time they built a fort. . . . When this was done,
cannon were ranged around it and all the weapons and war
materials were collected.

The Dutch envoys were then brought upstream and taken to the royal balai,
where the entire assembly was waiting, each man fully armed, beautifully
dressed and arranged according to rank, When all was ready, continues
Raja Culan, "the Commissary, the Kapitan Malayu and Ary Verb:‘ugge60 en-

tered, escorted by the Laksamana and Syahbandar, followed by many

59. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 61-63. The Dutch mention only three

ships, the Mercurius, the Pera, and a private ship belonging to the
interpreter. KA 2712 OB 1754,  van Heemskerk to Batavia, 17 March,
1753, fo.. 173,

60. The Jawi reads JI)U‘J ,L/f, which Winstedt inexplicably romanised
as R, E. F, Lybroke. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 64; HS 632 Kon.
Inst,, fo. 31.
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soldiers armed with muskets, blunderbusses and pistols, for the Dutch
had come with the sole aim of speaking harshly (keras bit:anz)."61
In this suspicious atmosphere, Schippers was faced with the task

of restoring Malay faith in Dutch sincerity and beginning negotiatioms
for the renewal cf the contract. At a time when Dutch administrators
bemoaned the lack of good men,62 van Heemskerk's envoys showed themselves
to be skilful and adept. In a frank and open discussion, Schippers and
Sultan Iskandar discussed the rumours which had influenced thinking among
members of the Council in Melaka and the court assembly in Perak. The
VOC envoy roundly denied that the Company had had any intention of
placing Raja 'Alim on the Perak throne, while Sultan Iskandar said that
the reports concerning his supposed plan to massacre the Dutch in Perak
were totally false. On his solemn oath, he declared that such a thought
had never entered his mind, In fact, he said, he had actually tried to
speak to the resident himself, in order to investigate the truth of the
widespread rumours, but Hartman had refused to meet him, saying he
could not leave the fort.

This had inspired further suspicions and the king began

to believe the general reports. In order to discover

the truth and find what was fact from this maze and con-

fusion, he had finally considered it advisable to send a

distinguished envoy here, but this plan was placed in
abeyance by the unexpected arrival of our Commissioner. 63

61. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 63-64. Schippers' actual report, though
sent to Batavia, is no longer available. KA 2712 OB 1754, Register

of Papers.

62. T, H, Milo, De Invloed van de Zeemacht op de Geschiedenis der
Vereenigde Oost Indische Compagnie (The Hague, 1946), p. 16.

63. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 14 July 1753, foll, 273-
274.
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Sultan Iskandar felt he had good grounds for his attitude towards the
Dutch, and it was only with "much difficulty" that his antagonism could
be assuaged. But on March 15, as a direct result of Schippers' efforts,
a "totally new contract" was signed between "Paducca Siry Sulthan Iskan-
dar Sul Karney, king of Perak, and Mr. Thomas Schippers . . . in the
presence of the Radja Moeda, Bindhara B'saar, Tommegong, Laxamana,
Sjabandaar and all the orangcayas or nobles,"64

Van Heemskerk was pleased with the new treaty, which had pre-
scribed more severe punishment for smuggling than that of 1746 but, as
he had expected, Schippers, despite lengthy discussions, found it impos=
sible to renew the salt pact. Sultan Iskandar made it clear he did not
wish the Dutch to control the price of such an important commodity, and,
in any event, even a short experience with the pact made the previous
May had shown that it made barter difficult for the ordinary r.ve).-xmn.65
The court in general expressed its opposition, not only to the terms of
the pact, but the "surreptitious manner" in which it had been concluded.
This, they said, was "strictly against the custom and laws of the kingdom
. . . that all contracts and treaties made with other states and princes
must be concluded in the presence and with the approval of all the nobles
of the kingdom, at least that of the oldest. 66

Sultan Iskandar summed up his views succinctly: renewal of the

salt pact would bring nothing but trouble to Perak, resentment among the

64. Ibid. See Appendix E.

65. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 14 July 1753, foll, 274~
275.

66. Ibid., foll, 275-276.
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nobles, and inevitably, differences between him and the Company. Schip=
pers wisely decided not to pursue the issue any further and did not at-
tempt to obtain reimbursement of the two hundred reals the Company had
paid the year befote.67 The salt pact was of little importance beside
the tin treaty, and Governor van Heemskerk was so gratified by its re-
newal that he was prepared to devote even more energy to creating a
working relationship between himself and Sultan Iskandar. It was crucial
that the Perak ruler should not regret his decision to sell his "previous
tin" to the Duatch and allow the Company "to pluck this fruit quietly and
unhindered. "68
Schippers reported that ome of Sultan Iskandar's principal con-
cerns was still his elephants. As he explained to the envoys, it seemed
unreasonable that he should suffer because he had signed a treaty with
the Dutch which dissuaded buyers from coming to Perak. At present he
had "an abundance of elephants, and daily many more were rounded up, soO
much so that he could only think of his loss."69 Once again, he asked
that Indian ships be permitted to come to Perak, giving his personal
guarantee that the Company should not suffer in its purchase of tin.70
Although the VOC had not, in fact, attempted to proscribe Indian shipping
mWrs' return to Melaka, Hartman was instructed to sell the
Company's salt a little below the curreat market price. It was hoped
that by this means the VOC would regain control of the trade. KA 2731
OB 1755, Dekker to Batavia, 25 March 1754 (Resolutions, 2 July 1753),
foll. 92-93.
68. KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 14 July 1753, fo. 276.
69, Ibid.

70. Ibid.
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as it had done in the previous century, Schippers was well aware that
few Indians now came to Perak. The reason was not that the Company actu=
ally prevented them but thatv the Dutch monopoly of the tin made Perak a
less attractive market, even for elephants. In answer to Sultan Iskan-
dar's request, Schippers pointed to Batavia's attempts to encourage the
trade,”! but, although the Perak ruler seemed pleased, the envoy knew
the basic problem had not been solved.

Van Heemskerk agreed with Schippers, and in March, after the en-
voy's return, warned the Governor-General that if the Company's measures
to stimulate Perak's elephant trade were unsuccessful, it could well pro-
vide sufficient reason for the breakdown of the entire treaty.

This is the more to fear because, according to Ship-

pers' report, the King of Kedah has offered to un-

burden him of these animals, as well as buying all the

tin in his kingdom for a higher price than that paid

by the Company, For the greedy native this is all

too tempting to refuse, especially if our repeated

promises [of improvement] bring no better results.

The king could then easily come to the idea that . . .

the VOC thinks more of its own advantages that of

both parties, and also has no other aims than slow-

ly to make itself master of, if not the entire king-

dom, at least of all the advantages it offers, just

as the people of Kedah, probably at the instigation

of our competitors in the Straits, the English, daily

whisper in his ear,’2
Van Heemskerk thus did what he could to conmvince Batavia that the health
of the Dutch tin monopoly in Perak was closely linked with that of the

elephant trade, and in early October the Melaka Council was gratified

71. In 1751 the Governor-General had urged the Ministers at Nagapatnam

to encourage traders to come to Perak to buy toll-free elephants.
1bid., fo, 277.

72. Ibid., foll. 277-278.
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to hear of the arrival of an Indian ship "expressly to trade elephants."73

Schippers returned to Melaka in April, and by July van Heemskerk
was satisfied that Sultan Iskandar's assurances of friendship were sin-
cere. He therefore felt justified in taking further steps to strengthen
this new and promising friendship. It was vital that Sultan Iskandar's
confidence in the Company personnel be restored, Although van Heemskerk
had no influence over the Laksamana, he was aware of the part played by
Piro Muhammad in the conspiracy and regarded his influence in Perak as
pernicious. Accordingly, he wrote to Batavia asking for "2 man skilled
in language, a capable scribe with some experience in trade, and who also
has a quiet and accommodating nature' to replace Piro Muhammad. The in-
terpreter, now considered a person "of no further use to the Company,"

'

"a harmful and dangerous subject, full of underhand doings," was to be

recalled.’%

Secondly, and more importantly, "in order to pull the thorns out
from [the king's] foot," Raja 'Alim and his father-in-law were to be
exiled to Batavia. Van Heemskerk hoped not only

that this despatch of Raja 'Alim (which will undoubt-
edly please the Perak king) will be accepted as a
tangible token of the Company's willingness to remove
any hindrance that might in time lead to distrust or

73. KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council to Batavia, 24 March 1754, fo. 25.

74, KA 2712 OB 1754, van Heemskerk to Batavia, 14 July 1753, fo. 278;
KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council to Batavia, 25 March 1754, fo, 94.
It is a comment on the Company's lack of capable personnel that,
even with this record, Piro Muhammad was reinstated as Company in-
terpreter and translator three years later. KA 2776 OB 1757, Dekker
to Batavia, 9 April 1736, fo. 51; Stapel, Corpus Diplomaticum, p.
155.
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the breaking of the contract, and also that by this

arrangement the long-nurtured hopes of Raja 'Alim's

followers will disappear in smoke . . . and the tin

trade will blossom in peace.’5

The combination of Schippers' favourable report and the renewed
contract had convinced van Heemskerk of Sultan Iskandar's goodwill. In
July, when the still apprehensive resident refused to leave the safety
of the fort to go upstream and collect the ruler's tin, he was told out-
right that he had no grounds for his fears. '"This king," wrote the Gov-
ernor, "has just remewed his father's contract and has now declared that
he is a friend of the Company and therefore is not full of wicked in=~
tentions."76 In fact, they specifically instructed Hartman to make every
effort to gain not only the favour of the king but also that of the Orang
Kaya Besar. The latter had been singled out from the court as a man who
appeared to approve of the Dutch presence, whose friendship would bene-
fit the Company, and who "has great influence with the king."?7 The
Governor's conviction that he could trust Sultan Iskandar now meant that
he paid little heed to rumours of hostility. When the indefatigable
Laksamana, who had remained untouched by Piro Muhammad's disgrace, at-
tempted once again to undermine the newly contracted alliance, he was
completely unsuccessful. In their meeting of July 2, the Council dis-
cussed a letter which Raja 'Alim had apparently handed over to the Dutch
75. KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council to Batavia, 25 March 1754 (Reso-
lutions, 23 Aug. 1753), fo. 146.

76. KA 2712 OB 1754, Political Council to Batavia, 8 Sept. 1753, fo. 290,

77. 1bid. and KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council to Batavia, 25 March
1754 (Resolutions, 2 July 1753), fo. 94.
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authorities., It was written by his brother in Perak, and claimed
that Sultan Iskandar has sent five perahu to the
King of Kedah., . . . The Laksamana and I have both
heard that they went to bring Indian and English
ships here, They were also sent to establish a
friendship with the King of Kedah and allow him
into the Perak River with guns and heavy cannon in
order to arm Perak. We have heard this and, if
you feel inclined, you can inform the Governor and
the fictoor.78
A year before, such a letter might have thrown the Council into
confusion, but, coming so soon after Schippers' successful return, these
efforts to arouse Dutch suspicion met with total failure. The Governor
regarded the allegations as a complete fabrication, since it was hardly
likely that such a large fleet could have left Perak without the Resi-
dent's knowledge, or, indeed, that Sultan Iskandar would have taken such
a step less than four months after the signing of the treaty.79
Van Heemskerk was justified in feeling pleased with the outcome
of Schippers' mission, but unfortunately he did not live to receive the
praise of his superiors. On August 10, 1753 he died and, until February
of the following year, Melaka was without a governor.ao The Council,
however, had caught something of van Heemskerk's optimism. In early
September the Ministers reported that affairs in Perak were still going
78. KA 2731 OB 1755, Translated letter from Raja Sinala, brother, and
Paduka Anakanda Raja Abdullah, son of Prince Alim, rec'd. or inter-

cepted, 23 June 1753, fo. 134, A factor (Malay fetur) is the head
of a trading post or the local agent of a trading Company. Wilkin-

son, Malay-English Dictionary, I, 312.

79. KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council of Melaka to Batavia, 25 March
1754, foll. 133-134,

80. Resandt, De Gezaghebbers, p. 222.
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well.8! Tension there had disappeared and the general situation had re-
turned to normal. Dutch authorities could have been pardoned for their
expectations for a prosperous future in Perak.

These hopes, however, were not fulfilled, The new governor, who
arrived in Melaka in February, 1754, appeared unable to capitalise on his
predecessor's achievements. Dekker, though born in Melaka, had grown up
in Holland and, in fact, had only returned to the Indies in 1753. He al~
ready held the rank of senior merchant (oppercoopman) and promotion came
quickly. Less than a year after his arrival, Dekker was appointed Gover=~
nor of Melaka82 and thus, unlike most men who held this post, had had lit-
tle experience in dealing with native rulers. This factor may have been
behind some of the troubles which beset his relationship with Sultan
Iskandar, which he must have realised was unsatisfactory, In March 1759,
when he was relieved by David Boelen, Dekker was forced to admit that
during his five years of office in Melaka, he had rarely been able to
£ill the tin quocas.83 What caused this sudden decline so soon after
the renewal of the treaty in 17537

Though the Perak records for this period are by no means complete,
one fact emerges clearly from the available evidence, Sultan Iskandar
had committed himself to the Dutch alliance and remained one of its

staunchest supporters. In shaping his policy toward his own court and

81. KA 2712 OB 1754, Political Council of Melaka to Batavia, 8 Sept.

1753, foll. 290-291.
82. Resandt, De Gezaghebbers, pp. 222-223.

83. KA 2858 OB 1760, Dekker's Report on Melaka to Boelen, 10 March 1759,
foll, 185-187.
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the outside world, he always tried to gauge and, if possible, to ac-
commodate the Company's reaction. The Perak ruler was an astute man,
and he understood that the treaty which he had signed was based on cer-
tain assumptions which could not be ignored. One of these assumptious
was that an ally of the Company would not seek friendship with the VOC's
enemies, notably the Bugis and the English. Dutch fear of the former
and hostility towards the latter was no secret and Sultan Iskandar
realised that the Company would regard relations with either as disloyal,
regardless of whether tin was sold or not. In the atmosphere of growing
tension which characterised the Malay world in 1753, Sultan Iskandar had
put his seal to a treaty which concluded:

Finally, the king promises to offer a helpful hand

to the Netherlands Company in all matters and to

oppose and prevent all disadvantageous and dangerous

plans that might at times be contemplated against

the fort here by enemies of the Honourable Company and

those who wish it ill.

The implications of this article were not lost on the Perak ruler.

In September 1753, for example, he informed Resident Hartman that he had
received a letter written "from the English--without saying by whom or
from where--by which this nation asked to meet the king in his king-
dom."86 Hartman was summoned to court so that Sultan Iskandar could

discuss probable Company reactiom should he grant such a request, and the

ruler indicated that he was quite willing to refuse should the Dutch

84. See Appendix E.

85. KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council to Batavia, 25 March 1754, foll.
23-24. Resident Hartman was ordered to obtain the letter or, al-
ternatively, a copy, if this were possible. Melaka, however, thought
his chances of doing this were slim,
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disapprove.86 Two years later, another English ship from Bengal almost
managed to slip past the Company post at Tanjung Putus on the pretext of
buying rice but in fact to sell opium. Once again, Melaka found Sultan
Iskandar's response highly gratifying, for he wholeheartedly approved
of the resident's decision to send the ship away. He even forwarded a
request from himself and the Perak Chinese Captain for two pikul of
Dutch opium, known to be more expensive than that of the English.87
Sultan Iskandar's understanding of the political implications of
the contract and his continuing loyalty to the Dutch are more impressive-
ly demonstrated in his attitude towards the Bugis. By 1753, when Sultan
Iskandar renewed the Dutch alliance, the struggle between the Bugis and
Malays had not only polarised the Riau court but threatened to involve
the entire Malay world. The Bugis now regarded the former rantau areas
of Johor--3elangor, Linggi and Kelang--as theirs, and were prepared to
do battle rather than relinquish jurisdiction. So far-reaching were
these disputes that it was difficult to remain uninvolved, and the Malay
states had become divided into two opposing camps. On the one side were
the Bugis, led by Daeng Kemboja, and their Minangkabau allies under Daeng
Kemboja's brother-in-law, Raja Alam, the son of Raja Kecil. On the other
side was the Malay faction, where leadership came from Sultan Sulaiman

of Johor and his son-in-law, Sultan Mansur Syah of 'l'erenggmm.88 This

86. Ibid.

87. KA 2753 OB 1756, Dekker to Batavia, 30 April 1755, fo. 47; KA 2858
OB 1760, Dekker's Report on Melaka, 10 March 1759, fo. 191,

88. This is a very brief summary of a complex situation. See Netscher,

De Nederlanders, pp. 67-81; Lewis, The Dutch East India Company,
pp. 170-192.
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group, aware of its military inferiority, desperately courted Dutch
help, but this was slow in forthcoming. In May 1753, Raja Alam, with
Bugis support, made himself master in Siak, and for a brief period it
appeared as if Daeng Kemboja and his Minangkabau friends would control
the destiny of the entire Straits.8?
In this context, Sultan Iskandar's decision to renegotiate the
treaty with the VOC rather than revive his former relationship with the
Selangor Bugis assumes added significance. It was, in a sense, a public
declaration of Perak's loyalties in a threatening world. A little over a
year later, in June 1754, Sultan Iskandar made it clear that the growing
strength of the Bugis had not persuaded him to change his mind. A let-
ter arrived in Perak from Raja Syed, head of Selangor. It was addressed

to the Lak and Syahbandar, both known opponents of the Dutch al=-

liance, as well as to the head of the Perak Bugis. The contents stated
that "the people of Riau, Siak, Selangor, Kedah and Batubara are now
united, and how would it be with Perak, since the tin contract signed
with the Company had meant a loss to them?"90 To the relief of the Gov-
ernor, Sultan Iskandar gave an unqualified demonstration of his attitude
towards the Company. He immediately ordered a general retreat upriver,

and all Malays living near the kuala were told to break down their houses

and move up behind the safety of the Dutch fort.91 1In perhaps the first

89. Netscher, De Nederlanders, pp. 79-81.

90. KA 2753 OB 1756, Dekker to Batavia, 30 April 1755, foll. 46-47, Once
again, the Governor asked the resident to obtain a copy of the letter
concerned.

91. Ibid. and fo. 198.
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real test of his loyalty to the VOC alliance, Sultan Iskandar passed
with flying colours. In a world where the Governor of Melaka felt
pressured from many qua:ters; he could at least rest assured that the
little garrison in Perak would remain unharmed.

The fort's immunity became even more apparent in 1756-57, when
Melaka faced the first native attack since 1641. The initial assault oc- .
curred in April 1756, with the Bugis burning a large number of houses
almost in the centre of the town.92 A combined Malay-Dutch campaign
against the Bugis stronghold of Linggi did not succeed in breaking the
enemy's strength. By the end of the year the situation in Melaka was
desperate.

On the landward side, the town was totally surrounded

and under siege. An expedition . . . returned on De-

cember 20, blood-stained. The town was hit by lack of

food, and the daring of the enemy increased in relation

to the ineffectiveness of the garrison. . . . Requests

for help from Batavia became more and more urgent.

Finally, in July 1757, help arrived.
Only then was the siege broken. During much of 1756 and the greater part
of 1757, Melaka had lain helpless, and for weeks at a time comnunication
with Perak was cut off. In these circumstances, Sultan Iskandar could
do little to help his Dutch friends, except hold fast to his alliance.
This he did unreservedly.

His support is the more impressive because Sultan Iskandar was
confronted with a number of problems which were a direct result of his
92. The attack is described in Netscher, '"Twee Belegeringen van Malakka,"

pp. 285-320.

93. Netscher, De Nederlanders, p. 91
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decision to renew the contract. It will become clear that it was these
problems, none of which were easily solved, which caused the lowering of
tin deliveries to Melaka during Dekker's term of office (1754-58).
Throughout these five years, Governor Dekker's relationship with Sultan
Iskandar was marred by a fundamental difference in interpretation of the
fourth article of the treaty, which read

The tin suppliers (leveranciers) are to bring their

tin downstream themselves to the Company's post, as

has been done up till now. There it will be weighed

with the Company's scales and weight.
The difficulties arose over the word leveranciers. To the Governor this
implied any individual in Perak who sold tin, and specifically, Sultan
Iskandar who was "the greatest of them all,"95 Melaka had assumed that
the question of royal tin deliveries had been settled during Schipper's
visit of March 1753.96  This assumption proved entirely mistaken. Sul-
tan Iskandar's Malay version of the treaty read "segala orang yang jual
timah" (all people who sell tin), and it had never occurred to him that
the ruler might be among those expected to bring tin down to the Company
post.97 Needless to say, he was shocked in October 1753 when he dis-
covered that by signing the treaty he had apparently lowered himself to

the status of one of his subjects, as simply "a person who sold tin."98

94. See Appendix E.

95. KA 2776 OB 1757, Melaka's reply to comments by Heerem XVII, 8 Oct.
1756, fo. 99.

96. Ibid., Dekker to Batavia, 9 April 1756, foll. 29-30.

97. Ibid., and KA 2885 OB 1761, Visboom's Report, 9 July 1759; Visboom
to Boelen, 9 July 1759.
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Sultan Iskandar remained adamant in his contention that it was
unfitting for the ruler to deliver his tin. The Dutch themselves, he
said, should come and collect it from his dalam (literally, "inside,"
i.e., residence). This argument is entirely consistent with what we
already know of his character. In the previous chapter brief refer-
ences have been made to incidents which demonstrate Sultan Iskandar's
heightened sense of his own status and what was suitable behaviour for,
and towards, a ruler, regardless of whether it concerned the quality
of a gift, the phrasing of a letter, or the adat of an audience. He
was certainly not a man to allow his prestige to be undermined by in-
correct wording on a treaty. We should not, therefore, be surprised to
learn that in early 1756 Sultan Iskandar told the resident he would not
bring his tin downstream "even if his whole kingdom should be ruined."99

Governor Dekker, however, could not understand where the problems
lay. At first it was thought that the Malay and Dutch versions of the
treaty might differ in content; perhaps, it was suggested, a Company

employee had given offence.100  For over two years Dekker allowed this

98. KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council to Batavia, 25 March 1754, fo. 22.

99, KA 2776 OB 1757, Dekker to Batavia, 9 April 1756, fo. 29. The Com-
pany argued that it was uneconomic and unfeasible for the Dutch to
maintain ships in Perak for the purpose of collecting the ruler's
tin. The water upstream from the fort was shallow and only ships
drawing a light draft could be used, which meant that cargoes were
also correspondingly light. There was also a constant danger of
ambush because the banks of the river were thickly covered with
jungle growth. KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council to Batavia, 25
March 1754, foll. 22-23; KA 2801 OB 1758, Dekker to Batavia, 26 Aug.
1757, fo. 49.

100. KA 2776 OB 1757, Dekker to Batavia, 9 April 1756, fo. 30; KA 2801
OB 1758, Dekker to Batavia, 26 Aug. 1757, fo. 48.
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anomalous situation to continue, and as a result the Company could only

obtain royal tin at irregular intervals. Finally, in October 1756, Ary

Verbrugge, who had been instrumental in concluding the treaties of 1746

and 1753, was sent to Perak to 1nvest13a(:e.m1 Sultan Iskandar told

Verbrugge that

he had no reason to complain against the Company, much
less its servants, in their dealings with the tin, but
that neither he nor his entire court could see any
place in the Malay version of the contract that obliged
the ruler to bring his tin so far downstream and further
that it was impossible for him to understand that a king
in his own realm could be placed on an equal footing
with a merchant. They [the Company] had a privilege in
Perak which other people, even with vast sums of money,
could not obtain--namely, the exclusive tin monopoly.
Other people would gladly pay 40 reals the bahara.
Finally, if he had known that the contract required he
should bring his tin downstream to the Company's post,
or deliver it elsewhere, he would never have agreed to

it.l

To the Europeans, Sultan Iskandar's attitude was inexplicable, but

the importance of the issue of who should deliver tin, and where, is

clearly evident in the Malay version of Verbrugge's mission.

Again there came an embassy from Batavia with three
sloops. When they arrived in Perak they cast anchor
off the fort. The head of the mission was Ary Ver-
brugge ( SO J)[ ), who held the office of com-
missioner. He went up the river and made obeisance
to the ruler at Kota Lumut, being escorted by the
Laksamana, the Syahbandar and the scribe, Sri Dewa
Raja. He brought a letter and presents in accordance
with adat, and was received by Sultan Iskandar with
customary ceremony. Sultan Iskandar was at that time
holding court in the balai at Kota Lumut, and the Raja
Bendahara, the chiefs, the anak raja and the officers

101, KA 2776 OB 1757, 3rd. Reg. Dekker to Batavia, 4 Feb. 1757, fo. 11.

102. KA 2801 OB 1758, Dekker to Batavia, 26 Aug. 1757, foll. 48-49,
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and people were in attendance. All was arranged and
ordered in the time-honoured way.

The purport of the letter was to ask for some tin,
with a request that it be sent down the river to be
weighed. This demand did not meet with Sultan Iskandar's
approval, but the Raja Bendahara and the chiefs suggested
Kuala Bidor as a convenient place at which the tin might
be weighed. The ruler then directed them to build a
balai at Tanjung Bidor as a place for weighing tin. 103
(my italics)

With this compromise, Verbrugge had to rest content, and Kuala

Bidor was designated as the royal weighing station. But these pro-

tracted debates had meant that tin deliveries had been sparse and this

! was the root cause of Dekker's inability to fulfil the tin quotas. Be-
hind everything was a basic difference in Dutch and Malay understanding
of the treaty terms and a failure on the Company's part to distinguish
between what could suitably be asked of a ruler, and what could not.
This failure is illustrated in another episode two years later.
| In March 1758 Governor Dekker wrote to Sultan Iskandar informing him
| that in future cruisers would be maintained along the Melaka Straits to
| ensure that ships there carried a Company pass. This was aimed par~
ticularly at combating piracy, and the Governor did attempt to alleviate
what the Malays viewed as unnecessary restrictions. Passes could be ob~
b tained "without the least payment' from the resident and these would
guarantee Perak inhabitants unmolested passage.m" When, however, he
asked Sultan Iskandar to publicise this throughout the country, the Perak

ruler refused outright. He told the resident that he had agreed to do

103. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 106; HS 632 Kon. Imst., fo. 59.

|
1
{
‘r' 10%4. KA 2827 OB 1759, Dekker to King of Perak, 20 March 1758; Dekker
1 to Meyer, 20 March 1758.
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nothing more than sell his tin at the fixed price, and beyond this he

was not bound to anything. As a token of his independ he P hed
two baluk to Batubara without asking for a pass.los
Further problems were caused by the continued opposition to Sultan
Iskandar himself from a small but influential faction within the court,
led, as before, by the Laksamana and Syahbandar. Their authority was so
established that they had remained untouched when Piro Muhammad was re-
called. Indeed, in the same Council meeting that decided to recall the
interpreter, four letters were read from the principal members of the
Assembly, "the Older King, the Younger King, the Laksamana and Syah-
l:samlm:."w6 The Laksamana and Syahbandar were two of the wealthiest
chiefs in Perak, for they not only delivered a large amount of tin but
since the previous reign had been permitted to keep the two reals toll
which would normally have gome to the ruler. This privilege had bean
granted by Sultan Muzafar, but to Sultan Iskandar it was intolerable that
part of his income should be going to men who had previously worked to
depose him, In 1754, therefore, he revoked this privilege, a move which
infuriated the two chiefs. As a result, they resorted to smuggling in
order to obtain a higher price, and in early 1758 the Laksamana told the
resident "that he would rather keep his tin than give it for 32 reals,"107

This smuggling was not confined to the Laksamana and Syahbandar.

105, KA 2827 OB 1759, Meyer to Dekker, 27 May 1758.

106. KA 2731 OB 1755, Political Council to Batavia, 25 March 1754 (Reso-
lutions 2 July 1753, fo. 84).

107. KA 2753 OB 1756, Dekker to Batavia, 30 April 1755, fo. 45.
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In May 1754, Sultan Iskandar, disturbed to find that only four hundred

bahara of tin had been collected in the previous year, complained to the

resident that "an equally large amount was being smuggled out of the

J

mountains via the Kurau River, which was prejudicial to both himself and

the Company."m8 Sultan Iskandar realised that in this regard his in-

terests and those of the Dutch coincided. Sizeable tin deliveries
brought benefits to them both; smuggling meant a common loss. He ob=
viously expected that he and the Governor would work together to combat
] any tendency to take tin elsewhere, and in mid-1754 despatched '"one of
his first ministers, the Orang Kaya Besar, as Cowmissioner' to the Kurau
area. The ruler's representative, a man whom Sultan Iskandar greatly
{ trusted, was charged with investigating the situation there and en-
couraging greater vigilance on the part of the genghulu.log Sultan
Iskandar also asked for the loan of a Company ship to cruise kuala
Kurau, but, although Governor Dekker reluctantly agreed to spare a

vessel, it was too large to enter the shallow Kurau River.uo By the

end of the year the situation had deteriorated so greatly that it be-
came a matter of major concern. As Governor Dekker wrote:
there is nothing good to hope for, when the nobles
and first ministers carry out their work of smuggling.
They shall certainly be followed fearlessly by the
common man and this will result in both great dis-
pleasure to the king and great harm to the Company.
108. Ibid., foll. &44-45.
109. 1bid., fo. 45.

110. Ibid.
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In order to prevent this, last October [1754], we com=
plained directly to the king by letter. 11

The onus had now been placed on Sultan Iskandar, who, however
found his expectation of working in conjunction with the Dutch disap-
pointed. He discovered that the VOC alliance provided little assistance
in the struggle against smugglers. In 1757 the cruising of Larut was
discontinued because, although the captains had been provided with reals

to buy tin, the collection there had only averaged forty bahara annual-

ly.”'2 At a time of Company retr h , the exp entailed in
patrols was cousidered unwarranted. This provided further opportunity
for smuggling which in the following year became even greater because
of Dutch failure to maintain the supply of reals to Perak. In 1754 the
Heeren XVII had expressed the hope that some other currency could be
used in Perak, but, as the resident remarked three years later, reals
were vital to the tin trade there, since the people would accept noth-
ing else.”3 In February 1758 the shortage became so acute that when
Sultan Iskandar arrived at the post "with a large fleet of small boats
. all laden with tin," there were only sufficient reals to pay for

160 bahara "and the king left to go upstream with a full three hundred

bahara, 114

The following July Sultan Iskandar wrote to Dekker protesting

111. 1bid., fo, 46.
112. KA 2801 OB 1758, Dekker to Batavia, 26 Aug. 1757, fo. 51.

113. KA 2776 OB 1757, Extract from Missive, Heeren XVII to Batavia, 10
Oct. 1754; KA 2801 OB 1758, Dekker to Batavia, 26 Aug. 1757, fo. 54,

114, KA 2827 OB 1759, Meyer to Dekker, 5 Feb. 1758.
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at this unsatisfactory situation. He and his subjects were willing to
sell their tin but the Dutch could not buy. 'The head of the Perak post
is very unhappy because he séill has no Spanish reals, and, as a result,
the merchants wish to go elsewhere with their tin."115  Although 10,000
reals arrived a few days later, this did not strike at the basic cause
of smuggling which was still the uncompetitive price. One of the dif-
ficulties arose from the fact that it was not just his own subjects who
were involved.l16 1n early 1759 it was reported that people from Kedah
were buying tin in the ulu mines, and Sultan Iskandar told Resident Meyer
that the rulers of Kedah and Selangor themselves encouraged smuggling
from Larut, Kerian and Kurau "in order to make themselves masters of the
tin."117 By February the situation in these districts had deteriorated
so greatly that Sultan Iskandar asked for the cruising there to be re-

newed, promising that he would also contribute two or three baluk to the

patrol.lls For a maritime state with a large navy, such a contribution
would have presented no problem, but, for Sultan Iskandar, it was a
measure of his willingness to support the contract. Only a few months
later, for example, he was only able to provide two baluk which were suf=-
ficiently seaworthy to help the resident unload cargo from a sinking VOC

ship.119

115. 1bid., King of Perak to Dekker, 3 July 1758.

116. Ibid., Dekker to Meyer, 1 July 1758.
117. KA 2885 0B 1761, Meyer to Boelen and Dekker, 7 Feb. 1759.
118. Ibid.

119. Ibid., Wasbeek and Meyer to Boelen, 8 Sept. 1759.
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After making what was for him a sizeable commi tment, Sultan Is-
kandar must have been shocked to learn that Melaka, too, lacked seapower,
and could not spare ships for such an enterprise. Instead, the Governor
asked that Sultan Iskandar himself assume this responsibility. "His
Majesty answered that he would contribute everything in his power to pre-
vent the smuggling of tin by cruising, and was therefore sending out
seven baluk under the command of the [newly appointed] Laksamana, "120
Sultan Iskandar also adopted sterner measures against smugglers, a move
facilitated by the death of his old enemy, the Laksamana Nakhoda Pusmah,
in May 1758.121 The latter had long been an opponent of the Dutch alli-
ance and of Sultan Iskandar who supported it, yet despite all his schem-
ing and plotting, the Laksamana had not been deposed, His position was
so powerful that he could not be stripped of his office and, though de-
prived of certain privileges, he lost none of his former influence in
court discussions. When death finally removed him, it also left the
anti=Dutch faction temporarily without a leader. Sultan Iskandar now
felt sufficiently confident to move against the Laksamana's accomplices.
In January 1759 Melaka complained that the last cargo of Perak tin had
been debased by the surreptitious inclusion of rubbish and sticks '"the
size of half a candle."!22 Those responsible were probably delighted

at their own cleverness, but Sultan Iskandar was extremely annoyed,

120. 1bid., Boelen to Meyer, 23 March 1759; Meyer to Boelen, 11 April

1759.
121. KA 2827 OB 1759, Meyer to Dekker, 27 May 1758.
122, KA 2885 OB 1761, Dekker to Meyer, 18 Jan. 1759; Dekker to Sultan

Iskandar, 18 Jan. 1759; KA 2858 OB 1760, Dekker and Boelen to
Batavia, 10 March 1759, fo. 94.
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especially when the Governor hinted at the effects the dishonesty of

VAT

the orang besar might have on Perak-Melaka relatioms. 'He declared that
this was totally against his wishes, and promised to issue strict orders
that whoever was discovered should be punished by death, without regard
nl23

to position. In the same letter the resident noted that the Syah-

bandar, Nakhoda Pusmah's old ally, had been dismissed.124

not take Sultan Iskandar's new orders seriously, They were enjoying an

income drawn from illicit sales of tin and were not prepared to re-

j It is apparent, however, that several members of the court did
|
!
“

linquish it. Unfortunately for the ruler, the foremost among this group

were his own brothers, the Raja Muda and Raja Bendahara. When they heard

L of Sultan Iskandar's decision to send the Laksamana out to cruise, the
! Raja Muda hit on a plan which he was certain would outwit both the Dutch
] and his brother. It was simple enough. When the Laksamana went out,

.

he could carry their tin, and, under cover of a perfectly legitimate

|

i

1 activity, could act as their agent and sell tin to passing ships. The

] only difficulty was to avoid the rigorous Dutch inspection at Tanjung

! Putus, and to accomplish this the Raja Muda and Raja Bendahara accom-

! panied the new Laksamana downstream, ostensibly to inform Meyer of his
appointment. When the seven baluk arrived at the fort on March 5, the
Raja Muda told Meyer that Sultan Iskandar was sending them out to patrol,

and solemmly assured the resident that "none of the baluk had so much as

a tampang (small coin) of tin aboard."125 Meyer, willing to trust the

123, KA 2885 OB 1761, Meyer to Boelen and Dekker, 7 Feb, 1759,

124, Ibid.
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word of the ruler's own brother, agreed to allow the fleet to pass un-

inspected.

No sooner had the ships passed the kuala, however, than he realised

his mistake. The baluk divided, four going immediately to Selangor, while

the Laksamana sailed northwards with the remaining three. After ounly two
days in Larut, he sent two boats on to Ujung Salang, while he himself
remained in Larut, supposedly to prevent smuggling. But as Meyer re-
marked to Melaka, "it was easy to see how effective he would be, devoid
of ships, especially as three of his baluk have already returned."126
The Raja Muda was not the omly anak raja who betrayed Sultan
Iskandar's trust. Raja Hitam, one of the Raja Muda's relatives, also
left in March with a pass from Meyer, on the pretext of cruising against
smugglers. ‘'According to reports," wrote a VOC envoy, "this rascal is
making i1l use of the pass" and had sailed to Larut wear he was assist-

ing the Laksamana to sell tin.'" The Raja Muda and his fellow comspira-

tors had even succeeded in frightening the '"poor mountain people" [armen
bergmen] into delivering only to them. No one dared to bring the situ-
ation to Sultan Iskandar's notice out of fear of the ruler's son, who

was himself involved.l27 By early April 1759 the resident reported that

"no tin worthy of mention'" was being brought down from the uly, 128

125. Ibid., Meyer to Boelen, 11 April 1759, 9 June 1759.
126. Ibid., Meyer to Boelen, 11 April 1759.

127. Ibid., Jan Visboom's Day Register, under date 24 May and 25 May,
1759. This may be the same individual who is later called the
Maharaja Muda, Sultan Iskandar's som, and who was involved in
piracy. See pp. 390-393.
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Though Sultan Iskandar was unaware of his brother's deceptiom,
he too was concerned about the low tin deliveries. As he saw it, the
basic question was his own c‘ontrol in the ulu areas. The mines here
were of vital importance to him, not only because they produced a large
proportion of Perak's tin, but because they also contributed to his own
revenue. An eighteenth century genealogy states that the royal income
came partly from taxes on Indah and Intan, the principal mines in the
area, and during Sultan Iskandar's reign the ulu became even more vital
to the ruler's interests when new lodes of tin were discovered in the
Indah district.ug 1t is not surprising, therefore, that one of the
Sultan Iskandar's primary considerations was the affirmation of his
jurisdiction in this valuable area. In May 1759, when Jan Visboom ar-
rived in Perak as an envoy from Melaka, Sultan Iskandar had already left
for "a pleasure trip to the uplnnds."wo Such a trip would normally have
entailed a tour of inspection, but Sultan Iskandar made it clear that he
was determined to see his orders were carried out. At the same time,

the Orang Kaya Besar was also sent upstream with a force of men in order

128. Ibid., Meyer to Boelen, 11 April 1759.

129. RKP SP 9/15, fo. 1; KA 3166 OB 1770, Werndly's Report on mission to
Perak under 11 Sept. 1768. To-day only the name Kelian Intan sur-
vives. In 1883 Hugh Low was told that this area was called "indif-
ferently Klian Intan and Klian Indah." CO 273/120 Low to Colonial
Secretary, 16 March 1883, fo. 16. An eighteenth century court list
gives both Indah and Intan, as does Werndly. According to a report
drawn up in 1952, the richness of the deposits here is due to the
presence of ore both in outcropping veins and alluvial deposits.

W, E, Everett, A History of Tin Mining in Perak, Ms. in Arkip Negara,
Kuala Lumpur, fo. 65. See also RKP SP 9/15, fo. 1.

130. KA 2885 OB 1761, Visboom's Day Register, under 20 May 1759.
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to drive the people from Kedah out of the ulu mines, and, when Sultan
Iskandar returned at the end of May, the Orang Kaya Besar remained be-
hind.131

It was probably at this time that Sultan Iskandar introduced the
far-reaching changes in the ulu administration which were described to
another envoy, Antony Werndly, in 1770. Werndly was informed that in the
past, authority here had been in the hands of two chiefs.uz Sultan
Iskandar obviously approved of this system of territorial jurisdiction
but brought in reforms aimed at enforcing greater central control over
the chiefs' activities. Werndly reported that "the former king, Iskandar,
appointed to heads over the uplands called Sadikka [Sri Adika] Raja and
Maharaja Lela. The Sri Adika Raja was charged with the task of ensuring
that all the tin in the Indah district was brought downstream. To ac-
complish this the Sri Adika Raja placed his own son over the district.133

Other sources reinforce this Dutch report. Raja Culan, a con=
temporary observer, tells us that the Sri Adika Raja "held authority

over the rantau people" in the ulu,”l‘ and over a century later the de-

scendents of this Sri Adika Raja still remembered his appointment as a
great event. He was given countrol over the area from Kuala Temung to

the "headwaters of every tributary of the Perak River and to the borders

131, Ibid., under 25 May and 1 June 1759.
132. KA 3166 OB 1770, Werndly's Report, 11 Sept. 1768.
133, Ibid.

134, Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, p. 91.
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with Patani at Gunung Jambul Merah."!35 Here he ruled as the ruler's
representative, the "prince of the shallows" (raja di hujung karang),
the helmsman (jurubatu) of ti\e ship of state. He was permitted to erect
his own flagstaff and have his trumpet blown, and he was also allowed to
draw his income from the area he gc:vzrned.136

The Sri Maharaja Lela was, according to the Misa Melayu, "the
penghulu of the upstream districts." From his home at Sayung, he held
authority over the hulubalang of Sayung, Kota Lama, Talang, Padang Assam
and Sungai Siput. This appointment too was considered to be a signifi-
cant one, and Raja Culan commenorated it in verse.

Hulubalang Maharaja Lela
Outstanding in the ulu rantau
Ordered by the king most mighty
As head of the people there

Appearance and demeanour seem just
Like a tiger newly caught

A kakap was bestowed upon him
Weapons, decorations too, 137

135. CO 273/115, Weld to Kimberly, 3 June 1882, Syed Alahadin's statment,
4 March 1882, fo. 18. According to Syed Alahadin, a descendent of
the Sri Adika Raja, the original title of chiefs in this area was
Tun. The fifth Tun was installed as 'Tuk Berelok, the first Sri
Adika Raja. Compare the genealogy given in Winstedt and Wilkinson,
"A History of Perak," p. 150, with that given in Raja Razman, Hulu
Perak. Raja Razman's genealogy makes Alang Idris ('Tuk Jawang) the
first Sri Adika Raja and 'Tuk Berelok the second.

136. SOAS Ms 46943, List of Perak chiefs, 1876, foll. 4-6; RKP, SP 9/15,
fo. 11.

137. Raja Culan, Misa Melayu, pp. 98-99, 141. There appears to be some
confusion in the literature between the Maharaja Lela the chief
of royal balai, and the Sri Maharaja Lela who, according to a list
from 1876, "builds the balai of the Perak raja." SOAS Ms 46943,
fo. 4.
In 1826 the Maharaja Lela is listed as head of the Orang Besar
Delapan, the Eight Great Chiefs. The Sri Maharaja Lela is head of
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The information gathered by Werndly supplies further details.
The Sri Adika Raja and the Sri Maharaja Lela were placed under the gen-
eral supervision of the Orang Kaya Besar, the most trusted of the orang
besar.138 1f a matter could not be settled by the two ulu officers, the

Orang Kaya Besar went upstream personally and, after investigating the

affair, discussed it with Sultan Iskandar. Together ruler and minister

came to a deciaicm.l39

Sultan Iskandar was fortunate in that, at the very time he was
attempting to reassert his control over the ulu tin mines, a new Gov-
ernor took up his duties in Melaka. David Boelen had come to the Indies
in 1738 as a common sailor, but he was a man of exceptional abilities and
eventually rose "to the highest rank."140 Until 1750 he had been a clerk
in the Company's service but had caught the eye of his superiors and had
been promoted to junior merchant (ondercoopman) in Japan. Between 1752
and 1756 he had headed the Japanese comptoir three times and had per-
formed so well that in September 1758 he was designated as the new gov-

137. (cont'd.)
the next rank, the sixteen. The confusion between the two probably

arose because the Malays themselves often dropped the Sri. The
Dutch, in fact, refer to him simply as Maharaja Lela, but it is ob-
vious that this is the same individual who is called Sri Maharaja
Lela in the Misa Melayu, Home Miscellaneous, 670 Letter from Sul-
tan Abdullah to James Low, 18 Oct. 1826.

138. See above, p. 211.
139. KA 3166 OB 1770, Werndly's Report, 11 Sept. 1768.
140. Rensandt, De Gezaghebbers, p. 223. After his departure from Melaka

in 1764, Boelen became Governor of Makassar, and in 1771 took his
seat in the Council of the Indies. Ibid., pp. 223-224.
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ernor of Melaka.l4l Boelen took up his appointment in the following
March, bringing to the Council Room in Melaka an energy and vigour
reminiscent of the days of Albinus. Indeed, in his retiring report,
Boelen acknowledged that in his dealings with Perak he had always tried
to emulate the Governor responsible for the 1746 treaty and to follow
the guidelines set out in the latter's Memoire of 1750.”‘2 It was ob-
vious that the Company's